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III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

21. Employee benefits (continued)

(2) Accounting treatment of retirement benefits

The Group classifies the retirement benefit plans as defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into an independent 
fund. As a result, the Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions. A defined 
benefit plan is a pension plan other than a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period, the Group’s 
retirement benefits were mainly basic pension insurance and unemployment insurance which were both defined 
contribution plans.

(a) Basic pension insurance

The Group’s employees are involved in the basic social pension insurance organized and implemented by the 
local labor and social security bureau. The Group pays the basic pension issuance expenses monthly to designated 
insurance companies for its employees. The basic amounts and rates are determined by the local regulations. 
Upon employees’ retirement, the local labor and social security bureau is responsible for paying the pension 
benefit to the retired employees. The amounts of pension insurance payable calculated according to the above 
regulations are recognized as liabilities in profit or loss or capitalized in costs of related assets during the periods 
when the employees provide services.

(b) Enterprise annuity plan

Beside the above basic social pension insurance, the Company establishes an enterprise annuities plan in 
accordance with relevant national enterprise annuity system policies (“enterprise annuity plan”), in which the 
Group’s employees can voluntarily participate. The Company shall prepare the annuities to a certain proportion 
of employees’ total wages, the corresponding expenditures shall be recorded in current profit or loss. Except 
for the above-mentioned, the Company did not have any other significant social insurance commitments to its 
employees.

(3) Accounting treatment of termination benefits

The Group provides compensation for the termination of employment relationship before the expiry of 
employment contracts or for employees’ voluntary layoffs. The compensation is recognized as a liability and in 
profit or loss at the earlier of the date the Group is unable to unilaterally withdraw the plan on the termination of 
employment relationship or the layoff proposal and the date on which the costs and expenses in relation to the 
payment of compensation to the termination of employment relationship are recognized.

(4) Other long-term employee benefits

For other long-term employee benefits provided to employees, the net liabilities or net assets of other long-term 
employee benefits shall be recognized and measured in accordance with the relevant provisions of pension 
benefits, but changes are included in the current profit or loss or the cost of related assets.
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III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

22. Lease liabilities (Applicable from 1 January 2019)

On the commencement date of the lease term, the Group recognizes the present value of the lease payments that 
have not been paid as lease liabilities, except for short-term leases and low-value asset leases. In calculating the 
present value of the lease payments, the Group uses the leased interest rate as the discount rate; if the interest 
rate of the lease cannot be determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used as the discount rate. The 
Group calculates the interest expense of the lease liability for each period of the lease term based on the fixed 
periodic interest rate and recognises it in profit or loss for the current period. The variable lease payments that are 
not included in the measurement of the lease liabilities are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

After the commencement date of the lease period, when the actual fixed payment amount changes, the expected 
amount of the guarantee residual value changes, or the index or ratio used to determine the lease payment 
amount changes, the purchase option, the renewal option or the termination option is evaluated and when the 
results or actual exercise rights change, the Group re-measures the lease liability based on the present value of 
the changed lease payments.

23. Provisions

Except for contingent consideration and contingent liabilities arising from business combinations not involving 
enterprises under common control, contingent liabilities are recognized as provision when the Group has an 
obligation related to a contingency where all of the following conditions are met:

(1) It is a present obligation related to a contingency;

(2) It is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

(3) the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount initially recognized as a contingent liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties 
and time value of money. The carrying amount of a contingent liability is reviewed at the end of the reporting 
period. Where there is objective evidence that the carrying amount does not reflect the best estimation of the 
contingency, the contingent liability would be adjusted according to the best estimated amount.

24. Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has fulfilled its performance obligations of the contract that the revenue is recognized when the 
customers take control of the relevant goods or services. Taking control of the relevant goods or services 
means being able to dominate the use of the goods or the provision of the services and obtain almost all of the 
economic benefits from them.

(1) The Group’s toll revenue from the operations of toll roads is recognized when the related services have been 
provided, revenue and total costs can be measured reliably and economic benefits with transactions can flow to 
the Group.
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III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

24. Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(2) Service contracts between the Group and its customers usually include the obligation to perform construction 
management services. As the services provided by the Group in the course of performance are irreplaceable 
and the Group has the right to calculate the revenue accumulated to date for the performance of the Contract 
during the whole contract period, the Group shall treat the services provided by the Group as the obligation 
to perform within a certain period of time and recognize revenue according to the progress of performance 
except for cases when the progress of performance cannot be reasonably determined. The Group determines the 
progress of service delivery according to the input method. If the cost incurred by the Group is expected to be 
compensated when the progress of performance cannot be reasonably determined, revenue shall be recognized 
according to the amount of cost incurred until the progress of performance can be reasonably determined. For 
construction management services, when the results of the construction management services can be estimated 
reliably, construction management service revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method and 
the stage of completion is measured with reference to the actual construction costs and related management 
expenses incurred till the end of the reporting period as a percentage of the total estimated construction costs 
and management expenses. When the results of the construction management services cannot be estimated 
reliably, construction management service revenue is recognized at the same amount of actual management 
expenses incurred only to the extent that such expenses are probable to be recovered.

(3) For the Group's property sales revenue, after the completion and acceptance of the property, the Group and 
the client signed a sales contract, then obtains the proof of the buyer’s payment and delivers the property to 
the buyer after the property is completed and passes the acceptance. When the buyer is informed of launch 
literally and does not have a proper reason to reject it, the related revenue is recognized after the time limit of 
the information is over. The Group's property sales contracts with customers generally include a performance 
obligation. In addition, the Group believes that the income from the sale of the property should be recognized 
when the asset control is transferred to the customer (usually after the delivery) based on the terms of the existing 
sales contract. The application of the new income standard has no effect on the timing of revenue recognition.

According to the new income standard, if the payment period of the customer is different from the period 
during which the promised goods or services are transferred according to the contract, the transaction price and 
the income from the sales need to be adjusted for the impact of the financing component (if significant). The 
Group believes that the consideration of the time difference between the customer's payment and the delivery 
of the property to the customer and the current market interest rate, the amount of the financing component 
is significant, the sales price must be discounted to calculate the significant financing component. The Group 
recognizes contractual liabilities for advances from customers that include significant financing components. The 
Group did not consider the significant financing components existing in the contract for the expectation that the 
customer's control over the acquisition of the goods and the payment of the customer's payment did not exceed 
one year. In addition, the outstanding balance of customer advances has been reclassified from advance receipts 
to contractual liabilities.

(4) Revenue from entrusted services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period.

(5) For the service concession contracts entered into with the government departments, according to which the 
Group participates in the development, financing, operations and maintenance of the toll road construction, the 
Group recognizes no construction service revenue because the Group subcontracts the work to other parties and 
does not undertake the construction work on its own.
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24. Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(6) Advertising revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period.

(7) Interest income is determined by using the effective interest method, based on the length of time for which the 
Group’s cash is used by others.

(8) Income from an operating lease is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(9) There are sales rebates in some of the Group's contracts with customers (early completion awards or other 
arrangements based on actual customer conditions) and results in a variable consideration. The Group determines 
the best estimate amount of the variable consideration based on the expected value or the most likely amount, 
but the transaction price including the variable consideration does not exceed the amount that the accumulated 
revenue is likely not to be significantly reversed when the relevant uncertainty is eliminated.

(10) For construction management service projects, the Group is responsible for the construction and implementation 
of the entire project as the general contractor. For the construction unit, survey and design, consulting, etc., the 
Group is responsible for bidding and signing contracts with the third-party units and the government shall pay 
the total price of the project investment to the Group in accordance with the payment method agreed in the 
agency construction. The Group takes control over the projects under construction before transferring the goods 
to the owners, leads the third party to provide services to the owners, and bears the primary responsibility for 
transferring the construction to the owners. Therefore, the Group is the main responsible person and recognizes 
the revenue according to the total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the Group is an agent and 
recognizes the revenue according to the amount of the commission or handling fee expected to receive. The 
amount shall be netted according to the total amount received or receivable, after deducting the price payable to 
other related parties, or the established commission amount or proportion is determined.

(11) The contracts for the sale of goods between the Group and the customer usually contain the performance 
obligations for the transfer of the complete machine, components, and accessories of wind turbine generators. 
The Group generally recognizes revenue at the point of transfer of control of the goods on the basis of a 
combination of the following factors: the current right to collect the goods, the transfer of major risks and 
benefits in the ownership of the goods, and the transfer of the legal ownership of the goods, the transfer of 
physical assets of the goods and that the customers have accepted the goods.

(12) Contracts for the sale of goods between the Group and customers usually include performance obligations 
for the sale of electricity. The Group generally recognizes revenue at the point in time when the control of the 
commodity is transferred on the basis of comprehensive consideration of the following factors. Obtain the current 
collection rights of the goods, the transfer of main risks and rewards of the ownership of the goods, the transfer 
of legal ownership of the goods, the transfer of physical assets of the goods, and the customer's acceptance of 
the goods.
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III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

25. Contract asset and liability

Contracts with customers will be presented in the Group’s statement of financial position as a contract liability or 
a contract asset, depending on the relationship between the Group’s performance and the customer’s payment. 
The Group offsets the contract assets and contract liabilities under the same contract and presents them on the 
statement of financial position as a net amount.

Contract asset

A contract asset is recognized when the Group’s right to consideration is conditional on something other than the 
passage of time, for example future performance of the Group. A receivable is recognized when the Group’s right 
to consideration is unconditional except for the passage of time.

The Group's method for determining and accounting for expected credit losses, which are related to contract assets 
are detailed in Note III.9.

Contract liability

A contract liability is presented in the statement of financial position where a customer has paid an amount of 
consideration prior to the Group performing by transferring the related good or service to the customer.

26. Assets relating to contract cost

The Group’s assets relating to contract costs include the contract acquisition costs and contract performance 
costs, presented respectively under inventories, other current assets and other noncurrent assets.

Where the Group expects the incremental costs for acquiring a contract to be recoverable, such contract 
acquisition costs are recognised as an asset (unless the amortisation period of the asset is not more than 1 year).

Costs incurred by the Group for the performance of a contract are recognised as an asset as contract performance 
costs if they do not fall under the scope of the relevant standards for inventories, fixed assets or intangible assets 
but meet all the following conditions:

(1) They are directly related to a current or anticipated contract, including direct labor, direct materials, 
manufacturing expenses (or similar expenses), to be borne by customers as specifically stipulated, and otherwise 
incurred solely in connection with the contract;

(2) They will increase the resources to be utilised in the Company’s future performance of its contractual obligations;

(3) They are expected to be recoverable.

The Group amortises assets relating contract costs on the same basis as that for the recognition of revenue 
relating to such assets and recognises the amortised assets in current profit or loss.
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III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

26. Assets relating to contract cost (continued)

For assets relating to contract costs whose carrying value is higher than the difference between the following two 
items, the Group makes provision for impairment for the excess to be recognised as asset impairment losses:

(1) The remaining consideration expected to be obtained as a result of the transfer of goods relating to such assets;

(2) Estimated costs to be incurred in connection with the transfer of relevant goods.

In the event that the difference between (1) and (2) becomes higher than the carrying value of such assets as a 
result of changes in the factors of impairment for previous periods, previous provisions for asset impairment losses 
should be written back and included in current profit or loss, provided that the carrying asset value following the 
write-back shall not exceed the carrying value such assets would have on the date of write-back were there no 
provision for impairment.

27. Government grants

A government grant is recognized when the condition attached to it is fulfilled and the grant can be received. The 
monetary grant from the government is measured at the amount received or receivable. The non-monetary grant 
from the government is measured at its fair value. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined, it is measured at 
a nominal amount.

Government documents stipulate that if the long-term assets are obtained by acquisitions, constructions or other 
forms, the grants should be recognized as the government grants related to assets. If the government documents 
are unclear, they should be judged on the basis of the basic conditions necessary for obtaining such grants. if the 
long-term assets are obtained by acquisitions, constructions or other forms, the grants should be recognized as 
the government grants related to assets, and others should be recognized as income-related government grants.

The total amount method is applied for the Group's government grants.

For government grants related to income, where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses to be 
incurred in the subsequent periods, the grant is recognized as deferred income, and included in profit or loss over 
the periods in which the related costs are recognized or adjusted against the relevant cost; where the grant is a 
compensation for related expenses or losses already incurred by the Group, the grant is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss for the current period or is adjusted against the relevant cost.

Government grants related to assets are adjusted against the book value of the assets or recognized as deferred 
income and evenly distributed in profit or loss over the useful life of related assets in a reasonable and systematic 
way. Government grants measured at their nominal amounts shall be recognized immediately in profit or loss for 
the current period. If the relevant assets are sold, transferred, disposed of or ruined before their useful life ends, 
the undistributed relevant deferred income shall be transferred to the gain from asset disposal for the current 
period.



192 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

28. Income tax

The income tax expenses include current income tax and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax expenses or 
income are recognized in profit or loss for the period, except when they arise from transactions or events that are 
directly recognized in owners’ equity, in which case they are recognized in owners’ equity; and when they arise 
from business combinations, in which case they adjust the carrying amount of goodwill.

Current income tax liabilities (or assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be paid (or recovered) according to the requirements of tax laws.

At the end of the reporting period, for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of certain assets 
or liabilities and their tax base, or between the carrying amounts of items that are not recognized as assets or 
liabilities and their tax base that can be determined according to tax laws, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

(1) When the taxable temporary difference arises from: the initial recognition of goodwill or the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in transactions that are not business combinations and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit, taxable profit or loss nor deductible losses;

(2) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests 
in joint arrangements, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

For deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and tax credits that can be carried forward, deferred tax 
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and tax credits can be utilized, except:

(1) When the deductible temporary differences do not arise from business combinations and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit, taxable profit or loss nor deductible losses;

(2) In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and 
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilized.

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at applicable tax rates 
according to the requirements of tax laws during the period that the assets are expected to be recovered or the 
liability expected to be repaid. The recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities also takes the recovery or the 
repayment terms into account.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed and reduced if it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the future to allow the benefit of deferred tax 
assets to be utilized. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
and recognized to the extent that it is probable that available taxable profits in the future will allow the benefit of 
deferred tax assets to be utilized.
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28. Income tax (continued)

When all of the following conditions are satisfied simultaneously, the deferred income tax assets and deferred 
income tax liabilities are listed as the net amount after offsetting: the Group has a legal right to settle current 
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis; the deferred taxes are related to the same tax payer within the Group and 
the same taxation authority, or related to different tax payers but during the period when each of the significant 
deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is reversed and the tax payer involved intends to 
settle the current income tax asset and current income tax liability on a net basis, or simultaneously obtain assets 
and pay off the debts.

29. Leases (Applicable from 1 January 2019)

Identification of leases

On the contract start date, the Group assesses whether the contract is a lease or includes a lease. If one of 
the parties transfers the right to control the use of one or more identified assets for a certain period of time in 
exchange for consideration, the contract is leased or included a lease. In order to determine whether the contract 
has transferred the right to control the use of the identified assets within a certain period of time, the Group 
assesses whether the customers in the contract are entitled to almost all of the economic benefits arising from 
the use of the identified assets during the period of use and have right to direct the use of the identified assets 
during that use period.

Identification of separate leases

Where the contract contains multiple separate leases, the Group will split the contract and separate the leases 
for accounting treatment. The right to use the identified asset constitutes a separate lease in the contract if the 
following conditions are met:

(1) The lessee can profit from using the asset alone or in conjunction with other resources that are readily available;

(2) The asset does not have a high degree of dependency or a high degree of association with other assets in the 
contract.

Assessment of lease period

The lease term is the period during which the Group has the right to use the leased asset and is irrevocable. 
The Group has the option to renew the lease, that is, it has the right to choose to renew the lease, and it is 
reasonable to determine that the option will be exercised. The lease term also includes the period covered by the 
option to renew the lease. The Group has the option to terminate the lease, that is, it has the right to choose 
to terminate the lease of the asset, but it is reasonable to determine that the option will not be exercised. The 
lease term includes the period covered by the termination of the lease option. In the event of a major event or 
change within the Group's controllable range, and affecting whether the Group reasonably determines that the 
option will be exercised, the Group determines whether it will reasonably exercise the option to renew the lease, 
purchase option or terminate the lease option.

As a lessee

For the general accounting treatment of the Group as a lessee, refer to Note III.17 and Note III.22.
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29. Leases (Applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Lease changes

The lease changes include change of lease scope, lease consideration, and lease term change outside the original 
contract terms, including the increase or termination of the use rights of one or more leased assets, and the 
extension or shortening of the lease period stipulated in the contract.

If the lease changes and meets the following conditions, the Group will account for the lease change as a 
separate lease:

(1) The lease change expands the lease by increasing the right to use one or more leased assets;

(2) The increased consideration and the individual price of the enlarged portion of the lease are equivalent to the 
amount adjusted for the contract.

If the lease change is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group re-determines the lease term on the 
effective date of the lease change and discounts the changed lease payments using the revised discount rate 
to re-measure the lease liability. When calculating the present value of the lease payment after the change, the 
Group adopts the lease interest rate of the remaining lease period as the discount rate; if the lease interest rate of 
the remaining lease period cannot be determined, the Group's incremental increase will be made on the effective 
date of the lease change.

Regarding the impact of the above adjustment of lease liabilities, the Group distinguishes between the following 
cases for accounting treatment

(1) If the lease change results in a narrower lease or a shorter lease term, the Group reduces the book value of the 
right-of-use asset to reflect the termination or complete termination of the lease. The Group recognizes the 
related gains or losses that partially terminate or completely terminate the leases in profit or loss for the current 
period.

(2) For other lease changes, the Group adjusts the book value of the right-of-use assets accordingly.

Short-term leases and lease of low value assets

The Group will be on the commencement date of the lease term, the lease term is not more than 12 months, and 
the lease that does not include the purchase option is recognized as a short-term lease; the lease with a value of 
not more than RMB50,000.00 when the single leased asset is a new asset is recognized as a lease of low-value asset 
If the Group subleases or expects to sublease the leased assets, the original lease is not recognized as a lease of 
low-value asset. The Group does not recognize the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
and low-value asset leases. During the period of the lease term, the related asset cost or current profit or loss is 
recognised using the straight-line method.
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29. Leases (Applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

As a lessor

Leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the leased asset on 
the lease commencement date are finance leases, and all other leases are operating leases.

As lessor of an operating lease

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term in profit or loss and 
contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Leaseback transaction

Evaluate and determine whether the asset transfer in the leaseback transaction belongs to the sale in accordance 
with Note III.24.

As a lessee

If the asset transfer in the sale and leaseback transaction does not belong to the sale, the Group, as the lessee, 
continues to recognize the transferred asset, and meanwhile recognizes a financial liability equal to the transfer 
income. The financial liability shall be accounted for in accordance with notes III and 19.

30. Leases (Applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessee of an operating lease

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized by a lessee on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and either included in the cost of the related asset or charged to profit or loss for the current period. Contingent 
rents are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they actually arise.

As lessor of an operating lease

Rental income under an operating lease is recognized by a lessor on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
through profit or loss. Contingent rents are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they actually arise.

31. Dividend distribution

Cash dividends of the Company are recognized as liabilities after being approved at the shareholders’ meeting.
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32. Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair 
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement of the related assets and liabilities 
at fair value is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market is accessible by the 
Group as at the measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset at its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset at its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole: Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities; Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly; Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization at the end of each 
reporting period.

33. Other significant accounting policies and accounting estimates

Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal organization structure, management requirements 
and internal reporting system, and discloses segment information of reportable segments which is determined on 
the basis of operating segments.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that satisfies all of the following conditions: (1) the 
component is able to earn revenues and incur expenses from its ordinary activities; (2) the component’s operating 
results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and to assess its performance; (3) the information on the financial position, operating results and 
cash flows of the segment is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic 
characteristics and satisfy certain conditions, they are aggregated into one single operating segment.
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34. Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the presentation and disclosure of income, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the date of statement of financial position. However, the results of these assumptions and 
estimated uncertainties may cause significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of future assets or liabilities 
that are affected.

Judgments

During the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management made the following judgments that had a 
significant impact on the confirmed amounts in the financial statements:

(1) Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the business model of the Group's 
management of financial assets. When determining whether the business model is still likely to be based on the 
collection of contractual cash flows, the Group needs to analyze the sale of financial assets before the maturity 
date. It also requires judgment whether the sale is accidental or whether the value of the sale is low.

(2) Contractual cash flow characteristics

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the financial assets. When it is necessary to judge whether the contractual cash flow is only the payment of the 
principal and the interest based on the outstanding principal, the correction of the time value of the currency 
is included. In the assessment, it is necessary to judge whether there is a significant difference compared with 
the benchmark cash flow, and for the financial assets including the prepayment characteristics, it is necessary to 
judge whether the fair value of the early repayment characteristics is very small.

(3) Principal responsible person/agent

As for the Group's ability to lead a third party to provide services on behalf of the Group to its customers, the 
Group has the right to decide the price of the commodities traded independently, that is, the Group can control 
the project before transferring the agent project to the customer. Therefore, the Group is the main responsible 
person, recognizing the revenue according to the total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the Group 
as an agent shall recognize income in accordance with the amount of commission or commission expected to 
be entitled to collect. The amount shall be determined by deducting the net amount payable to other interested 
parties from the total amount of consideration received or receivable, or by the established amount or proportion 
of commission.

(4) Lease period – Lease contract with renewal option

The lease term is the period during which the Group has the right to use the leased asset and is irrevocable. 
If there is an option to renew the lease and it is reasonably determined that the option will be exercised, 
the lease term also includes the period covered by the option to renew the lease. Some of the Group's lease 
contracts have the option to renew the lease for 1 to 3 years. In assessing whether it is reasonable to determine 
whether the option to renew the lease will be exercised, it will consider all relevant facts and circumstances 
that bring economic benefits to the exercise of the option of renewal of the Group, including the facts from 
the commencement date of the lease term to the date of exercise of the option and expected changes in the 
situation. The Group believes that due to the conditions relating to the exercise of the option and the possibility 
of meeting the relevant conditions, the Group can reasonably determine that the option to renew the lease will 
be exercised. Therefore, the lease period includes the period covered by the option of renewal.
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34. Significant accounting judgments and estimates(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The critical accounting estimates and key assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the future financial year are addressed below:

(1) Estimation of construction management services income and costs

As stated in Note III.24(2), the Group recognizes revenue from construction management services using the 
percentage of completion method when the outcome of the construction management services can be estimated 
reliably.

During the current year, the directors of the Company recognized construction management service income 
and costs according to the optimum estimation on the total investment top limit, project costs as well as other 
construction management service costs.

If the total budget for the project and project costs as well as the actual construction management service costs 
is different from management’s current estimates, the construction management service income and costs will be 
changed prospectively.

(2) Amortization of concession intangible assets

As stated in Note III.18(1), amortization of concession intangible assets is provided under the traffic volume 
amortization method. Appropriate adjustments to the amortization of concession intangible assets will be made 
when there is a material difference between total projected traffic volume and the actual results.

The directors perform periodic assessment of the total projected traffic volume. The Group will appoint an 
independent professional traffic consultant to perform independent professional traffic studies in order to make 
an appropriate adjustment if there is a material and continuous difference between projected and actual traffic 
volume. The Group appointed independent professional traffic consultants to perform independent professional 
traffic studies on its main toll roads in years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 and perform independent 
traffic volume studies respectively on Meiguan Expressway, Shenzhen Airport-Heao Expressway – Western Section, 
and Shenzhen Airport-Heao Expressway – Eastern Section in year 2019, and then prospectively adjusted the 
amortization unit according to the revised total projected traffic volume.

(3) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of 
the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset groups (sets of asset groups) 
to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the present value requires the Group to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the asset groups (sets of asset groups) and also to choose a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(4) Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. During the ordinary course of business, the ultimate 
tax determinations of some transactions and events are uncertain. Significant judgment is required from the 
Group in determining the provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets based on estimates that it is probable to generate enough taxable 
income in the foreseeable future that the deductible losses will be utilized. The recognition of deferred tax assets 
mainly involves management’s judgments and estimations about the timing and the amount of taxable income 
of the Company which has tax losses. Where the final outcome of timing and the amount is different from the 
original estimate, such differences will impact the current income taxes and deferred tax assets in the period in 
which such determination is made.
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34. Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(5) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment test should be executed when there is any indication 
that the carrying amount is not recoverable. An impairment exists if the carrying amount of the financial asset or 
the group of financial assets exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the fair value net of disposal 
costs and the present value of the estimated future cash flow. The net amount of fair value minus disposal costs 
is determined by reference to the agreement price or observable market price of similar assets in the fair trade. 
When estimating the present value of future cash flows, management must estimate the expected future cash 
flows of the asset or asset group and select the appropriate discount rate to determine the present value of future 
cash flows.

(6) Estimate of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired

(a) During the year 2015, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Mei Wah Industrial (Hong Kong) Limited (“Mei 
Wah Company”), purchased a 10% equity interest in Shenzhen Qinglong Expressway Co., Ltd. (“Qinglong 
Company”) indirectly by purchasing a 100% equity interest in Fameluxe Investment at a cash consideration of 
RMB280 million. After the completion of the transaction, the Group directly and indirectly held an aggregate of 
50% equity interests in Qinglong Company and obtained the control over Qinglong Company.

The purchase agreement includes the fol lowing condit ions that would tr igger an adjustment to the 
consideration:1) Qinglong Company and the local government authority entering into an agreement in relation to 
the traffic management arrangement and adjustment scheme of Shuiguan Expressway on or before 31 December 
2016 with a comparable price lower than the preliminary consideration; 2) from the date of signing the share 
transfer agreement to 31 December 2016, the aforesaid adjustment agreement not yet being entered into and 
the relevant government authorities failing to grant the approval for the extension application of Shuiguan 
Expressway, or if the extension period of the concession granted under the approval being shorter than five years. 
Based on the available information and data, the Company made the best estimate that Qinglong Company 
was probable to obtain an approval of additional 4 tolling years before 31 December 2016, and the acquisition 
consideration of the 10% interests was estimated to be RMB266 million.

On 31 December 2016, due to the expectation that the negotiations between the Shenzhen Government and 
Qinglong Company on the adjustment of fees and charges were not completed before the original adjustment 
period (31 December 2016), Mei Wah Company, Hetai investment Company which was the former holder of 
Fameluxe Investment and Huayu Company and its actual controller, Mr. Chen Yangnan signed a Supplemental 
Agreement to extend the original contract period from 31 December 2016 to 31 December 2018. Due to the 
expectation that the negotiations between the Shenzhen Government and Qinglong Company on the adjustment 
of fees and charges were not completed before 31 December 2018. They signed a Supplemental Agreement on 
30 December 2018. The conditions that would trigger an adjustment to the consideration were changed to: 1) 
Shenzhen Government entering into an adjustment fee agreement with Qinglong Company before 31 December 
2020 with the comparable price calculated based on the arrangement and the purchase price from the share 
transfer agreement lower than the preliminary consideration; 2) On or before 31 December 2020, the aforesaid 
adjustment arrangement not yet being entered into and the relevant government authorities failing to grant the 
approval for the extension application of Shuiguan Expressway, or if the extension period of concession granted 
under the approval being shorter than 5 years.

The Company made the best estimate based on the available information and data, and considered that Qinglong 
Company would sign the adjustment fee agreement before 31 December 2020 and the purchasing price under 
the agreement would be equal to RMB266 million and lower than the initial consideration as calculated based on 
the terms set by the share trading agreement, and accordingly, the purchase price of the 10% equity remained at 
RMB266 million.
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34. Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(6) Estimate of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired (continued)

(b) As shown in note VI.1, during the year, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Expressway 
Environment Construction Management Co., LTD (“Environment Company”), completed the acquisition of 51% 
of the shares of Nanjing Wind Power Technology Co., LTD. (“Nanjing Wind Power”), thereby obtaining its control. 
According to the terms and conditions of the equity purchase agreement:

1) During the Valuation Adjustment Mechanism period, if Nanjing Wind Power fails to reach the gambling 
performance in 2019 and 2020, it will trigger a profit compensation mechanism: the original shareholders who 
still hold the shares will transfer some of the shareholders' profits for the year to the environmental company 
without compensation for compensation. That is, the original shareholders transferred part of the shareholders' 
profits corresponding to their shareholdings to the environmental company as compensation to ensure that the 
actual shareholder profit of the environmental company for the year reached the shareholder profit that the 
environmental company should obtain according to the shareholding ratio under the current year's performance. 
The profit compensation to the environmental company shall be subject to the profit for the year corresponding 
to all the equity held by the original shareholders;

2) During the Valuation Adjustment Mechanism period, if Nanjing Wind Power does not reach the performance 
in 2021 and 2022, the equity adjustment mechanism will be triggered: the original shareholders were required 
to transfer the corresponding proportion of equity at no charge to the stock ratio based on the net profit 
amount that the performance should achieve in the current year to the environmental company. That is, the 
original shareholders transferred the corresponding proportion of equity to the environmental company free of 
charge in order to compensate the environmental company to ensure that the actual shareholder profit of the 
environmental company in the year after obtaining this part of the equity reached the shareholder profit that the 
environmental company should obtain according to the shareholding ratio.

On the purchase date, the Company judged that the performance could be reached based on the profit forecast, 
and the contingent consideration was zero.

At the end of the year, Nanjing Wind Power successfully achieved the 2019 performance indicators; the Company 
also continued to pay attention to the realization of Nanjing Wind Power's future performance, and based 
on the existing profit forecast, it judged that future performance could still be achieved, and the contingent 
consideration was zero.
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34. Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(7) Impairment of concession intangible assets

The estimates on the net realizable value should be made when considering the impairment of the concession 
intangible assets.

When considering the impairment of the concession intangible assets, the management of the Company 
calculates the future cash flows of the toll roads and determines the recoverable amount. The key assumptions 
of this calculation include the estimated growth rate of the traffic volume, the standards of toll road charge, 
operating period, maintenance cost and the required return rate. Under the previous assumptions, the Group’s 
management considered that a concession intangible asset had a recoverable amount higher than the book value, 
and therefore provision for the impairment of a concession intangible asset was not necessary during the current 
period. The Group is going to exam the relevant items closely and continually. Adjustments will be made during 
the corresponding period once there is any indication for adjustment of the accounting estimates.

In the current year, due to the shortening of the expected charging period of Shuiguan Expressway, the key 
assumptions of future cash flow application have changed. Other assumptions based on the market conditions 
existing on the evaluation date are comprehensively considered, including the expected growth of vehicle flow, 
the economic development of the region, the impact of future road network planning on the traffic flow of the 
highway, the road condition and maintenance fee. The management re-evaluates and determines the recoverable 
amount of the franchise right of Shuiguan Expressway based on the applicable enterprise income tax rate of 
value-added tax and the discount rate equivalent to the operation risk of the highway. According to the relevant 
results, the Company made an impairment provision of 552 million yuan for intangible assets of Shuiguan 
Expressway franchise in the consolidated level this year. The recoverable amount is determined according to the 
present value of the expected future cash flow of the asset group or the fair value assessed by a professional 
evaluation institution. When determining the present value of the expected future cash flow of the asset group, 
the after tax discount rate is 8.86%, and the pre-tax discount rate is 16.07%.

(8) depreciation and amortization

After the residual value of fixed assets and intangible assets is taken into account, depreciation and amortization 
of fixed assets and intangible assets are calculated and withdrawn on a straight-line basis within their service life. 
The group periodically reviews the service life to determine the amount of depreciation and amortization that will 
be included in each reporting period. The service life of the group is based on previous experience with similar 
assets and in combination with expected technical updates. In the event of a material change in previous estimates, 
depreciation and amortization expenses are adjusted for future periods.

(9) method for determining the performance progress of a construction contract

The group determines the performance progress of the construction contract according to the input method. 
Specifically, the group determines the performance progress according to the proportion of the construction cost 
actually incurred to the expected total cost, which includes the direct cost and indirect cost incurred in the process 
of the group transferring goods to customers. The group believes that the construction contract price with the 
customer is determined on the basis of the construction cost, and the proportion of the actual construction cost 
to the estimated total cost can accurately reflect the performance progress of the construction service. The group 
shall determine the performance progress in accordance with the proportion of the accumulated construction 
cost to the estimated total cost and recognize the revenue accordingly. In view of the long duration of the 
construction contract, which may span several accounting periods, the group will review and revise the budget as 
the construction contract progresses, and adjust the amount of revenue recognition accordingly.
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34. Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(10) Impairment of financial instruments

The Group uses the expected credit loss model to assess the impairment of financial instruments. The application 
of the expected credit loss model requires significant judgments and estimations, and all reasonable and 
evidenced information, including forward-looking information, should be considered. In making such judgments 
and estimations, the Group infers the expected changes in the debtor's credit risk based on the historical 
repayment data in combination with economic policies, macroeconomic indicators, and industry risks. For the 
current year, the Group assessed that there is no significant impact about expected credit losses on the amounts 
or disclosures shown in the consolidated financial statements for the year.

(11) Fair value of unlisted equity investments

Fair value of non-listed equity investment at fair value through profit or loss is estimated using the market-based 
method. The assumptions on which it is based are unobservable input. The estimation requires the management 
to determine comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, scale, gearing and strategy and compute 
appropriate price multiples in respect of each identified comparable company, such as enterprise value to EBITDA 
(“EV/EBITDA”), price to book (“P/B”) or price to earnings (“P/E”), etc. Such multiples are measured and arrived 
at based on the relevant data of the comparable companies and discounted by a percentage for the lack of 
liquidity. The discounted multiple shall be used for the measurement of the profit or asset of the non-listed equity 
investment to arrive at its fair value. The management believes that the estimated fair value (as recorded in the 
financial statement) and changes in fair value (as recorded in profit or loss and other comprehensive income) 
arrived at using the aforesaid valuation method were reasonable and represented the most appropriate value as 
the end of the reporting period.

(12) Quality assurance

The Group will make a reasonable estimate of warranty rate for the contract Product improvements combination 
with similar characteristics based on historical warranty data, current warranty conditions, market changes, and 
other relevant information. The Group re-evaluates the warranty rate at least on every balance sheet date and 
determines the estimated liability based on the re-evaluated warranty rate.

(13) Sales containing significant financing elements

The newly added subsidiary of the group, Baotou Southern Wind Power Technology co., LTD. (" Baotou Southern 
Wind "), in recognizing the subsidy income for wind power generation, determined that there was a significant 
financing element in the sales transaction due to the time lag between the power grid access and the actual grant 
of subsidy funds by the government; Baotou Southern Wind considers the influence of time value and amortizes it 
according to the real interest rate method.
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35. Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates

Changes in accounting policies

The new lease standard

In 2018, the Ministry of Finance promulgated the revised “Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No. 21 – 
Leases” (referred to as the “new lease standards”). The new lease standard adopts a single model like the current 
accounting treatment of financial leases, requiring the lessee to recognize depreciations and interest expenses 
for all leases other than leases and low-value asset leases. The Group began to make accounting treatment 
according to the newly revised lease standard on January, 2019. For the contract that existed before the first 
implementation date, the Group chose not to re-evaluate whether it is a lease or including a lease, and according 
to the connection rules, there is no adjustment to comparable period information, the first implementation of 
the difference between the new lease standard and the current lease criteria retrospective adjustment of retained 
earnings in early 2019:

(1) For operating leases prior to the first execution date, the Group measures the lease liability based on the present 
value of the residual lease payments at the incremental borrowing rates on the first execution date, and is based 
on the amount of each lease based on the lease liability. The rent is subject to the necessary adjustments to 
measure the right to use assets. It is assumed that the new lease standard is adopted from the start date of the 
lease term, and the incremental borrowing interest rate of the Group as the lessee on the first execution date is 
used as the book value of the discount rate.

(2) The Group shall conduct impairment tests on the assets of the right to use and carry out corresponding 
accounting treatment in accordance with the policy in note iii.19.

The Group's operating leases, which are classified as low-value assets before the first implementation date, or 
operating leases that will be completed within 12 months, are treated as a simple way, and the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities are not recognized. In addition, the Group has adopted the following simplifications for 
operating leases prior to the first implementation date:

(1) When measuring lease liabilities, leases with similar characteristics may use the same discount rate; the 
measurement of right-of-use assets may not include initial direct costs;

(2) Where there is a renewal option or the termination of the lease option, the Group determines the lease term 
based on the actual exercise of the option before the first execution date and other recent developments;

(3) As an alternative to the impairment test of the right-of-use asset, the Group assesses whether the contract 
including the lease is a loss contract before the first execution date according to Note III.18, and adjusts the right-
of-use asset based on the loss provision amount included in the balance sheet before the first execution date; and
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35. Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Changes in accounting Policies (continued)

The new lease standard (continued)

(4) For the first implementation of the previous lease change, the Group performs accounting treatment based on 
the final arrangement of the lease change.

For the minimum lease payments that have not been paid for the significant operating leases disclosed in the 
2018 financial statements, the Group discounted the present value of the incremental borrowing rate of the 
Group as the lessee on 1 January 2019. The process of adjusting the difference in the lease liability included in 
the balance sheet is as follows:

Minimum lease payments for major operating lease on 31 December 2018 167,147,546.49
Less: simplified minimum lease payments 5,389,706.88
Including: Short-term leases 4,987,487.60
Low-value asset lease with a remaining lease term of over 12 months 402,219.28
Minimum lease payments under the new lease standard on 1 January 2019 161,757,839.61
Weighted average of incremental borrowing rate on 1 January 2019 4.75%
Amount of lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 124,330,525.49

The impact of the implementation of the new lease criteria on the financial statement on 1 January 2019 is as 
follows:

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

Amounts
Assuming the

original criteria
Impact of the New

Lease Standard    

Prepayments 157,861,979.49 166,448,063.98 -8,586,084.49
Right-of-use assets 132,916,609.98 – 132,916,609.98
Lease liabilities 124,330,525.49 – 124,330,525.49

Company Statement of Financial Position

Amounts
Assuming the 

original criteria
Impact of the New 

Lease Standard    

Right-of-use assets 659,638.78 – 659,638.78
Lease liabilities 659,638.78 – 659,638.78
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35. Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The new lease standard (continued)

The impact of the implementation of the new lease standard on the financial statements for 2019 is as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

Amounts
Assuming the 

original criteria
Impact of the New 

Lease Standard    

Prepayments 335,582,597.94 345,819,322.06 -10,236,724.12
Right-of-use assets 152,870,380.46 – 152,870,380.46
Current portion of non-current liabilities 505,101,989.80 470,420,445.20 34,681,544.60
Other payables 3,015,875,682.79 3,020,400,079.03 -4,524,396.24
Lease liabilities 118,269,744.66 – 118,269,744.66
Undistributed profits 6,439,246,724.95 6,443,820,599.07 -4,573,874.12
Minority interests 2,348,729,616.21 2,349,948,978.77 -1,219,362.56

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

Amounts
Assuming the 

original criteria
Impact of the New 

Lease Standard    

Operating cost 3,499,538,158.68 3,499,663,354.69 -125,196.01
General and administrative expenses 350,732,443.82 351,788,811.71 -1,056,367.89
Financial expenses 572,938,059.38 565,963,258.80 6,974,800.58

Company Statement of Financial Position:

Amounts
Assuming the 

original criteria
Impact of the New 

Lease Standard    

Right-of-use assets 32,330,237.50 – 32,330,237.50
Current portion of non-current liabilities 155,386,860.13 148,818,130.48 6,568,729.65
Other payables 2,046,947,507.14 2,049,307,152.86 -2,359,645.72
Lease liabilities 28,620,243.26 – 28,620,243.26
Undistributed profits 6,461,945,990.86 6,462,445,080.55 -499,089.69
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35. Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The new lease standard (continued)

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

Amounts
Assuming the 

original criteria
Impact of the New 

Lease Standard    

Operating cost 304,766,868.20 304,890,843.29 -123,975.09
Administrative expenses 253,094,815.03 253,507,144.27 -412,329.24
Financial expenses 212,540,305.49 211,504,911.47 1,035,394.02

In addition, the cash paid by the Group for repayment of the principal and interest of the lease liabilities is 
included in the cash flow statement as cash outflows from the financing activities, and the short-term lease 
payments and low-value asset lease payments that are simplified are made and variable lease payments that are 
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities are still included in cash outflows from operating activities.

Change in presentation of financial statements

According to the “Notice on Amending the 2019 Annual General Financial Statement Format of the General 
Enterprise” (Accounting [2019] No. 6) and the “Notice on Amending the Issuance of the Format of Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (2019 Edition) (Accounting [2019] No. 16), in the Balance Sheet, the “Receivable notes 
and Accounts receivable” item is split into “Notes Receivable” and “Accounts Receivable”, “Accounts Payable 
and Accounts Payable” item is split into “Payable Bills” and “Accounts Payable”; the "interest receivable" in the 
"other receivables" item has been changed to reflect only the interest that the relevant financial instruments 
have matured and can be collected but have not yet received at the balance sheet date (Interest for financial 
instruments based on the actual interest rate method is included in the book balance of the corresponding 
financial instrument), The "interest payable" in the "other payables" item is changed to reflect only the interest 
that is due for the relevant financial instrument but has not been paid at the balance sheet date (Interest 
for financial instruments based on the actual interest rate method is included in the book balance of the 
corresponding financial instrument), The comparative data will not be adjusted retrospectively with reference to 
the convergence requirements of the new financial instrument standards. This change in accounting policy has no 
effect on the merger and the Company's net profit and owner's equity.

Changes in accounting estimates

Details and reasons for changes in 
accounting estimates Procedures for approval Effective date

Notes (Financial 
statement items 
and amounts 
affected)    

Changes in accounting estimates of unit 
usage of Meiguan Expressway,West 
section of Airport-Heao Expressway and 
East section of Airport-Heao Expressway

Approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company 
on 23 August 2019.

1 April 2019 (a)
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35. Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Changes in accounting estimates (continued)

Changes in accounting estimates of unit usage of concession intangible assets of Meiguan Expressway, West 
section of Airport-Heao Expressway and East section of Airport-Heao Expressway:

(a) Since the actual traffic volumes of Meiguan Expressway, the West section of Airport-Heao Expressway and East 
section of Airport-Heao Expressway significantly differed from the projected traffic volumes in the current period 
and the difference between the actual traffic volumes and the previous projected traffic volumes is expected to 
continue, and furthermore the surrounding highway networks and traffic diversion impact became stable, the 
Company appointed an independent professional traffic consultant to reassess the traffic volume of Meiguan 
Expressway,the West section of Airport-Heao Expressway and the East section of Airport-Heao Expressway in 
the future operating period in June 2019. The Board of Directors of the Company approved the changes in 
accounting estimates according to the revised traffic volume projection, on 23 August 2019, and adjusted the 
unit amortization of the aforesaid expressways according to the revised total projected traffic volume from 1 April 
2019 using prospective application. The unit amortization of Meiguan Expressway was adjusted from RMB0.84 
to RMB0.53, the unit amortization of the West section of Airport-Heao Expressway was adjusted from RMB0.78 
to RMB0.59, and the unit usage of the East section of Airport-Heao Expressway was adjusted from RMB3.49 to 
RMB2.95. Such changes in accounting estimates had impact on the financial statement items for the year of 2019 
as follows:

Impact amount 

Meiguan 
Expressway

West section of 
Airport-Heao 

Expressway

East section of 
Airport-Heao 

Expressway    

Increase in intangible assets 13,238,298.60 8,598,129.42 26,326,424.22
Increase in deferred tax liabilities 240,949.44 – 4,573,706.82
Decrease in deferred tax assets 3,068,625.21 2,149,532.35 2,007,899.23
Decrease in cost of services 13,238,298.60 8,598,129.42 26,326,424.22
Increase in income tax expenses 3,309,574.65 2,149,532.35 6,581,606.06
Increase in net profit 9,928,723.95 6,448,597.07 19,744,818.16
Increase in net profit attributable to owners of 

the Company 9,928,723.95 6,448,597.07 19,744,818.16

The above changes in accounting estimates would impact the magnitude of future amortization of the concession 
intangible assets of Meiguan Expressway, the West section of Airport-Heao Expressway and the East section of 
Airport-Heao Expressway to a certain extent.
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1. Main categories and rates of taxes:

Category Tax base Tax rate   

Value added tax (“VAT”) Income form the sale of goods and rendering of 
services (from 1 May 2016 to 30 April 2018)

17%

Income form the sale of goods and rendering of 
services (from 1 May 2018 to 31 March 2019)

16%

Income form the sale of goods and rendering of 
services (from 1 April 2019)

13%

VAT Real estate development income (from 1 May 2016 to 
30 April 2018)

11%

Real estate development income (from 1 May 2018 to 
31 March 2019)

10%

Real estate development income (from 1 April 2019) 9%
VAT Taxable advertisement income 6%
VAT Entrusted management income revenue from 

businesses other than expressway toll road (from 1 
May 2016)

6%

VAT Revenue from expressway toll road business (from 1 
May 2016)

3%

VAT Property operating lease income 5%(simply impose)
City maintenance and 

construction tax
Amount of commodity turnover tax paid 5%, 7%

Educational surcharge Amount of commodity turnover tax paid 3%
Local educational surcharge Amount of commodity turnover tax paid 2%
Construction fee for culture 

undertakings
Amount of advertising turnover 3%

Corporate income tax (“CIT”) Taxable income Except the companies 
in the nest chart, 25%

Land appreciation tax Gain on the transfer of real estate Four-level progressive
 rates, 30%-60%

The different CIT rates used by the Company’s subsidiary are disclosed as follows:

The Company Applicable tax rate  

Fameluxe Company (1) 16.5%
Nanjing Wind Power Technology Co., Ltd. (Nanjing Wind Power) (2) 15%

(1) Fameluxe Company is incorporated in Hong Kong with an applicable income tax rate of 16.5%.

(2) Nanjing Wind Power obtained the High-tech Enterprise Certification (Certification Code: GR201632004558) in 
November 2016. The high-tech enterprise certification is valid for three years. In November 2019, Nanjing Wind 
Power was recognized as the second batch of high-tech enterprises in Jiangsu Province in 2019.According to 
the "Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People's Republic of China" and the "Regulations on Tax Matters" of the 
Nanjing Local Taxation Bureau of Jiangsu Province, Nanjing Wind Power enjoys the preferential corporate income 
tax policy, under which it a 15% corporate income tax rate for 2019.
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2. Tax preference

(1) Baotou Nanfeng Company is a wind power enterprise and has the following tax benefits:

(a) 50% VAT refund policy

Caishui [2015] Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Wind Power VAT Policy: In order to encourage 
the use of wind power and promote the healthy development of related industries, the VAT policy for wind power is 
hereby notified: As of July 1, 2015, Taxpayers who sell their self-produced power products using wind power are 
subject to a 50% VAT refund policy.

(b) Preferential policies for three exemptions, three halves and half of corporate income tax

Caishui [2012] No.10 notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning Preferential Policies on 
Corporate Income Taxes for Public Infrastructure Projects and Environmental Protection, Energy Saving and Water 
Saving Projects: Enterprises engaged in compliance with the "Public Infrastructure Project Corporate Income 
Tax Preferential Catalogue", December 31, 2007 Income from investment and operation of public infrastructure 
projects that have been approved recently, and income from environmental protection, energy-saving and 
water-saving projects approved in accordance with the "Environmental Protection, Energy-Saving and 
Water-Saving Project Corporate Income Tax Preferential Catalogue" and approved before December 31, 
2007, From the tax year in which the project ’s first production and operation income is obtained, the “three 
exemptions, three halves, and half reductions” of corporate income tax calculated in accordance with the new 
tax law can enjoy the reduction and exemption of its remaining years from January 1, 2008 Corporate income tax 
benefits. "Public Infrastructure Project Corporate Income Tax Preference List" includes: new wind power projects, 
new wind power projects approved by the government investment authority.

Baotou Nanfeng Company started grid-connected power generation in 2018, and obtained its first production 
and operation income. The "three exemptions, three halvings" tax incentive period began in 2018 and ends in 
2023.

(2) Nanjing Wind Power enjoys preferential corporate income tax for high-tech enterprise qualification, 
and a 15% corporate income tax rate applies.

Except for the above, there are no tax benefits that have a significant impact on the Group.

3. Others

According to Guoshuihan (2010) No. 651, “Reply from the State Administration of Taxation concerning about 
the recognition as resident enterprises of related overseas enterprises of Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited” 
issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 30 December 2010, Mei Wah Company, Maxprofit Company 
and JEL Company were recognized as resident enterprises of China and would be subject to the relevant taxation 
administration, which came into effect in 2008.
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1. Cash and cash equivalents

Item 2019 2018   

Cash on hand 10,439,104.00 10,969,104.99
Bank deposits 4,590,114,843.01 4,215,721,979.08
Other money funds 132,564,454.79 –   

Total 4,733,118,401.80 4,226,691,084.07   

Including: restricted bank deposits 1,801,295,060.23 1,645,847,754.50   

On 31 December 2019, the foreign currency funds of the Group amounted to RMB13,418,993.21 (31 December 
2018: RMB17,281,573.35).

On 31 December 2019, the group's special account for project management was RMB1,459,545,328.54, the 
acceptance margin of notes payable was RMB131,749,731.69 and the regulated equity purchase fund was 
RMB210,000,000.00, with a total balance of RMB1,801,295,060.23 (31 December 2018: special account for 
project management was RMB1,645,847,754.50).The above deposits are reflected in the statement of the cash 
flows as restricted bank deposits.

Current deposits earn interest at the rate based on current deposit interest rates. Maturities of short-term time 
deposits range from 7 days to 12 months depending on the fund arrangement of the Group. Time deposits earn 
interest at the relevant rates with different maturities.

2. Transactional financial assets

Item 2019 2018   

Transactional financial assets 62,689,444.00 45,103,194.00
Including: Derivative financial liabilities (a) 62,689,444.00 45,103,194.00   

Total 62,689,444.00 45,103,194.00   

(a) Transactional financial assets are foreign exchange swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts that are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. On 18 July 2016, the Company issued a 5-year long-term bonds whose face value was 300 million United States Dollar 
(“USD”). In order to hedge exchange rate risk, the Company signed foreign exchange swap/forward contracts with a number of banks in 
phases. The first contract period is from July 2016 to July 2017, with a total amount of USD295 million, all of which are ordinary foreign 
exchange swap/forward contracts. The second contract period is from July 2017 to July 2018, with a total amount of USD300 million, of 
which USD150 million is a capped swap/forward contract and USD150 million is a regular foreign exchange swap/forward contract. In July 
2018, the original foreign exchange swap and foreign exchange forward contract expired, the Company confirmed a total investment loss 
of RMB49,740,000.00. The third contract period began in July 2018, of which the USD150 million contract will expire in July 2019, and 
the other USD150 million contract will expire in July 2021. In July 2019, after the third phase of the USD150 million contract expired, the 
Company confirmed the investment income of RMB26,860,000.00, and signed a USD150 million fourth ordinary foreign exchange swap/
forward contract, which will expire in July 2020. During the year, the above-mentioned derivative financial instruments have a fair value 
gain of RMB17,586,250.00 (2018: a fair value gain of RMB116,475,051.30) (Note V.52).
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3. Bills receivable

Item 2019 2018   

Bank acceptance bills 9,895,060.34 –   

Total 9,895,060.34 –   

The bills receivable that have been endorsed or discounted but not yet matured at the balance sheet date are as 
follows:

2019 2018  

Item Derecognition
Non-termination

 confirmation Derecognition
Non-termination

confirmation     

Bank acceptance bills 106,751,000.00 – – –     

Total 106,751,000.00 – – –     

4. Accounts receivable

Trade receivables are interest-free with a credit period of one to six months in general.

(1) The aging of accounts receivable according to the recognition date is analyzed below:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 year 692,053,011.03 142,974,232.51
1 to 2 years 3,684,818.95 26,732,147.73
2 to 3 years 22,404,325.16 93,869.66
Over 3 years 6,320,201.24 5,038,866.44   

Sub-total 724,462,356.38 174,839,116.34
Less: Provision for bad debts 2,195,435.56 200,000.00   

Total 722,266,920.82 174,639,116.34   

(2) The changes in the provision for bad debt are as follows:

Item 
Beginning 

balance

Business 
combinations 

not under 
common 

control Additions Reversal

Cancellation 
after 

verification (a)
Ending 

balance       

2019 200,000.00 3,799,343.70 459,054.07 1,966,962.21 296,000.00 2,195,435.56
2018 450,000.00 – – 250,000.00 – 200,000.00       

(a) Accounts receivable actually written off in 2019 were RMB296,000.00 (2018: Nil). The amount was due from Shenzhen High-speed 
Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Advertising Company”), which was due to Shenzhen Weikasi Technology Cultural Industry Co., Ltd., Shenzhen 
Jinfang Chuanggu Industrial Co., Ltd., and Hubei Zhenghong Advertising Co., Ltd. As approved by the general manager's office meeting, 
the irrecoverable amount written off this year was RMB296,000.00.
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4. Accounts receivable (continued)

(3) Accounts receivable are analyzed by category as follows:

Category

2019 

Ending balance Provision for bad debts  

Amount
% of total

balance Amount
% of total

balance     

Receivables that are subject to 
provision by group with similar 
credit risk characteristics 724,462,356.38 100.00 2,195,435.56 0.30

Group 1 56,345,778.13 7.78 – –
Group 2 133,870,845.85 18.48 363,054.07 0.27
Group 3 534,245,732.40 73.74 1,832,381.49 0.34     

Total 724,462,356.38 100.00 2,195,435.56 0.30     

The aging of group 2 and group 3 according to the recognition date is analyzed below: 

Group 2 2019 

Aging
Estimated default 

book balance
Expected credit 

loss rate (%)
Expected credit loss 

over the duration    

Within 1 year 132,098,579.96 0.10 170,440.07
1 to 2 years 1,545,850.81 10.29 159,071.03
2 to 3 years 226,415.08 14.81 33,542.97
Over 3 years – / –    

Total 133,870,845.85 / 363,054.07    

Group 3 2019 

Aging
Estimated default 

book balance
Expected credit 

loss rate (%)
Expected credit loss 

over the duration    

Within 1 year 532,764,397.60 0.13 709,825.98
1 to 2 years – / –
2 to 3 years – / –
Over 3 years 1,481,334.80 75.78 1,122,555.51    

Total 534,245,732.40 / 1,832,381.49    



213ANNUAL REPORT 2019

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Accounts receivable (continued)

(3) Accounts receivable are analyzed by category as follows (continued):

Category

2018 

Ending balance Provision for bad debts  

Amount
% of total

balance Amount
% of total

balance     

Receivables that are subject to 
provision by group with similar 
credit risk characteristics 174,839,116.34 100.00 200,000.00 0.11

Group 1 59,555,198.06 34.06 – –
Group 2 115,283,918.28 65.94 200,000.00 0.17     

Total 174,839,116.34 100.00 200,000.00 /     

The aging of group 2 according to the recognition date is analyzed below: 

2018 

Estimated default 
book balance

Expected credit 
loss rate (%)

Expected credit loss 
over the duration    

Within 1 year 114,757,633.54 – –
1 to 2 years 232,415.08 – –
2 to 3 years 93,869.66 – –
Over 3 years 200,000.00 100 200,000.00    

Total 115,283,918.28 / 200,000.00    

(4) Accumulated accounts receivable from the five largest debtors:

Balance
Provision 

for bad debts
% of 

total balance    

Total accumulated accounts receivable from 
the five largest debtors at 31 December 
2019 670,859,175.71 688,980.50 92.60

Total accumulated accounts receivable from 
the five largest debtors at 31 December 
2018 141,502,579.74 – 80.93    
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5. Advances to suppliers

(1) Advances to suppliers presented on the basis of their respective nature:

Item 2019 2018   

Prepaid land-transferring fund 136,912,559.45 121,245,420.00
Prepaid material payment 115,464,238.07 –
Others 83,205,800.42 45,202,643.98   

Total 335,582,597.94 166,448,063.98   

As at 31 December 2019, the amount represents the prepayments for land-transferring fee,construction 
payment;prepaid material payment, prepaid fuel card, survey and design fee, prepaid advertising company 
billboard production cost, prepaid administrative cost, payment for goods, road production insurance and other 
costs.

(2) The aging analysis of advances to suppliers is as follows:

2019 2018  

Aging Amount
% of

total balance Amount
% of

total balance     

Within 1 year 198,913,662.95 59.27 160,443,756.49 96.40
1 to 2 years 134,696,211.26 40.14 4,310,402.64 2.59
2 to 3 years 1,136,063.92 0.34 973,564.98 0.58
Over 3 years 836,659.81 0.25 720,339.87 0.43     

Total 335,582,597.94 100.00 166,448,063.98 100.00     

As of December 31, 2019, prepayments with an age of more than one year were mainly prepaid land transfer 
payments. Since the terms of delivery agreed in the land transfer agreement have not been reached, that is, the 
government has not completed the demolition work, the funds have not been carried forward.

(3) Accumulated advances to the five largest suppliers

Total accumulated advances to the five largest suppliers Amount % of total balance   

31 December 2019 207,797,685.53 61.92
31 December 2018 134,680,899.49 80.91   
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6. Other receivables

(1) Other receivables are classified as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Interest receivable 6,517,105.90 2,367,187.50
Other receivables 367,669,345.72 1,577,889,017.01   

Total 374,186,451.62 1,580,256,204.51   

(2) The aging of other receivables according to the recognition date is analyzed below:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 year 263,138,925.19 1,575,487,005.82
1 to 2 years 89,901,338.25 676,601.04
2 to 3 years 17,290,150.38 668,709.88
Over 3 years 3,856,037.80 3,423,887.77   

Total 374,186,451.62 1,580,256,204.51   

(3) The changes in the ending balance and provision for bad debts are as follows:

2019

The first stage
Expected credit loss over the 

next 12 months

The third stage
Financial assets for which credit 

impairment has occurred  

Item Ending balance
Provision 

for bad debts Ending balance
Provision 

for bad debts     

Beginning balance 1,580,256,204.51 – – –
Additions 712,202,822.38 – – –
Reduction 1,918,272,575.27 – – –
Ending balance 374,186,451.62 – – –     

2018

The first stage
Expected credit loss over the next 12 

months

The third stage
Financial assets for which credit 

impairment has occurred  

Item Ending balance
Provision for 

bad debts Ending balance
Provision for 

bad debts     

Beginning balance 41,691,364.33 – 14,115.84 –
Additions 3,131,143,411.79 – – 14,115.84
Reduction 1,592,578,571.61 – 14,115.84 14,115.84
Ending balance 1,580,256,204.51 – – –     
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6. Other receivables (continued)

(4) Classification of other receivables by nature:

Nature of payment 2019 2018   

Advances receivable 164,880,235.27 6,778,921.63
Deposits and guarantees 152,948,350.82 9,257,016.93
Account receivable due to cancellation of toll stations in Yanpai 

and Yanba sections 11,170,906.19 –
Receivable from Nanjing Economic Development Commission 10,000,000.00 –
Interest receivable 6,517,105.90 2,367,187.50
Employee advance loan 4,258,371.18 1,791,768.65
Administrative reserve 3,118,676.45 3,897,417.77
Taxes receivable due to government compensation income due to 

the expansion and expansion of Meiguan Company 2,441,247.40 2,442,470.58
Taxes and receivables related to three items – 932,672,618.97
Receivables reduced – 606,662,489.40
Others 18,851,558.41 14,386,313.08   

Total 374,186,451.62 1,580,256,204.51   

(5) The five largest other receivables are analysed as follows:

2019

Company name Nature 2019 Aging
% of 

total balance
Provision for 

bad debts      

Nanjing Ningfeng Energy Technology 
Co., Ltd. ("Nanjing Ningfeng")

Advances receivable
125,704,571.95 Within 3 year 33.59 –

Henan Senyuan Group Co., Ltd. Margin 80,000,000.00 Within 1 year 21.38 –
China Power Construction 

Corporation Jiangxi Electric Power 
Construction Co., Ltd.

Margin

41,200,000.00 Within 1 year 11.01 –
Ningxia Zhongwei Xintang New 

Energy Co., Ltd.
Margin and advances  

receivable 25,200,000.00 Within 1 year 6.73 –
Zhangshu Gaochuan New Energy 

Co., Ltd.
Advances receivable

24,524,497.74 Within 2 year 6.56 –      

Total / 296,629,069.69 / 79.27 –      
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6. Other receivables (continued)

(5) The five largest other receivables are analysed as follows: (continued)

2018

Company name Nature 2018 Aging
% of 

total balance
Provision for 

bad debts      

Shenzhen Transportation 
Bureau

The taxes for the Three 
Expressways borne by the 
government 932,672,618.97 Within 1 year 59.02 –

Shenzhen International Land 
Co., Ltd

Reduction of capital and other 
receivables 606,662,489.40 Within 1 year 38.39 –

Zhang Junyu, Pang Yanxi Deposit 3,700,000.00 Within 1 year 0.23 –
China United Property Insurance 

Co. Ltd
Insurance company claims 

receivable 2,591,805.00 Within 1 year 0.16 –
Tax Authorities The multi-junction tax of the 

government compensation 2,442,470.58 Within 2 year 0.15 –      

Total / 1,548,069,383.95 / 97.95 –      

7. Inventories

(1) Inventory classification

2018 2017  

Item
Carrying 
amount

Allowance for 
impairment

Net book 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Allowance for 
impairment

Net book 
amount       

Properties held for development (a) 167,000,061.05 – 167,000,061.05 115,302,984.60 – 115,302,984.60
Properties under development (b) 271,966,290.35 – 271,966,290.35 191,304,337.32 – 191,304,337.32
Properties held for sale (c) 63,146,328.73 – 63,146,328.73 277,051,859.65 – 277,051,859.65
Raw materials 205,092,765.90 – 205,092,765.90 – – –
Work in progress 1,246,570.01 – 1,246,570.01 – – –
Stock items 12,769,985.57 1,930,228.28 10,839,757.29 – – –
Toll tickets 2,856,506.53 – 2,856,506.53 4,103,579.38 – 4,103,579.38
Maintenance and repair parts 603,923.00 – 603,923.00 637,258.00 – 637,258.00
Low value consumables 530,960.56 – 530,960.56 539,179.88 – 539,179.88       

Total 725,213,391.70 1,930,228.28 723,283,163.42 588,939,198.83 –- 588,939,198.83       

(a) Properties held for development were the lands held by the Group located in Longli County to be developed, among which the lands held 
by Guizhou Shenzhen Expressway Land Co., Ltd. (Guizhou Land) were parts of the land planned to be developed under Phase IV to Phase 
V of “Interlaken Town Project”.
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7. Inventories (continued)

(1) Inventory classification (continued)

(b) Properties under development

Name of project Start time
Estimated 
completion date

The amount 
of estimated 

investment

Ending balance 
on 31 December 

2019

Opening balance 
on 1 January 

2019      
Phase II Stage II of “Interlaken Town Project” May 2018 April 2019 120,000,000.00 – 22,778,722.61
Phase III Stage I of “Interlaken Town Project” December 2018 October 2020 425,000,000.00 111,198,261.43 63,007,941.28
Public area December 2015 / / 160,768,028.92 105,517,673.43      
Total / / / 271,966,290.35 191,304,337.32      

(c) The property held for sale is the first stage of Phase I and the first stage of Phase II of Interlaken Town Project. The first Stage of Phase I 
achieved a completed area of 37,195.49 square meters in 2016, 37,195.49 square meters of the completed area were delivered. During 
the year, there was no delivery area and the remaining completed saleable area was 1,573.14 square meters. The second stage of Phase II 
achieved completion areas of 8,899.77 square meters during the current period. At the end of the current period, the sales were carried 
forward to 3,185.02 square meters, and the remaining completed saleable area was 5,714.75 square meters.

(2) The changes in the inventory depreciation reserve are as follows:

2019

Item Initial balance

Increase in 
business 

combinations 
not under 

common 
control

Accrued this 
year

Switch back 
this year

Write-off this 
year Ending balance       

Stock items – 1,930,228.28 – – – 1,930,228.28       

(3) Explanation of inventories year-end balance containing capitalization of borrowing costs:

During the year, the additional capitalized interest expense in the Group's inventories was RMB1,672,862.02, and 
the capitalization rate used to confirm the amount of capitalization was 4.75% (2018: RMB6,796,607.96, used to 
confirm the amount of capitalization was 4.75%).
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8. Contract assets

2019 2018  

Item Book balance
Provision 

for bad debt Book value Book balance
Provision 

for bad debt Book value       

Receivables from construction 
business 407,966,983.87 – 407,966,983.87 166,842,230.65 – 166,842,230.65

Receivable warranty (a) 43,736,000.00 810,430.00 42,925,570.00 – – –       

Total 451,702,983.87 810,430.00 450,892,553.87 166,842,230.65 – 166,842,230.65       

(a) During the year, the Group's warranty receivable amounted to RMB42,925,570.00, which is the warranty guarantee for wind turbine sales 
of Nanjing Wind Power.

The changes in the impairment of contract assets are as follows:

Beginning 
balance

Business 
combinations 

not under 
common 

control 
additions Additions Reversal

Cancellation 
after 

verification Ending balance       

2019 – 684,150.00 126,280.00 – – 810,430.00
2018 – – – – – –       

9. Current portion of non-current assets

Item 2019 2018   

Receivables from Longli BT Project (Note V.12(b)) 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19   

Total 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19   

10. Other current assets

Item 2019 2018   

Prepaid tax 13,771,786.56 41,310,337.24
Pending deduction of input value-added tax 217,782,246.95 22,844,804.46
Financial products – 200,000,000.00   

Total 231,554,033.51 264,155,141.70   

Financial product are the closed-end capital-saving and floating-income No. 2018573 products issued by the 
China Development Bank Shenzhen Branch purchased by Shenzhen Guangshen Coastal Expressway Investment 
Co., Ltd. (“Coastal Company”) in 2018. The upper limit of the annualized rate of return is 3.9%, and the period 
is from 23 October 2018 to 7 January 2019. It has expired this year, and there are no financial products on the 
books as of 31 December 2019.



220 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN (CONTINUED)

11. Long-term prepayments

Item 2019 2018   

Construction prepayments from the Shenzhen Outer Ring 
Expressway Investment Company Limited (Outer Ring 
Company) 272,936,643.91 367,160,992.89

Prepayments for resettlement 87,113,787.23 –   

Total 360,050,431.14 367,160,992.89   

On 31 December 2019, the Outer Ring Company had prepaid the construction funds for Baoan District and 
Longgang District in Outer Ring Expressway amounting to RMB272,936,643.91. And the Group's head office 
prepaid the engineering fee of RMB87,113,787.23 for the renovation and expansion of the machine. The 
prepayments will be settled according to the progress of the construction.

12. Long-term receivables

(1) General information:

Item

2019 2018

Range of 
discount rate

  

Carrying 
amount

Bad debt 
provision

Net book 
amount Carrying amount

Bad debt 
provision

Net book 
amount        

Due from Shenzhen-Shanwei Special 
Cooperation Zone Development 
and Construction Co., Ltd.(a) 159,360,103.10 159,360,103.10 156,473,492.73 156,473,492.73 – 156,473,492.73 –

Due from Guizhou Longli County 
Government in relation to the 
project management services 
provided to Longli BT Project (b) 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19 – 22,548,751.19 –

Electricity compensation income (c) 180,731,074.84 981,059.95 179,750,014.89 – – – 4.75%
Receivable on billboard quality 

deposits – – – 4,500,000.00 – 4,500,000.00 –        

Sub-total 362,639,929.13 981,059.95 361,658,869.18 183,522,243.92 – 183,522,243.92 –
Less: Current portion 22,548,751.19 – 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19 – 22,548,751.19 –        

Total 340,091,177.94 981,059.95 339,110,117.99 160,973,492.73 – 160,973,492.73 /        

(a) The company's subsidiary, Shenzhen-expressway (Shenzhen-Shantou Special Cooperation Zone) infrastructure and environmental 
protection development co., LTD. (“Shenzhen-Shantou Company”), shall receive the advance payment from Shenzhen-Shantou Special 
Cooperation Zone development and construction co., LTD. As of 31 December, 2019, the receivable balance of the company's first 
phase project of comprehensive treatment of Nanmen River system was RMB109,534,176.62.The receivables balance of Houmen Project 
is 109,534,176.62 yuan. The receivable balance of Houmen Project, Land Leveling and related supporting engineering projects is RM 
49,825,926.48.

(b) The Longli BT project entrusted to Guishen Company was completed at the end of 2014. As of 31 December 2019, accounts receivable 
due from the Longli BT project amounted to RMB22,548,751.19 (2018: RMB22,548,751.19)

(c) As of December 31 2019, the balance of subsidy income for electricity charges receivable of Baotou Southern Wind in this year is 
RMB179,750,014.89 yuan,with a discount rate of 4.75%.
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12. Long-term receivables (continued)

(2) The changes in the ending balance and provision for bad debts are as follows:

2019

The first stage
Expected credit loss over 

the next 12 months 

Item Ending balance
Provision for

bad debt   

Beginning balance 160,973,492.73 –
Additions 19,627,986.82 252,529.92
Additions of the business combinations not under common 

control 163,989,698.39 728,530.03
Reduction 4,500,000.00 –
Ending balance 340,091,177.94 981,059.95   

2018

The first stage
Expected credit loss over 

the next 12 months 

Item Ending balance
Provision for 

bad debt   

Beginning balance 148,506,567.52 –
Additions 24,486,158.08 –
Reduction 12,019,232.87 –
Ending balance 160,973,492.73 –   

13. Other non-current financial assets

Item 2019 2018   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   
Guangdong United Electronic Services Co., Ltd. ("United 

Electronics") 114,814,080.00 103,998,820.00
Shenzhen Water Planning and Design Institute Co., Ltd. ("Water 

Regulation Institute") equity 103,125,000.00 76,440,000.00   

Total 217,939,080.00 180,438,820.00   

During the year, gains from changes in fair value of those equity investments amounted to RMB37,500,260.00 
(2018: gains of RMB17,928,820.00), please refer to Note V.52.
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V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Long-term equity investments

2019

Investee 2018

Current year movements

2019

Share- holding 

(%)

Impairment 

provided during 

the year

 

Current year 

additions Reduction

Investment 

income/loss 

recognized 

under equity 

pick-up method

Cash dividend 

declared

Investment cost 

refunded Others           

Associates

Guangdong Jiangzhong 

Expressway Company Limited 

(“Jiangzhong Company”) 315,321,289.79 – – 19,491,390.53 -19,491,390.53 -3,539,309.29 – 311,781,980.50 25 –

Nanjing Yangtze River Third 

Bridge Company Limited 

(“Nanjing Third Bridge 

Company”) 336,657,796.18 – – 53,683,206.87 -53,683,206.87 -11,671,414.88 – 324,986,381.30 25 –

Guangdong Yangmao Expressway 

Company Limited (“Yangmao 

Company”) 383,837,714.75 108,750,000.00 – 44,343,401.49 -44,343,401.49 -63,944,846.23 – 428,642,868.52 25 –

Guangzhou Western Second Ring 

Expressway Company Limited 

(“GZ W2 Company”) 289,747,039.65 – – 59,515,308.40 -52,349,212.60 – – 296,913,135.45 25 –

Yunfu Guangyun Expressway 

Company Limited (“Guangyun 

Company”) 68,925,398.16 – – 34,578,929.22 -2,632,365.80 – – 100,871,961.58 30 –

Shenzhen International United 

Land Company Limited 

(“United Land Company”) (1) 1,014,607,875.06 – – 354,869,950.44 – – 22,091,980.80 1,391,569,806.30 34.30 –

Chongqing Derun Environment 

Co., Limited (“Derun 

Environment”) (3) 4,411,573,102.56 – – 193,467,531.92 -116,000,000.00 – 36,015,624.47 4,525,056,258.95 20 –

Others (2) 1,038,438,281.47 171,044,470.10 139,734,581.52 -9,818,750.96 -11,756,249.04 -1,175,383.96 1,326,466,949.13 / –           

Total 7,859,108,497.62 279,794,470.10 – 899,684,300.39 -298,318,328.25 -90,911,819.44 56,932,221.31 8,706,289,341.73 / –           
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14. Long-term equity investments (continued)

2018

Investee 2017

Current year movements

2018

Share- holding 

(%)

Impairment 

provided during 

the year

 

Current year 

additions Reduction

Investment 

income/loss 

recognized under 

equity pick-up 

method

Cash dividend 

declared

Investment cost 

refunded Others           

 

Associates           

Jiangzhong Company 307,302,158.66 – – 24,658,956.25 -16,639,825.12 – – 315,321,289.79 25 –

Nanjing Third Bridge Company 286,316,237.75 – – 50,341,558.43 – – – 336,657,796.18 25 –

Yangmao Company 337,426,224.67 57,500,000.00 – 85,788,247.72 -85,788,247.72 -11,088,509.92 – 383,837,714.75 25 –

GZ W2 Company 254,647,119.35 – – 57,397,107.70 -22,297,187.40 – – 289,747,039.65 25 –

Guangyun Company 74,884,552.95 – – 37,192,737.78 -37,192,737.78 -5,959,154.79 – 68,925,398.16 30 –

United Land Company(1) 2,445,154,415.03 – -2,205,000,000.00 -5,716,308.49 – – 780,169,768.52 1,014,607,875.05 34.30 –

Derun Environment (3) 4,410,925,451.75 – – 162,111,686.88 -146,400,000.00 – -15,064,036.07 4,411,573,102.56 20 –

Others (2) 947,596,120.75 109,182,402.22 -39,745,000.00 21,404,758.50 1,038,438,281.47 /           

Total 9,064,252,280.91 57,500,000.00 -2,205,000,000.00 520,956,388.49 -348,062,998.02 -17,047,664.71 786,510,490.95 7,859,108,497.62 / –           

(1) The Company holds a 34.3% equity interest in United Land, which has a significant impact on its important financial and production and 
operation decisions. Therefore, the Company uses the equity method to account for this long-term equity investment. During the year, 
according to the sold ratio of the United Landmark Meilinguan Urban Renewal Project of 15.85%, the unrealized internal transaction 
gains and losses offset by previous years were reversed to RMB22,091,980.80. For details, please refer to Note V. 51 (a)

(2) Others include the Company's affiliated company Shenzhen Expressway Engineering Consulting co., LTD. (" Consulting Company "), 
Shenzhen Huayu Expressway Investment co., LTD. (" Huayu Company "), Guizhou Hengtongli Property co., LTD. (" Guizhou Hengtongli "), 
and Guizhou Bank co., LTD. (" Guizhou Bank ").

(3) Due to the change of other comprehensive income of Derun environment in this year, the Group confirmed the increase of other 
comprehensive income of RMB34,331,355.67 according to the shareholding ratio, and confirmed the increase of RMB1,684,268.80 
according to the shareholding ratio due to the change of derun environment's capital reserve.

(4) The percentage of ownership interest of the associated enterprise held is the same as the percentage of its voting power.
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15. Investment properties

Subsequently measured at cost: 

Item 2019 2018   

1. Cost   
Balance at 1 January 18,180,000.00 18,180,000.00
Balance at 31 December 18,180,000.00 18,180,000.00

2. Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 5,805,116.40 5,229,275.00
Current period additions 575,942.40 575,841.40
– Addition 575,942.40 575,841.40
Balance 31 December 6,381,058.80 5,805,116.40

3. Carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 11,798,941.20 12,374,883.60
Balance at 31 December 12,374,883.60 12,950,725.00   

The investment property is a parking space in the parking lot of jiangsu building, the office building of the 
company, and the property company is entrusted to rent it to the relevant car owners.

* The Group’s investment properties are all located in the mainland of China and held under medium term leases.

On 31 December 2019, the investment without the certificate of ownership is listed as follows:

Carrying amount
Reason for not yet obtaining the 
certificate of ownership   

The parking lot beneath the Jiangsu Building 11,798,941.20 All the certificates of ownership of 
the parking lots in Shenzhen are not 
available
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16. Fixed assets

(1) Fixed asset movements

2019

Item Buildings
Traffic 

equipment Motor vehicles
Office and 

other equipment
Mechanical 
equipment Total       

1. Cost       
31 December 2018 633,055,713.66 1,020,537,484.54 31,226,582.54 50,564,688.61 – 1,735,384,469.35
Current year additions 3,386,035.46 445,826,822.96 3,701,235.46 10,727,458.99 1,686,905,817.02 2,150,547,369.89

– Purchase 2,369,806.13 90,113,211.66 2,965,268.20 9,576,148.22 13,326,416.87 118,350,851.08
– Construction in progress 1,016,229.33 355,453,553.66 – – – 356,469,782.99
– Acquisition of subsidiaries – 260,057.64 735,967.26 1,151,310.77 345,726,339.03 347,873,674.70

Transfer of right-of-use assets – – – – 1,327,853,061.12 1,327,853,061.12
Current year reductions 16,381,450.50 10,308,473.21 4,528,296.45 4,303,171.64 – 35,521,391.80

– Disposals 16,381,450.50 10,308,473.21 4,528,296.45 4,303,171.64 – 35,521,391.80       

31 December 2019 620,060,298.62 1,456,055,834.29 30,399,521.55 56,988,975.96 1,686,905,817.02 3,850,410,447.44       

2. Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2018 202,159,528.15 642,541,768.63 22,899,553.18 27,705,218.11 – 895,306,068.07
Current year additions 30,360,958.55 83,948,530.79 4,338,013.85 6,913,062.09 25,841,191.50 151,401,756.78

– Addition 30,360,958.55 83,948,530.79 4,338,013.85 6,913,062.09 19,279,782.95 144,840,348.23
Transfer of right-of-use assets – – – – 6,561,408.55 6,561,408.55
Current year reductions 12,361,034.08 8,232,077.73 4,289,266.78 3,785,578.71 – 28,667,957.30

– Disposals 12,361,034.08 8,232,077.73 4,289,266.78 3,785,578.71 – 28,667,957.30       

31 December 2019 220,159,452.62 718,258,221.69 22,948,300.25 30,832,701.49 25,841,191.50 1,018,039,867.55       

3. Net book value
31 December 2019 399,900,846.00 737,797,612.60 7,451,221.30 26,156,274.47 1,661,064,625.52 2,832,370,579.89
31 December 2018 430,896,185.51 377,995,715.91 8,327,029.36 22,859,470.50 – 840,078,401.28       
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16. Fixed assets (continued)

(1) Fixed asset movements (continued)

2018

Item Buildings Traffic equipment Motor vehicles
Office and 

other equipment Total      

1. Cost
31 December 2017 882,607,957.15 1,513,595,621.98 31,281,453.96 57,899,811.93 2,485,384,845.02
Current year additions 3,283,091.21 84,819,791.68 4,149,975.80 6,509,600.49 98,762,459.18

– Purchase 3,073,657.24 54,069,843.16 4,149,975.80 6,131,903.49 67,425,379.69
– Construction in progress 209,433.97 30,749,948.52 – 377,697.00 31,337,079.49

Current year reductions 252,835,334.70 577,877,929.12 4,204,847.22 13,844,723.81 848,762,834.85
– Disposals 252,835,334.70 577,877,929.12 4,204,847.22 13,844,723.81 848,762,834.85      

31 December 2018 633,055,713.66 1,020,537,484.55 31,226,582.54 50,564,688.61 1,735,384,469.35      

2. Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2017 283,145,800.71 987,437,691.77 23,844,912.29 33,821,171.48 1,328,249,576.25
Current year additions 38,078,448.28 110,613,183.80 3,038,610.19 6,606,298.52 158,336,540.79

– Addition 38,078,448.28 110,613,183.80 3,038,610.19 6,606,298.52 158,336,540.79
Current year reductions 119,064,720.84 455,509,106.94 3,983,969.30 12,722,251.89 591,280,048.97

– Disposals 119,064,720.84 455,509,106.94 3,983,969.30 12,722,251.89 591,280,048.97      

31 December 2018 202,159,528.15 642,541,768.64 22,899,553.18 27,705,218.11 895,306,068.08      

3. Net book value
31 December 2018 430,896,185.51 377,995,715.91 8,327,029.36 22,859,470.50 840,078,401.28
31 December 2017 599,462,156.44 526,157,930.21 7,436,541.67 24,078,640.45 1,157,135,268.77      

(2) Fixed assets without certificates of ownership

On 31 December 2019, the fixed assets without the certificates of ownership were listed as follows:

Item Carrying amount Reason for lacking certificates of ownership   

Buildings 297,839,214.40 As all toll roads and the affiliated buildings and structures would be 
returned to the government when the approved operating periods expire, 
the Group has no intention to acquire the related property ownership 
certificates.

During the year, depreciation expenses amounting to RMB138,876,434.52 were charged to cost of services (2018: 
RMB152,789,410.27), and depreciation expenses amounting to RMB5,963,913.71 were charged to general and 
administrative expenses (2018: RMB5,509,693.25).
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17. Construction in progress

(1) General information of construction in progress

2019 2018  

Item
Carrying
 amount Impairment

Net book 
amount

Carrying
 amount Impairment

Net book
 amount       

Increase ETC lane project 6,466,074.25 – 6,466,074.25 964,412.87 – 964,412.87
First-class weighting equipment 

project 2,085,479.05 – 2,085,479.05 5,383,423.19 – 5,383,423.19
Toll station expansion project 1,142,383.00 – 1,142,383.00 9,311,802.25 – 9,311,802.25
BTC system project 734,080.00 – 734,080.00 695,250.00 – 695,250.00
Video monitoring project – – – 6,672,530.60 – 6,672,530.60
Fire control system updating 

project 183,000.00 – 183,000.00 2,254,576.14 – 2,254,576.14
Billboard and light box projects 23,386.32 – 23,386.32 463,594.09 – 463,594.09
Others 4,563,193.04 4,563,193.04 5,518,461.60 – 5,518,461.60       

Total 15,197,595.66 – 15,197,595.66 31,264,050.74 – 31,264,050.74       

(2) Movements of significant construction in progress during the year

2019

Item
Budget 

amount 2019
Current year 

additions
Transfer to 

fixed assets

Transfer to 
intangible 

assets

Other 
reductions in 
current year 2019

The 
proportion 

of the 
current year 
additions to 
total budget 

(%)
Progress of 

construction
Interest 

capitalized Source of funds            
Increase ETC lane project 59 million 964,412.87 5,680,457.38 178,796.00 – – 6,466,074.25 9.63% In progress – Self-owned funds

First-class weighting equipment 

project 9.58 million 5,383,423.19 4,138,031.00 7,435,975.14 – – 2,085,479.05 43.19% In progress – Self-owned funds

Fee system software upgrade 15 million 2,254,576.14 1,278,327.68 3,349,903.82 – – 183,000.00 8.52% In progress – Self-owned funds

Toll station expansion project 25 million 9,311,802.25 1,211,227.20 388,844.20 8,177,668.25 814,134.00 1,142,383.00 4.84% In progress – Self-owned funds

BTC system project 1.2 million 695,250.00 163,775.00 124,945.00 – – 734,080.00 13.65% In progress – Self-owned funds

Billboard and light box projects 10 million 463,594.09 23,386.32 463,594.09 – – 23,386.32 0.23% In progress – Self-owned funds

Cancellation of the provincial toll 

station 334 million – 333,636,338.64 333,636,338.64 – – – 100% Completed – Self-owned funds

Video monitoring project 6.67 million 6,672,530.60 – 6,672,530.60 – – – 100% Completed – Self-owned funds

Others (a) – 5,518,461.60 3,275,469.94 4,218,855.50 – 11,883.00 4,563,193.04 – In progress – Self-owned funds            

Total / 31,264,050.74 349,407,013.16 356,469,782.99 8,177,668.25 826,017.00 15,197,595.66 / / /            
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17. Construction in progress (continued)

(2) Movements of significant construction in progress during the year (continued)

2018

Item
Budget 
amount 2017

Current year 
additions

Transfer to 
fixed assets

Transfer to 
intangible 

assets

Other 
reductions in 
current year 2018

The 
proportion of 

the current 
year additions 

to total 
budget (%)

Progress of 
construction

Interest 
capitalized Source of funds            

Nation-wide ETC toll interconnection 
project 59 million 266,000.00 4,517,838.29 3,819,425.42 – – 964,412.87 7.64 In progress – Self-owned funds

Billboard and light box projects 10 million 670,830.18 2,197.88 104,716.98 – 104,716.99 463,594.09 0.02 In progress – Self-owned funds

Maintenance planning research 

and basic database construction 

project for the maintenance of the 

information platform construction 

project 2.56 million 1,743,754.46 – – – 1,743,754.46 – – Completed – Self-owned funds

Toll station expansion project 25 million 7,731,870.05 6,531,825.20 3,675,127.00 – 1,276,766.00 9,311,802.25 26.41 In progress – Self-owned funds

First-class weighting equipment 

project 9.58 million 4,921,937.80 3,524,052.55 3,062,567.16 – – 5,383,423.19 36.77 In progress – Self-owned funds

Fire control system updating project 4.03 million 2,040,276.84 17,140.00 2,057,416.84 – – – 0.43 Completed – Self-owned funds

Toll station weighting equipment 

movement projects 2.1 million 1,705,350.22 – 1,634,845.22 – 70,505.00 – – Completed – Self-owned funds

Video monitoring project 17 million 7,695,323.28 10,716,226.33 11,739,019.01 – – 6,672,530.60 61.32 In progress – Self-owned funds

Tailing engineering 73 million 3,869,546.31 5,635,490.63 – 9,505,036.94 – – 7.75 Completed – Self-owned funds

Fee system software upgrade 15 million – 2,254,576.14 – – – 2,254,576.14 14.99 In progress – Self-owned funds

BTC system project 1.2 million – 695,250.00 – – – 695,250.00 57.94 In progress – Self-owned funds

Others (a) – 5,178,306.64 7,063,326.28 5,243,961.86 1,459,213.49 19,995.97 5,518,461.60 – In progress – Self-owned funds            

Total / 35,823,195.78 40,957,923.30 31,337,079.49 10,964,250.43 3,215,738.42 31,264,050.74 / / / /            

(a) The amounts of projects were not disclosed separately as they are not material.
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18. Right-of-use assets

2019

Item Buildings Billboard Wind field Total     

1. Cost
31 December 2018 – – – –
Changes in accounting policies 107,254,807.99 25,661,801.99 – 132,916,609.98
Initial balance 107,254,807.99 25,661,801.99 – 132,916,609.98
Current year additions 54,268,277.46 – 1,327,853,061.12 1,382,121,338.58

– Addition 54,268,277.46 – – 54,268,277.46
– Combination not under common 

control – – 1,327,853,061.12 1,327,853,061.12
Current year reductions – – 1,327,853,061.12 1,327,853,061.12

– Current year transfer to fixed assets – – 1,327,853,061.12 1,327,853,061.12
31 December 2019 161,523,085.45 25,661,801.99 – 187,184,887.44     

2. Accumulated depreciation
Current year additions 28,849,860.59 5,464,646.39 6,561,408.55 40,875,915.53

– Addition 28,849,860.59 5,464,646.39 6,561,408.55 40,875,915.53
Current year reductions – – 6,561,408.55 6,561,408.55

– Current year transfer to fixed assets – – 6,561,408.55 6,561,408.55
31 December 2019 28,849,860.59 5,464,646.39 – 34,314,506.98     

3. Net book value
31 December 2019 132,673,224.86 20,197,155.60 – 152,870,380.46
31 December 2018 – – – –     
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19. Intangible assets

2019

Item

Concession 
intangible 
assets (a)

Software 
and others

Billboard land 
use rights Land use right€ Patent(e) Total       

1. Cost       
31 December 2018 34,532,766,806.91 13,549,554.76 63,075,736.39 – 34,609,392,098.06
Current year additions 1,675,661,600.32 7,752,095.24 – 52,741,993.14 79,810,700.00 1,815,966,388.70

– Purchased 43,127,536.44 5,101,189.10 – – – 48,228,725.54
– From construction in progress 8,177,668.25 – – – – 8,177,668.25
– Constructions 1,624,356,395.63 – – – – 1,624,356,395.63
– Combination not under 

common control – 2,650,906.14 – 52,741,993.14 79,810,700.00 135,203,599.28
Current year reductions 9,973,647.00 – – – – 9,973,647.00

– Other reduction 9,973,647.00 – – – – 9,973,647.00
31 December 2019 36,198,454,760.23 21,301,650.00 63,075,736.39 52,741,993.14 79,810,700.00 36,415,384,839.76       

2. Accumulated amortization
31 December 2018 7,685,608,539.71 9,545,558.54 59,769,216.25 – – 7,754,923,314.50
Current year additions 1,346,629,444.04 1,917,423.44 1,034,832.33 953,476.96 5,985,802.50 1,356,520,979.27

– Additions 1,346,629,444.04 1,917,423.44 1,034,832.33 953,476.96 5,985,802.50 1,356,520,979.27
31 December 2019 9,032,237,983.75 11,462,981.98 60,804,048.58 953,476.96 5,985,802.50 9,111,444,293.77       

3. Impairment
31 December 2018 3,258,235,294.61 – – – – 3,258,235,294.61
Current year additions 552,000,000.00 – – – – 552,000,000.00
31 December 2019 3,810,235,294.61 – – – – 3,810,235,294.61       

4. Net book value
31 December 2019 23,355,981,481.87 9,838,668.02 2,271,687.81 51,788,516.18 73,824,897.50 23,493,705,251.38
31 December 2018 23,588,922,972.59 4,003,996.22 3,306,520.14 – – 23,596,233,488.95       
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19. Intangible assets (continued)

2018

Item
Concession 

intangible assets (a)
Software 

and others
Billboard

land use rights Total     

1. Cost
31 December 2017 38,462,465,396.52 16,308,069.85 62,311,555.28 38,541,085,021.65
Current year additions 1,047,584,230.03 1,969,017.09 764,181.11 1,050,317,428.23

– Purchased – 1,969,017.09 – 1,969,017.09
– Constructions 1,031,457,349.37 – 764,181.11 1,032,221,530.48
– Other additions 16,126,880.66 – – 16,126,880.66

Current year reductions 4,977,282,819.64 4,727,532.18 – 4,982,010,351.82
– Disposal 4,940,354,858.86 4,727,532.18 – 4,945,082,391.04
– Other reduction 36,927,960.78 – – 36,927,960.78

31 December 2018 34,532,766,806.91 13,549,554.76 63,075,736.39 34,609,392,098.06     

2. Accumulated amortization
31 December 2017 7,754,009,955.65 11,173,014.08 53,684,488.40 7,818,867,458.13
Current year additions 1,474,838,768.83 2,584,489.97 6,084,727.85 1,483,507,986.65
– Additions 1,474,838,768.83 2,584,489.97 6,084,727.85 1,483,507,986.65
Current year reductions 1,543,240,184.77 4,211,945.51 – 1,547,452,130.28
– Disposal 1,543,240,184.77 4,211,945.51 – 1,547,452,130.28
31 December 2018 7,685,608,539.71 9,545,558.54 59,769,216.25 7,754,923,314.50     

3. Impairment
31 December 2017 3,258,235,294.61 – – 3,258,235,294.61
31 December 2018 3,258,235,294.61 – – 3,258,235,294.61     

4. Net book value
31 December 2018 23,588,922,972.59 4,003,996.22 3,306,520.14 23,596,233,488.95
31 December 2017 27,450,220,146.26 5,135,055.77 8,627,066.88 27,463,982,268.91     

As of 31 December 2019, 19. Intangible assets without the certificates of ownership were listed as follows:

Item Net book value
Reason for lacking 
certificates of ownership   

Land use right of Baiyun wind power project 17,259,908.82 In progress
Land use right of Damaoqi wind power project 12,279,286.87 In progress   

Total 29,539,195.69   
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19. Intangible assets (continued)

(a) The detailed information of concession intangible assets is analysed below:

2019

Cost

31 December

 2018

Current year 

additions

Current year 

reductions

Current year 

amortization

Current year 

amortization 

transfer out

31 December 

2019

Accumulated 

amortization Impairment          

Qinglian Expressway (b) 9,288,957,970.39 6,748,322,028.50 8,177,668.25 9,973,647.00 297,200,871.04 – 6,449,325,178.71 2,219,632,791.68 620,000,000.00

Shenzhen Airport-Heao  

Expressway – Eastern Section 3,086,787,505.32 1,358,244,757.07 – – 194,731,527.99 – 1,163,513,229.08 1,923,274,276.24 –

Shuiguan Expressway (g) 4,448,811,774.58 3,410,481,252.11 – – 348,179,509.42 552,000,000.00 2,510,301,742.69 1,386,510,031.89 552,000,000.00

Wuhuang Expressway 1,523,192,561.64 347,707,901.88 – – 95,130,817.38 – 252,577,084.50 1,270,615,477.14 –

Meiguan Expressway 604,588,701.64 256,852,212.06 – – 31,258,206.91 – 225,594,005.15 378,994,696.49 –

Shenzhen Airport-Heao  

Expressway – Western Section 843,517,682.25 251,736,510.04 – – 37,131,694.67 – 214,604,815.37 628,912,866.88 –

Outer Ring Expressway (b) 3,409,706,840.88 1,947,057,863.50 1,462,648,977.38 – – – 3,409,706,840.88 – –

Yichang Expressway (b) 3,123,065,164.24 2,889,552,387.26 – – 143,836,039.97 – 2,745,716,347.29 377,348,816.95 –

Changsha Ring Road 284,957,909.37 205,589,616.50 43,127,536.44 – 18,586,823.16 – 230,130,329.78 54,827,579.59 –

Coastal Expressway (b) 9,584,868,649.92 6,173,378,443.67 161,707,418.25 – 180,573,953.50 – 6,154,511,908.42 792,121,446.89 2,638,235,294.61          

Total 36,198,454,760.23 23,588,922,972.59 1,675,661,600.32 9,973,647.00 1,346,629,444.04 552,000,000.00 23,355,981,481.87 9,032,237,983.75 3,810,235,294.61          

2018

Cost

31 December 

2017

Current year 

additions

Current year 

reductions

Current year 

amortization

Current year 

amortization 

transfer out

31 December 

2018

Accumulated 

amortization Impairment          

Qinglian Expressway (b) 9,290,753,949.14 6,981,982,455.22 10,964,250.43 1,200,000.00 243,424,677.15 – 6,748,322,028.50 1,922,431,920.64 620,000,000.00

Nanguang Expressway (c) – 2,246,769,553.45 – 2,807,909,473.41 78,036,897.46 639,176,817.42 – – –

Shenzhen Airport-Heao  

Expressway – Eastern Section 3,086,787,505.32 1,573,896,458.74 – – 215,651,701.67 – 1,358,244,757.07 1,728,542,748.25 –

Shuiguan Expressway (b) 4,448,811,774.58 3,747,150,068.38 – – 336,668,816.27 – 3,410,481,252.11 1,038,330,522.47 –

Yanba Expressway (c) – 849,062,065.24 – 1,255,412,727.61 39,301,813.75 445,652,476.12 – – –

Wuhuang Expressway 1,523,192,561.64 468,045,326.57 – – 120,337,424.69 – 347,707,901.88 1,175,484,659.76 –

Meiguan Expressway 604,588,701.64 295,900,042.29 – – 39,047,830.23 – 256,852,212.06 347,736,489.58 –

Yanpai Expressway (c) – 488,218,744.61 – 910,532,308.18 36,097,327.66 458,410,891.23 – – –

Shenzhen Airport-Heao  

Expressway – Western Section 843,517,682.25 296,195,206.74 – – 44,458,696.70 – 251,736,510.04 591,781,172.21 –

Outer Ring Expressway (b) 1,947,057,863.50 926,564,764.56 1,020,493,098.94 – – – 1,947,057,863.50 – –

Yichang Expressway (b) 3,123,065,164.24 3,040,424,917.48 – 2,228,310.44 148,644,219.78 – 2,889,552,387.26 233,512,776.98 –

Changsha Ring Road 241,830,372.93 225,143,413.87 – – 19,553,797.37 – 205,589,616.50 36,240,756.43 –

Coastal Expressway (b)/(e) 9,423,161,231.67 6,310,867,129.11 16,126,880.66 – 153,615,566.10 – 6,173,378,443.67 611,547,493.39 2,638,235,294.61          

Total 34,532,766,806.91 27,450,220,146.26 1,047,584,230.03 4,977,282,819.64 1,474,838,768.83 1,543,240,184.77 23,588,922,972.59 7,685,608,539.71 3,258,235,294.61          
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19. Intangible assets (continued)

(b) The pledge information relating to the concession intangible assets of Qinglian Expressway, Outer Ring 
Expressway, Yichang Expressway and Coastal Expressway is set out in in Note V.32(1)(b) and Note V.60

(c) The Company transferred the second-stage rights of Nanguang Expressway, Yanba Expressway and Yanpai 
Expressway to Shenzhen Transportation Bureau at the end of 2018. For details, please refer to Note V.39(a).

(d) Fo r  the  yea r  ended 31 December  2019,  the  amount  o f  amor t i z a t i on  o f  i n t ang ib l e  a s se t s  was 
RMB1,356,520,979.27 (2018: RMB1,483,507,986.65).

(e) During the year of 2019，there were two companies combined not under common control result in increasing 
of RMB52,741,993.14 land use right, RMB79,810,700.00 patent and RMB2,650,906.14 software and others. For 
details, please refer to Note VI.1

(f) During the year, the Group capitalized borrowing costs on intangible assets amounting to RMB131,935,775.82 
(2018: RMB63,032,385.80).

(g) During the year of 2019, the Group the amount of impairment of Shuiguan Expressway recognized was 
RMB552,000,000.00.

* The land use rights of the Group are located in Mainland China, but the expressway is in the form of concession intangible assets.
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20. Goodwill

2018
Current year 

additions
Current year

 reductions 2019    

Item
Business combinations 

not under common control     

Nanjing Wind Power – 156,039,775.24 – 156,039,775.24     

The Group acquired Nanjing Wind Power in April 2019, and the goodwill generated was RMB156,039,775.24. 
Please refer to note VI. 1 for the calculation process.

Goodwill from the merger has been allocated to the following asset groups for impairment testing:

• Fan manufacturing asset group

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the asset group as follows:

Fan manufacturing asset group

Item 31 December,2019 31 December,2018   

Carrying amount 156,039,775.24 –   

The recoverable amount is based on the present value of the projected future cash flow and the pre-tax discount 
rate used in the cash flow forecast is 13.97%, based on the cash flow forecast based on the five-year budget 
approved by management.

Key assumptions made by management in determining the cash flow forecast for the goodwill impairment test 
are described below:

Budget margin The basis is to increase the average gross profit margin based on the average gross profit 
margin realized in the year prior to the budget year based on the expected improvement in 
efficiency.

Discount rate The discount rate used is the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the specific risk of the 
relevant asset group or asset group combination.

The amounts assigned to the asset group or combination of the key assumptions are consistent with the Group's 
historical experience and external information.
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21. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

(1) Deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

2019 2018  

Item

Deductible 
temporary 

differences
Deferred 

tax assets

Deductible 
temporary 

differences
Deferred 

tax assets     
Impairment and amortization differences of 

intangible assets of Yanjiang Expressway (a) 1,140,350,272.00 285,087,568.00 – –
Deductible losses of Yanjiang Expressway (a) 571,400,876.52 142,850,219.13 – –
Operating compensation of a newly built toll 

station of Three Expressways (b) 291,504,931.36 72,876,232.84 312,144,931.35 78,036,232.84
Fair value adjustment of the merged 

Shenchang company (c) 183,059,248.59 45,764,812.15 201,289,764.53 50,322,441.13
Payroll accrued but not paid 101,216,999.16 25,304,249.79 32,879,467.40 8,219,866.85
Property compensation of Meiguan (d) 98,885,805.48 24,721,451.37 117,511,628.52 29,377,907.13
Operating compensation of newly built gates 

of Meiguan Expressway (e) 94,832,847.16 23,708,211.79 107,913,239.80 26,978,309.95
Amortization of franchise intangible assets (f) 50,465,440.16 12,616,360.04 – –
Freight subsidies along Yanjiang Expressway (g) 25,232,071.76 6,308,017.94 – –
The significant financing component of 

Guizhou Land’s advance payment (h) 24,133,322.64 6,033,330.66 17,370,317.88 4,342,579.47
Interest receivable from United Land 

Company’s capital reduction (i) 20,052,445.24 5,013,111.31 23,518,603.00 5,879,650.75
Guizhou Land’s advance payment of prepaid 

income tax (j) 10,993,400.64 2,748,350.16 18,982,478.60 4,745,619.65
Nanjing Wind Power’’s accrued maintenance 

service deposit 13,783,960.66 2,067,594.10 – –
Compensation for demolition costs of an old 

toll station of Three Expressways (k) 6,413,246.28 1,603,311.57 18,209,415.88 4,552,353.97
Others 6,462,338.09 1,158,280.53 2,582,357.12 645,589.28     
Total 2,638,787,205.74 657,861,101.38 852,402,204.08 213,100,551.02     
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21. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

(1) Deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances (continued)

(a) In order to improve the financial status of Coastal Company, in Apri l 2019, the Company completed a capital increase of 
RMB4,100,000,000.00 in Coastal Company. According to the future profitability of Coastal Company, the impairment of its intangible 
assets, the cumulative amortization tax difference and the previous year losses can be partially offset. Losses were recognized as deferred 
income tax assets of RMB308,514,392.46 and the impairment of its intangible assets and the cumulative amortization tax difference were 
recognized as deferred income tax assets of RMB142,850,219.13元. The deferred income tax assets of RMB23,426,824.46 were carried 
forward during the year.

(b) The Company received a prepayment from the Shenzhen Government for the arrangement of compensation for the toll adjustment and 
asset transfer agreement of the Three Expressways, and recognized the differences between the tax base and book value as deferred tax 
assets.

(c) When the Company acquired Shenchang Company and confirmed the fair value of its identifiable assets and liabilities, it recognized the 
corresponding deferred tax assets for the temporary difference between the tax base and the book value.

(d) Meiguan, a subsidiary of the Company, recognized non-current assets and gains from asset disposal on future relocation properties 
compensated by United Land Company. Considering the impact of the unrealized profits of associates, the Group has confirmed the 
corresponding deferred income tax assets on the temporary difference between the tax base of the recognized asset disposal gains and 
the book value difference. This year, the deferred income tax asset corresponding to the realized profit portion was transferred back 
according to the proportion of properties sold by United Land Company..

(e) In 2015, the Group received a prepayment from the Shenzhen Government for compensation for the toll adjustment of Meiguan 
Expressway, and recognized the differences between the tax base and book value as deferred tax assets.

(f) The tax deduction for the amortization of highway assets after 2011 was changed to the straight-line method this year. Temporary 
differences are recognized as deferred income tax assets for temporary differences between the book value and the tax basis differences 
of the franchise intangible assets of the Jihedong section, Jihexi section and the Meiguan Expressway.

(g) On 28 February, 2018, Coastal Company and Shenzhen Communications Bureau signed an agreement on freight compensation for the 
Shenzhen section of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen Expressway along the Zhujiang River. The agreement stipulated that during the adjustment 
of freight charges for the Shenzhen section of the Yanjiang Expressway, 50% of the tolls will be charged for passing trucks. Tolls and 
freight charges will be adjusted from 00:00 on 1 March, 2018 to 24:00 on 31 December, 2020. The Group recognizes deferred income 
tax assets on temporary differences in the book value and tax base of freight subsidy income.

(h) According to “ASBE No.14 – Revenue”, Guizhou Land recognized the impact of the financing component and accrued the interest 
expense on the contract between the customer's payment and the promised transfer of ownership of the property or service for more 
than one year, and the deferred income tax asset was recognized accordingly.

(i) During the year, United Land Company, an associated company of the Company capitalized the interest of the capital reduction of the 
headquarters. Considering the impact of the unrealized profits of the associates, the Company recognized the corresponding deferred 
income tax assets based on its shareholding ratio of 34.30% formed by the difference between the tax base and the book value.

(j) According to the requirements of Guo Shui Fa [2009] No. 31, Guizhou Land pre-paid income tax on the estimated gross profit calculated 
based on the estimated tax rate of advances from sales of unfinished development products, and recognized the differences between the 
tax bases and book values as deferred tax assets.

(k) The Company advanced demolition costs of all old toll station for the arrangement of compensation for the toll adjustment and asset 
transfer agreement of the Three Expressways, and recognized the differences between the tax base and book value as deferred tax assets. 
Due to the payment of RMB11,796,169.63 for the demolition of the old toll station this year, the corresponding deferred income tax assets 
of RMB2,949,042.40 were reversed accordingly.
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21. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

(2) Deferred tax liabilities without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

2019 2018  

Item

Taxable 
temporary 

differences
Deferred tax 

liabilities

Taxable 
temporary 

differences
Deferred tax 

liabilities     
The amortisation of concession intangible 

assets (a) 483,447,613.04 120,861,903.26 512,270,677.60 128,067,669.40
Business combinations involving enterprises 

not under common control (b)
– Qinglong Company 1,540,183,175.01 385,045,793.76 2,335,732,937.38 583,933,234.35
– Hunan Yichang Expressway Development 

Co., Ltd. (Yichang Company) 1,001,457,170.10 250,364,292.53 1,053,989,516.07 263,497,379.02
– Airport-Heao Eastern Company 815,727,365.08 203,931,843.26 952,142,717.36 238,035,681.33
– Guangdong Qinglian Highway 

Development Co., Ltd(“Qinglian 
Company”) 598,774,512.44 146,388,821.20 626,365,911.82 153,286,671.05

– JEL Company 185,579,904.54 46,259,142.58 256,178,269.87 63,908,733.92
– Nanjing Wind Power 41,482,438.48 10,370,609.62
– Baotou Nanfeng 35,822,266.12 8,955,566.53
– Meiguan Company 17,310,641.43 2,307,319.68 19,706,829.55 2,906,366.71

Financial assets’ appreciation (c) 85,144,510.22 21,286,127.56 73,881,650.22 18,470,412.56
Foreign exchange swap (d) 62,689,444.00 15,672,361.00 45,103,194.00 11,275,798.50     
Total 4,867,619,040.46 1,211,443,780.98 5,875,371,703.87 1,463,381,946.84     

(a) The deferred tax liability was recognized based on the temporary difference between the tax base (straight-line basis) and accounting base 
(traffic volume basis) for the amortisation of toll road concession intangible assets.

(b) When the Company acquired equity interests of Qinglian Company, Airport-Heao Eastern Company, Qinglong Company, JEL Company, 
Meiguan Company and Yichang Company, Nanjing Wind Power Company, Baotou Nanfeng Company, deferred tax liabilities were 
recognized on temporary differences between the fair values and book values of the respective identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

(c) According to “ASBE No. 22-Identification and Measurement of Financial Instruments”, the Company recognized the deferred tax liabilities 
based on the temporary difference by the added value after evaluation of stock right of United Electronic Company and Shenzhen Water 
Planning & Design Institute Co., Ltd held by the Company.

(d) The foreign exchange swap contract and foreign exchange cap swap contract signed by the Company and the bank resulted in a fair value 
change was recognized as deferred income tax liability.
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21. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

(3) Offsetting of balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Item

Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities

 offset as at 
31 December 2019

Net values of 
deferred tax assets/

liabilities as at 
31 December 2019

Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities 

offset as at 
31 December 2018

Net values of 
deferred tax assets/

liabilities as at 
31 December 2018     

Deferred tax assets -60,520,594.90 597,340,506.48 -40,708,328.98 172,392,222.04
Deferred tax liabilities 60,520,594.90 1,157,482,536.08 40,708,328.98 1,422,673,617.86     

(4) Deductible tax losses that were not recognized as deferred tax assets are analysed as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Deductible tax losses 754,671,547.22 1,682,080,362.81
Deductible temporary difference 31,574,764.62 1,333,793,699.39   

Total 786,246,311.84 3,015,874,062.20   

(5) The aforesaid unrecognized deductible tax losses will be due in the following years:

Year 2019 2018   

Year 2019 – 442,150,072.39
Year 2020 276,182,194.76 406,315,244.29
Year 2021 201,922,965.70 380,503,712.89
Year 2022 117,539,725.50 350,004,673.74
Year 2023 84,781,898.41 103,106,659.50
Year 2024 74,244,762.85 –   

Total 754,671,547.22 1,682,080,362.81   

22. Other non-current assets

Item 2019 2018   

Meiguan Company-relocation property compensation(a) 342,599,500.00 342,599,500.00   

Total 342,599,500.00 342,599,500.00   

(a) According to the “Compensation Agreement for Meilinguan Urban Renewal Project of Shenzhen Longhua New District Minzhi Office”, 
In July 2016, United Land Company paid the compensation for the demolition of RMB28,328,230.00 to Meiguan Company, a subsidiary 
of the Company. On 27 April 2018, the two parties entered into the “Supplementary agreement for compensation Agreement for 
Meilinguan Urban Renewal Project of Shenzhen Longhua New District Minzhi Office”, stipulating that the United Land Company will 
increase the property compensation on the basis of the above monetary compensation, the compensated relocated property is the office 
building property of United Land Company, and the compensated building area is 9,120 square meters. The relocated property will be 
built in 2-3 years. On the date of signing the supplementary agreement, according to the evaluation report issued by Shenzhen Pengxin 
Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Pengxin Valuing Newspaper [2018] No. 062), the fair value of the relocated property was RMB342,599,500.00, 
unchanged in 2019.
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23. Provision for impairment of assets

2019

2018 Additions Additions Reductions 2019     

Item

Business 
combinations not 

under common 
control Reversal

Cancellation 
after verification       

Provision for impairment of 
concession intangible assets (a) 3,258,235,294.61 – 552,000,000.00 – – 3,810,235,294.61

Provision for falling stock prices – 1,930,228.28 – 1,930,228.28
Provision for impairment of 

accounts receivable 200,000.00 3,799,343.70 459,054.07 1,966,962.21 296,000.00 2,195,435.56
Provision for impairment of 

contract assets – 684,150.00 126,280.00 – – 810,430.00
Provision for impairment of long-

term receivables – 728,530.03 252,529.92 – – 981,059.95       

Total 3,258,435,294.61 7,142,252.01 552,837,863.99 1,966,962.21 296,000.00 3,816,152,448.40       

2018

2017 Additions Reductions 2018  

Item Reversal
Cancellation 

after verification      

Provision for impairment of 
concession intangible assets (a) 3,258,235,294.61 – – – 3,258,235,294.61

Provision for impairment of accounts 
receivable 450,000.00 – 250,000.00 – 200,000.00

Provision for impairment of other 
receivables – 14,115.84 – 14,115.84 –      

Total 3,258,685,294.61 14,115.84 250,000.00 14,115.84 3,258,435,294.61      

(a) As mentioned in Note 3, 34 (6), because Shuiguan Expressway is expected to charge years of extension and the government repurchase 
probability is low, this year the Group has confirmed the impairment provision of RMB552,000,000.00 for the year.The recoverable 
amount is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flow of the asset group, the pre-tax discount rate is 16.07%.
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24. Short-term borrowings

Item 2019 2018   

Pledged (1) 44,905,614.03 117,424,819.20
Credit (2) 318,972,127.62 –   

Total 363,877,741.65 117,424,819.20   

(1) As at 4 April 2019, the remaining loan of RMB117,424,819.20 carried interest at 0.8% plus HIBOR, with the pledge of 45% shares in 
Jade Emperor Ltd, has repaid by Mei Wah. The term of the loan is from 4 April 2018 to 4 April 2019. On 31 December 2019, the above 
short-term borrowings of RMB44,905,614.03 were bank loans of Mei Wah, and interest was charged at Hong Kong Interbank Offered 
Rate (HIBOR) + 0.8% p.a., together with the share pledged of Jade Emperor Ltd (45% of stake). The borrowing period is from 3 December 
2019 to 2 December 2020.

(2) On 31 December 2019, RMB200,737,272.18 of the above short-term loan was the overdraft balance of Coastal Company in the 
overdraft account of Ping An Bank. This loan receives overdraft interest and handling fees at 0.3% and 1% on a quarterly basis according 
to the actual overdraft amount. The borrowing period is from 26 December 2019 to 25 June 2020. Of the above short-term loans 
RMB118,234,855.44 was a bank loan of Nanjing Wind Power, and the borrowing rate was a 5% increase in the benchmark interest rate 
of the People's Bank of China during the same period. The borrowing period is from 27 September 2019 to 3 December 2020.

(3) As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no overdue loans.

25. Bills payable

Item 2019 2018   

Bank acceptance bills 131,749,731.69 –   

Total 131,749,731.69 –   

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no notes payable due (31 December 2018: Nil).

26. Accounts payable

Accounts payable are interest-free which will be paid within one year in general. Accounts payable aged over 1 
year are mainly payables for construction projects which will be settled after settlement.

(1) Analysis of accounts payable

Item 2019 2018   

Payables for construction projects and quality deposits 728,788,697.10 675,770,466.91
Payables for goods 192,518,335.20 –
Others 49,451,992.79 39,135,353.86   

Total 970,759,025.09 714,905,820.77   
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26. Accounts payable (continued)

(2) The significant accounts payable aged over 1 year:

Item 2019 Reason for unsettlement   

China Railway 18 Bureau Group Co., Ltd. 26,589,844.07 The project payment is not settled
CCCC Second Highway Engineering Co., Ltd. 23,521,302.82 The project payment is not settled
Shenzhen He Wang Electric Co., Ltd. 20,180,316.83 The payment for goods is not paid
CCCC Second Harbour Engineering Co., Ltd. 12,048,999.47 The project payment is not settled
China Railway 12 Bureau Group Co., Ltd. 11,198,572.13 The project payment is not settled   

Total 93,539,035.32 /   

(3) *The aging of accounts payable according to the recognition date is analysed below:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 month 86,605,396.23 187,599,514.67
1 to 2 months 15,811,871.78 9,784,229.98
2 to 3 months 17,772,323.36 5,957,578.85
3 months to 1 year 203,213,637.74 138,259,093.75
Over 1 year 647,355,795.98 373,305,403.52   

Total 970,759,025.09 714,905,820.77   

27. Contract liabilities

(1) General information of advances from customers

Item 2019 2018   

Advances from sales of real estates(a) 601,994,692.65 841,962,908.84
Advances from sales of wind turbine set(b) 338,728,000.00
Advances from advertising customers 4,750,118.33 14,872,110.48
Advances from operation and maintenance service charge 3,499,394.00 –
Others 4,253,761.44 1,877,723.45   

Total 953,225,966.42 858,712,742.77   

(a) As of December 31, 2019, the balance of advance sales of development properties in Phase II, Phase II and Phase III, Phase I of Interlaken 
Town was RMB217,441.00 and RMB601,777,251.65. (As of December 31, 2018: The balance of advance sales of development 
properties in Phase I, Phase II, Phase II and Phase III Phase I of Interlaken Town was RMB421,901,935.18, RMB42,991,971.00, and 
RMB377,069,002.66, respectively.)

(b) Advances from sales of wind turbine set is the pre-received wind turbines for Datong Wind Power Project and equipment for Zhongwei 
Gantang 49.5MW Wind Farm Project. As of 31 December, 2019, the balance of contractual liabilities was RMB38,728,000.00 and 
RMB300,000,000.00, respectively.
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28. Employee benefits payable

(1) Analysis of employee benefits payable

2019

Item
31 December 

2018
Current year

 additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2019     

I. Short-term wages 220,939,842.22 654,640,401.57 596,687,070.67 278,893,173.12
II. Pension benefits – defined 

contribution plans 942,579.94 49,726,681.23 48,978,774.55 1,690,486.62     

Total 221,882,422.16 704,367,082.80 645,665,845.22 280,583,659.74     

2018

Item
31 December 

2017
Current year 

additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2018     

I. Short-term wages 167,642,617.23 604,732,206.40 551,434,981.41 220,939,842.22
II. Pension benefits – defined 

contribution plans 1,179,415.02 48,737,047.46 48,973,882.54 942,579.94     

Total 168,822,032.25 653,469,253.86 600,408,863.95 221,882,422.16     
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28. Employee benefits payable (continued)

(2) Analysis of short-term wages

2019

Item
31 December 

2018
Current year

 additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2019     

I. Wages and salaries, bonuses, 
allowances and subsidies 212,282,445.71 538,595,769.69 481,064,799.65 269,813,415.75

II. Staff welfare 958,617.42 49,368,863.23 49,537,216.54 790,264.11
III. Social security contributions 258,998.08 19,013,910.38 19,095,942.78 176,965.68

Including: Medical insurance 217,559.11 15,971,737.67 16,040,645.11 148,651.67
Work injury insurance 13,559.28 995,432.05 999,726.69 9,264.64
Maternity insurance 27,879.69 2,046,740.66 2,055,570.98 19,049.37

IV. Housing funds 683,037.28 29,827,351.25 30,183,484.69 326,903.84
V. Labor union funds and employee 

education funds 6,725,493.73 13,868,798.50 12,942,818.49 7,651,473.74
VI. Others 31,250.00 3,965,708.52 3,862,808.52 134,150.00     

Total 220,939,842.22 654,640,401.57 596,687,070.67 278,893,173.12     

2018

Item
31 December 

2017
Current year 

additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2018     

I. Wages and salaries, bonuses, 
allowances and subsidies 159,652,011.10 496,330,666.30 443,700,231.69 212,282,445.71

II. Staff welfare 683,247.79 46,879,772.64 46,604,403.01 958,617.42
III. Social security contributions 371,523.98 19,017,404.54 19,129,930.44 258,998.08

Including: Medical insurance 312,081.18 15,974,672.77 16,069,194.84 217,559.11
Work injury insurance 19,450.33 995,614.99 1,001,506.04 13,559.28
Maternity insurance 39,992.47 2,047,116.78 2,059,229.56 27,879.69

IV. Housing funds 339,519.95 26,702,477.44 26,358,960.11 683,037.28
V. Labor union funds and employee 

education funds 5,939,362.19 12,064,542.98 11,278,411.44 6,725,493.73
VI. Others 656,952.22 3,737,342.50 4,363,044.72 31,250.00     

Total 167,642,617.23 604,732,206.40 551,434,981.41 220,939,842.22     



244 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

28. Employee benefits payable (continued)

(3) Analysis of defined contribution plans

2019

Item
31 December 

2018
Current year

 additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2019     

I. Basic pensions 472,206.04 34,666,216.14 34,815,777.85 322,644.33
II. Unemployment insurance 9,791.90 718,855.87 721,957.26 6,690.51
III. Enterprise annuities 460,582.00 14,341,609.22 13,441,039.44 1,361,151.78     

Total 942,579.94 49,726,681.23 48,978,774.55 1,690,486.62     

2018

Item
31 December 

2017
Current year 

additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2018     

I. Basic pensions 677,363.59 34,672,586.69 34,877,744.24 472,206.04
II. Unemployment insurance 14,046.14 718,987.98 723,242.22 9,791.90
III. Enterprise annuities 488,005.29 13,345,472.79 13,372,896.08 460,582.00     

Total 1,179,415.02 48,737,047.46 48,973,882.54 942,579.94     

29. Taxes payable

Item 2019 2018   

Corporate income tax payable (a) 207,377,482.79 898,414,800.80
VAT payable (a) 33,794,034.07 393,466,058.79
Land appreciation tax payable 2,119,422.41 9,605,497.19
City maintenance and construction tax payable (a) 1,505,986.25 28,479,600.84
Educational surcharge payable (a) 10,115,954.44 20,711,960.35
Others 2,006,469.91 2,746,000.63   

Total 256,919,349.87 1,353,423,918.60   

(a) The decrease in taxes payable was mainly due to the related taxes recognized in the payment of three project adjustment fee 
compensations and the arrangements for asset transfer agreements this year.
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30. Other payables

(1) Analysis of other payables by nature

Item 2019 2018   

Project funds retained for construction management contracts (a) 1,478,561,695.23 1,674,316,405.94
Payables due to associates 284,859,099.00 22,649,344.39
Payables for the cost of provincial toll station cancellation project 219,206,085.74 –
Payables for Nanjing Wind Power’s equity acquisition 210,046,233.40 –
Payable related to maintenance for roads 196,771,126.66 170,954,316.82
Payable related to costs of construction projects independently 139,530,736.25 139,615,305.62
Payables for the construction cost of the Shenzhen World 

Exhibition & Convention Center toll station 139,855,284.60 –
Accrued project expenditure and administrative special expenses 58,902,262.01 37,964,492.97
Mechanical and electrical costs payable 56,384,831.38 36,771,928.46
Payable for tender and performance deposits and warranty 55,673,378.50 73,210,634.09
Country road construction fee and management service fee of 

Hunan Province 37,968,950.48 33,980,129.28
Temporary receipt due to equity transfer liquidated damages of 

Guizhou Xinhe Lifu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 20,412,000.00 –
Payable for agent-construction fee of Coastal Project Phase II 19,378,599.38 19,378,599.38
Payable for demolition fee of an old stations 6,413,246.26 18,209,415.89
Subscription funds and down deposits received for real estate 

sales 1,610,000.00 1,970,000.00
Compensation settlement for Meiguan reconstruction and 

expansion – 33,249,357.80
Payables for estimated equity acquisition – 26,000,000.00
Interest payable – 89,973,729.42
Dividend payable (b) 54,447,000.00 –
Others 35,855,153.90 18,585,236.69   

Total 3,015,875,682.79 2,396,828,896.75   

(a) The Company was entrusted by the Shenzhen Government for the management of the construction of highway projects. The projects 
are funded by the Shenzhen Government. The Company follows the arrangement of the entrusted contract to pay for the construction. 
According to the entrusted contract, the Company was required to set up a special deposit account to settle the payment. The account 
was classified as a deposit in the special account of entrusted construction management and disclosed as restricted bank deposits in the 
statement of cash and cash equivalents.

(b) Dividend payable

Dividend payable is the dividend declared by Nanjing Wind Power in December 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, distributed to the 
original shareholders. As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding balance of dividends payable was RMB54,447,000.00.
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30. Other payables (continued)

(2) Significant other payables aged over 1 year

Item 2019 Reason for unsettlement   
Hunan Expressway Group Co., Ltd. 34,083,530.48 The terms of payment have not been met.
Guangdong Changda Highway Engineering Co., Ltd. 9,200,000.00 Contract settlement has not been completed.
Zhonglu Gawker Traffic Inspection and Certification Co., Ltd. 6,664,837.60 Contract settlement has not been completed.
CCCC Tunnel Engineering Bureau Co., Ltd. 6,179,986.50 Contract settlement has not been completed.
Shenzhen Expressway Engineering Testing Co., Ltd. 6,097,020.00 Contract settlement has not been completed.   
Total 62,225,374.58 /   

31. Current portion of non-current liabilities

Item 2019 2018   

Compensations related to adjustment of fees and the freight 
subsidy of Coastal Expressway due within one year (Note 
V.39(b)) 128,370,047.21 99,561,965.67

Current portion of long-term payables (Note V.34(1)) 73,121,418.41 –
Current portion of lease liabilities (Note V.36) 34,681,544.60 –
Current portion of non-current borrowings (Note V.32(1)) 191,133,945.38 279,574,031.57
Including: Pledged loan 134,826,577.78 235,119,486.12
Credit loan 56,307,367.60 44,454,545.45
Current portion of bonds payable (Note V.33(1)) 77,795,034.20 –   

Total 505,101,989.80 379,135,997.24   

32. Long-term borrowings

(1) Analysis of long-term borrowings

Item 2019 2018   

Pledged 8,668,942,057.31 8,304,855,479.55
Credit 554,007,367.60 867,454,545.45
Less: Current portion(Note V. 31) 191,133,945.38 279,574,031.57   

Total 9,031,815,479.53 8,892,735,993.43   

(a) As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 year 191,133,945.38 279,574,031.57
1 to 2 years 656,800,000.00 491,231,349.07
2 to 5 years 1,475,276,341.23 2,746,479,185.62
Over 5 years 6,899,739,138.30 5,655,025,458.74   

Total 9,222,949,424.91 9,172,310,025.00   
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32. Long-term borrowings (continued)

(1) Analysis of long-term borrowings (continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2019, details of the long-term borrowings are set out as follows:

Item
Interest rate 

in current year Currency Amount in RMB Guarantee details     

Syndicated borrowings of Qinglian(i) 4.41% RMB 1,634,224,000.00 Operating rights of Qinglian Expressway
Syndicated borrowings of Outer Ring(ii) 4.41%-4.90% RMB 3,510,872,611.98 Operating rights of Outer Ring 

Expressway
Syndicated borrowings of Shenzhen 

Expressway (iii)
4.41% RMB 3,518,158,867.55 Operating rights of Coastal Expressway

Bank borrowings of Shenzhen 
Expressway(iv)

4.275% RMB 388,000,000.00 Credit (Floating Loan/Mergers & 
Acquisitions Loan)

Entrusted borrowings of Shenzhen 
Expressway (v)

3.915%-4.275% RMB 165,000,000.00 Credit (Entrusted)

Plus: Interest accrued RMB 6,693,945.38  
Less: Current portion RMB 191,133,945.38 Pledged toll of Qinglian Expressway     

Total / / 9,031,815,479.53 /     

(i) On 31 December 2019, the interest rate on the loan was 10% below the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years on the actual 
withdrawal date.

(ii) On 31 December 2019, the interest rate on the loan of RMB2,185,416,705.99 was 10% below the benchmark interest rate for loans over 
five years; the interest rate on the remaining loan of RMB1,325,455,905.99 was the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years.

(iii) On 31 December 2019, the interest rate on the loan was 10% below the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years on the actual 
withdrawal date. From 21 June 2019, the borrower changed from coastal Company to Shenzhen Expressway.

(iv) On 31 December 2019, the benchmark interest rate of these loans is 10% lower than the benchmark interest rate of the People's Bank of 
China for one to five years (inclusive).

(v) On 31 December 2019, the benchmark interest rate of RMB105,000,000.00 was 10% below the benchmark interest rate of the 
corresponding grade loan announced by the People's Bank of China on the date of withdrawal. For the remaining part amounting to 
RMB60,000,000.00, the annual interest rate was 10% below the benchmark interest rate for loans with maturity of one year announced 
by the People's Bank of China on the actual withdrawal date.
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33. Bonds payable

(1) Bonds payable

Item 2019 2018   

Corporate bonds 2,912,420,937.41 2,838,547,774.79
Medium-term notes 1,841,630,304.35 1,794,372,233.60
Less: Current portion(Note V. 31) 77,795,034.20 –   

Total 4,676,256,207.56 4,632,920,008.39   

(2) Movements of bonds payable

Name Par value Date of issuance Maturity Issued amount

31 December 

2018

Current 

year- issued

Accrual of 

interest by 

par value

Discount and 

issue fee 

amortization

Exchange 

gains – net

Current 

year-repaid

31 December 

2019           

Corporate bonds (a) 800,000,000.00 31 July 2007 15 years 800,000,000.00 797,605,782.59 – 44,000,000.00 668,153.64 – – 798,273,936.23

Corporate bonds (a) 1,995,330,000.00 18 July 2016 5 years 1,984,555,218.00 2,040,941,992.20 – 60,201,285.33 7,086,824.13 33,900,000.00 – 2,081,928,816.33

Medium-term notes (b) 1,000,000,000.00 30 July 2018 3 years 1,000,000,000.00 997,556,093.96 – 55,912,636.28 906,226.07 – – 998,462,320.03

Medium-term notes (b) 800,000,000.00 15 August 2018 5 years 800,000,000.00 796,816,139.64 – 50,889,066.25 774,995.33 – – 797,591,134.97            

Total 4,595,330,000.00 / / 4,584,555,218.00 4,632,920,008.39 – 211,002,987.86 9,436,199.17 33,900,000.00 – 4,676,256,207.56
            

(a) Corporate bonds

The Company issued long-term corporate bonds with a principal amount of RMB800,000,000.00, bearing interest 
at a rate of 5.5% per annum on 31 July 2007 in accordance with the approval of Fa Gai Cai Jin [2007] No.1791 
issued by the National Development & Reform Commission. The interest is payable annually and the principal is 
repayable in full upon maturity on 31 July 2022. The principal and interest of the bonds are unconditionally and 
irrevocably guaranteed by China Construction Bank Corporation, and are in turn secured by the Company’s 100% 
equity interest in Meiguan.

The Company held a shareholders’ meeting on 19 May 2016 to consider and approve the issuance of debt 
financing instruments, and endowed the Board of Directors with the general license for issuance. On 18 July 
2016, the Company issued a long-term bond with a principal value of USD300 million. The bond issuance price 
was 99.46% of the principal value, bearing a term of 5 years and interest at a rate of 2.875% per annum. Interest 
has begun to be accrued from 18 July 2016 and is repaid semi-annually. On 17 July 2021, the bond should be 
fully repaid upon maturity. The main purpose of the bond is to repay the bank loans and supplement the Group’s 
operating capital.

(b) Medium term notes

On 30 July 2018, approved by the China Association of Interbank Market Dealers, the Company issued 
medium-term notes of RMB1,000,000,000.00, which bear a term of 3 years and interest at a rate of 4.14% per 
annum with the interest payable annually and the principal repayable in full upon maturity on 30 July 2021.

On 15 August 2018, Approved by the China Association of Interbank Market Dealers, the Company issued 
medium-term notes of RMB800,000,000.00, which bear a term of 5 years and interest at a rate of 4.49% per 
annum with the interest payable annually and the principal repayable in full upon maturity on 15 August 2023.
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34. Long-term payables

Item 2019 2018   

Long-term payables 2,217,015,191.85 –   

Total 2,217,015,191.85 –   

(1) The details of long-term payables

Item 2019 2018   

Financial liabilities arising from sale and leaseback transactions (a) 660,027,912.26 –
Borrowings from associates (b) 1,618,960,000.00 1,630,108,698.00
Sub-total 2,278,987,912.26 2,290,136,610.26
Less: Current portion (a) (Note V. 31) 61,972,720.41 73,121,418.41   

Total 2,217,015,191.85 –   

(a) The long-term payable principal of the Group's subsidiary Baotou Nanfeng Fan Equipment after the sale and leaseback is 
RMB673,000,000.00, and the financial cost of amortization of unrecognized financing costs for the year is RMB13,050,811.01, and 
the payment of the financing lease fee of RMB4,038,000.00 will be repaid Gold amounted to RMB15,000,000.00 and interest payment 
amounted to RMB6,984,898.75; as of 31 December, 2019, the balance of this amount was RMB660,027,912.26.

(b) The borrowings of the Headquarters is from the United Land Company for a term of three years in July 2019. The loan agreement was 
signed on 25 July 2019 at an annual interest rate of 3.65%. As of 31 December, 2019, the long-term payable balance of the Headquarters 
is RMB1,618,960,000.00. The confirmed interest expense on financial expenses was RMB11,148,698.00. Refer to Note X.5(6)(f) for 
details.

(2) The analysis of long-term payables due date is as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 year 73,121,418.41  
1 to 2 years 598,055,191.85 –
2 to 5 years 1,618,960,000.00 –   

Total 2,290,136,610.26 –   
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35. Long-term employee benefits payable

Item 2019 2018   

Other long-term employee benefits(a) 105,824,300.00 –   

(a) Other long-term employee benefits are long-term incentive bonuses, which are expected to be paid during the period from year 2021 to 
2023.

36. Lease liabilities (Applicable from 1 January 2019)

Item 2019  

Lease contract 152,951,289.26
Less: Current portion (Note V. 31) 34,681,544.60  

Total 118,269,744.66  

37. Estimated liabilities

Item 2019 2018   

Product warranty (a) 10,284,566.66 –   

Total 10,284,566.66 –   

The estimated liability for this year is the product quality deposit accrued from the sales of "Nanjing Wind Power" 
wind turbines.
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38. Deferred income

2019

Item
31 December

 2018
Current year

 additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December

 2019 Explanation      
Non-current liabilities
Compensation to operating costs for Toll 

Free Section of Meiguan Expressway
107,913,239.80 – 13,080,392.64 94,832,847.16 Shenzhen Government compensation to the accrued 

operating costs for Toll Free Section of Meiguan 
Expressway in the future

Government compensation for demolition 19,228,922.22 – 2,746,988.88 16,481,933.34 Government compensation for demolition of 
Qinglong Company

Compensation to the accrued operating 
costs for Nanguang and Yanpai new 
station (a)

312,144,931.35 – 20,640,000.00 291,504,931.35 Shenzhen Government compensation to the accrued 
operating costs for Nanguang and Yanpai new 
station      

Sub-total 439,287,093.37 – 36,467,381.52 402,819,711.85 /      
Current liabilities
Government financial grants 2,796,223.13 – 195,096.23 2,601,126.90 Return of government financial grants provided from 

Guizhou Longli County Government of Guishen 
Company      

Total 442,083,316.50 – 36,662,477.75 405,420,838.75 /      

(a) As a result of the adjustment of the fee compensation and asset transfer agreements for the three expressways this year, other business 
income was recognized at RMB43,920,000.00 and amortization of unrecognized financing costs was RMB23,280,000.00, resulting in a 
decrease in net deferred income of RMB20,640,000.00. For details, please refer to Note V. 39 (a).

2018

Item
31 December 

2018
Current 

year additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2019 Explanation      
Non-current liabilities
Compensation to operating costs for Toll 

Free Section of Meiguan Expressway
120,993,632.44 – 13,080,392.64 107,913,239.80 Shenzhen Government compensation to the accrued 

operating costs for Toll Free Section of Meiguan 
Expressway in the future

Government compensation for demolition 21,975,911.10 – 2,746,988.88 19,228,922.22 Government compensation for demolition of 
Qinglong Company

Compensation to the accrued operating 
costs for Nanguang and Yanpai new 
station (a)

– 330,104,931.35 17,960,000.00 312,144,931.35 Shenzhen Government compensation to the accrued 
operating costs for Nanguang and Yanpai new 
station      

Sub-total 142,969,543.54 330,104,931.35 33,787,381.52 439,287,093.37 /      
Current liabilities
Government financial grants 2,688,148.48 247,170.00 139,095.35 2,796,223.13 Return of government financial grants provided from 

Guizhou Longli County Government to Guishen 
Company      

Total 145,657,692.02 330,352,101.35 33,926,476.87 442,083,316.50 /      
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38. Deferred income (continued)

Items of government grants:

2019

Item
31 December 

2018

Additional 
grants in 

current year

Recognized in 
non-operating 

income in 
current year Other changes

31 December 
2019 Related to assets/revenue      

Government financial grants 2,796,223.13 – 195,096.23 – 2,601,126.90 Related to assets
Compensation for demolition 19,228,922.22 – 2,746,988.88 – 16,481,933.34 Related to assets       

Total 22,025,145.35 – 2,942,085.11 – 19,083,060.24 /       

2018

Item
31 December 

2017
Additional grants 

in current year

Recognized in 
non-operating 

income in 
current year Other changes

31 December 
2018 Related to assets/revenue       

Government financial grants 2,688,148.48 247,170.00 139,095.35 – 2,796,223.13 Related to assets
Compensation for demolition 21,975,911.10 – 2,746,988.88 – 19,228,922.22 Related to assets       

Total 24,664,059.58 247,170.00 2,886,084.23 – 22,025,145.35 /       
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39. Other non-current liabilities

Item 2019 2018   
Compensations related to the toll adjustment of Three 

Expressways   
Acquisition of compensations related to the toll adjustment of 

Three Expressways (a) – 6,588,000,000.00
Add: Cumulative recognition of financial expense – 904,210,000.00
Less: Cumulative deduction of toll income containing tax – 2,130,330,000.02
Less: Carry forward of compensations related to the toll 

adjustment of Three Expressways (a) – 5,361,879,999.98
Balances of compensations related to the toll adjustment of 

Three Expressways – –   
Sub-total – –   
Compensations related to the freight subsidy of Coastal 

Expressway
Acquisition of compensations related to the freight subsidy of 

Coastal Expressway (b) 302,000,000.00 302,000,000.00
Add: Cumulative recognition of financial expense 37,188,757.06 20,311,356.88
Less: Tax 9,775,736.90 9,775,736.90
Less: Cumulative deduction of toll income containing tax 201,042,972.95 84,603,607.10
Balances of compensations related to the freight subsidy of 

Coastal Expressway 128,370,047.21 227,932,012.88
Less: Current portion of compensations related to the freight 

subsidy of Coastal Expressway 128,370,047.21 99,561,965.67   
Sub-total – 128,370,047.21   
Total – 128,370,047.21   

(a) On 30 November 2015, the Company and Shenzhen Transportation Bureau signed an agreement on compensation for compensation 
for three projects and asset transfer. The Company has received the first cash compensation amount of RMB6,588,000,000.00 on 29 
December 2015, which is included in the bank deposit as the present value of future income, and the final value of future income is 
included in other non-current liabilities. Accordingly, starting at 00:00 on 7 February 2016, the three projects will be implemented free 
of charge in two phases. The first phase began on 7 February 2016 and ended on 31 December 2018. During this period, while retaining 
the rights and interests of the relevant sections of the toll road and continuing to assume management and maintenance responsibilities, 
the Shenzhen Transportation Bureau purchased the toll services of these sections from the Company and provided corresponding cash 
compensation for the toll revenue that was waived.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Shenzhen Transportation Bureau issued the “Notice of the Municipal Transport and Transport 
Commission on Printing and Distributing the Toll Adjustment Method for the Second Stage of Nanguang, Yanpai, and Yanba Three 
Expressways”, clarifying the second stage toll selection method, namely The Shenzhen Transportation Bureau withdraws the remaining toll 
road rights and interests in the adjustment sections. The Company will no longer own the toll road rights and interests in such sections 
and will no longer bear the corresponding management and maintenance responsibilities. As of 31 December 2018, the Company has 
transferred three projects, and the corresponding assets and liabilities have been carried forward.

The second phase started from 1 January 1 2019 and expire on the toll road equity period of the three projects. In the case of using the 
second method in the second phase, the compensation for the operation of the newly-built station involves the commissioned operation 
of the Shenzhen toll committee to build a new toll station: Nanguang Expressway, Nanguang/Jihe Interchange Ramp Toll Station, and 
Yanpai Expressway's Yanpai/Toll station on the south side of Jihe Interchange. In 2018, the company recorded the deferred income of 
RMB488,866,666.67 based on the future operating compensation income and the final value of taxes and fees formed in 2018-2027. 
The difference was included in the unrecognized financing expenses of RMB158,761,735.32, which increased the net deferred income 
by RMB330,104,931.35 yuan. Carry forward other operating income based on operating service income for each year and amortize 
unrecognized financing expenses. This year, other business income was recognized at RMB43,920,000.00, and amortized unrecognized 
financing expenses were RMB23,280,000.00. For details, see Note V. 38 (a).
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39. Other non-current liabilities (continued)

(b) On 28 February 2018, Coastal Company and the Shenzhen Municipal Transportation Commission signed an agreement on freight 
compensation for the Shenzhen section of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen Coastal Expressway. The agreement stipulated that during the 
adjustment, the freight charges of the Shenzhen section of the Coastal Expressway will be charged at 50% of the standard, and the 
freight charge adjustment period starts from 0:00 on 1 March 2018 to 24:00 on 31 December 2020. On 31 March 2018, Coastal 
Company received the above compensation amount of RMB302 million, the compensation management to the above received as the 
present value of future income credited to bank deposits, and adjust the freight charges during transportation income compensation of 
RMB346 million after deducting relevant taxes 10 million yuan as a future income final value write down other non-current liabilities, 
income is expected to end value and the actual received the gap between the present value of the RMB44 million recorded into the 
unrecognized financing charges, the financial expenses were not recognized in this amount. Financial expenses recognized during the year 
were RMB16,877,400.18.

40. Share capital

2019

31 December 

2018

Movement

31 December 

2019

 

New shares issued Rights issue

Transfer 

from surplus Others Sub-total        

Total share capital 2,180,770,326.00 – – – – – 2,180,770,326.00        

2018

31 December 

2017

Movement

31 December 

2018

 

New shares issued Rights issue

Transfer

 from surplus Others Sub-total        

Total share capital 2,180,770,326.00 – – – – – 2,180,770,326.00        

The twenty-third meeting of the eighth Board of Directors of the company. held on 10 January, 2020 reviewed 
and approved the proposal on the non-public issuance of H shares, and the non-public issue of no more than 
300 million H shares. The par value of each share is RMB1.00 yuan. After obtaining the approval from the China 
Securities Regulatory Commission and other relevant agencies and the listing and approval of the issuance on 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the Company will choose to implement it at an appropriate time within the valid 
period of approval. As of the disclosure date of this statement, the above-mentioned H shares have not yet been 
issued.



255ANNUAL REPORT 2019

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

41. Capital surplus

2019

Item
31 December 

2018
Current year

 additions
Current year 

reductions
31 December 

2019     

Share premium 2,274,351,523.42 – – 2,274,351,523.42
Other capital reserve-Business 

combination involving enterprise 
under common control 3,128,000,000.00 – – 3,128,000,000.00

Other capital reserve- Acquisition of 
minority interests -120,924,166.49 – – -120,924,166.49

Capital injection in the invested entity 921,200,000.00 – – 921,200,000.00
Other capital reserve-others 16,399,775.48 1,684,268.80 – 18,084,044.28     

Total 6,219,027,132.41 1,684,268.80 – 6,220,711,401.21     

2018

Item
31 December 

2017
Current year

 additions
Current year

 reductions
31 December 

2018     

Share premium 2,274,351,523.42 – – 2,274,351,523.42
Other capital reserve-Business 

combination involving 
enterprise under common 
control 3,128,000,000.00 – – 3,128,000,000.00

Other capital reserve- Acquisition 
of minority interests -120,924,166.49 – – -120,924,166.49

Capital injection in the invested 
entity(a) – 921,200,000.00 – 921,200,000.00

Other capital reserve-Others 1,567,564.50 15,082,210.98 250,000.00 16,399,775.48     

Total 5,282,994,921.43 936,282,210.98 250,000.00 6,219,027,132.41     



256 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

42. Other comprehensive income

2019
31 December 

2018

Amount incurred in current year

31 December 
2019

 

Pre-tax amount 
incurred during 

the year

Post-tax amount 
attributable to 

owners of 
the Company     

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss: 881,375,987.20 34,629,387.26 34,629,387.26 916,005,374.46
– Appreciation of initial equity interest upon 

business combination 893,132,218.74 – – 893,132,218.74
– Equity investment reserve 406,180.00 – – 406,180.00
– Share of other comprehensive income from 

investees accounted for the equity method 
to be reclassified to profit or loss in the 
subsequent year -13,566,824.35 33,221,731.99 33,221,731.99 19,654,907.64

– Foreign currency financial statement 
translation difference 1,404,412.81 1,407,655.27 1,407,655.27 2,812,068.08     

Total other comprehensive income 881,375,987.20 34,629,387.26 34,629,387.26 916,005,374.46     

2018
31 December

2017

Amount incurred in current year

31 December
2018

 

Pre-tax amount 
incurred during 

the year

Post-tax amount 
attributable to 

owners of 
the Company     

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss: 887,624,170.50 -6,248,183.30 -6,248,183.30 881,375,987.20
– Appreciation of initial equity interest upon 

business combination 893,132,218.74 – – 893,132,218.74
– Equity investment reserve 406,180.00 – – 406,180.00
– Share of other comprehensive income from 

investees accounted for the equity method 
to be reclassified to profit or loss in the 
subsequent year -4,825,335.80 -8,741,488.55 -8,741,488.55 -13,566,824.35

– Foreign currency financial statement 
translation difference -1,088,892.44 2,493,305.25 2,493,305.25 1,404,412.81     

Total other comprehensive income 887,624,170.50 -6,248,183.30 -6,248,183.30 881,375,987.20     
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43. Surplus reserve

2019
31 December

2018
Current 

year additions
Current

 year reductions
31 December 

2019     

Statutory surplus reserve 2,028,273,730.23 136,143,756.72 – 2,164,417,486.95
Discretionary surplus reserve 453,391,330.06 – – 453,391,330.06     

Total 2,481,665,060.29 136,143,756.72 – 2,617,808,817.01     

2018
31 December

2017
Current 

year additions
Current 

year reductions
31 December 

2018     

Statutory surplus reserve 1,685,223,593.83 343,050,136.40 – 2,028,273,730.23
Discretionary surplus reserve 453,391,330.06 – – 453,391,330.06     

Total 2,138,614,923.89 343,050,136.40 – 2,481,665,060.29     

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Company’s Articles of Association 
and the resolution of the Board of Directors, companies should appropriate 10% of the net profit for the year 
to the statutory surplus reserve, where the appropriation can cease when the statutory surplus reserve reaches 
50% of the registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase 
capital after approval from the appropriate authorities. The company's statutory surplus reserve fund for 2019 is 
RMB136,143,756.72. (2018: RMB343,050,136.40).

The Company appropriates the discretionary surplus reserve after the shareholders’ meeting approves the proposal 
from the Board of Directors. The discretionary surplus reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase 
capital after approval from the appropriate authorities. The Company did not appropriate any discretionary 
surplus reserve for ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

44. Undistributed profits

Item 2019 2018   

Unadjusted balance of undistributed profit at the end of the last 
financial year 5,624,252,437.38 6,256,075,328.76

Adjusted: Business combination involving enterprises under 
common control – -3,113,068,776.71   

Sub-total 5,624,252,437.38 3,143,006,552.05   

Adjusted: Changes in accounting policies – 38,476,512.20
Adjusted opening balance of undistributed profits 5,624,252,437.38 3,181,483,064.25
Add: Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company in 

current period/year 2,499,484,975.75 3,440,050,607.33
Less: Appropriation for statutory surplus reserve 136,143,756.72 343,050,136.40
Dividends 1,548,346,931.46 654,231,097.80   

Undistributed profits at the end of the year 6,439,246,724.95 5,624,252,437.38   

According to the resolution of the annual meeting of shareholders on May 22, 2019, the Company distributed 
2018 cash dividends to all shareholders at RMB0.71 per share. Based on the 2,180,770,326 shares issued, cash 
dividends totaling RMB1,548,346,931.46 were distributed amounting to 45% of 2018 net profit. As of 31 
December, 2019, the above dividends have been fully distributed.
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45. Revenue and cost of services

2019 2018
  

Item Revenue Cost Revenue Cost     

Main business – toll road 4,569,454,414.90 2,270,903,104.28 5,066,387,436.63 2,389,981,090.59
Other services –

Environmental revenue 598,968,458.64 430,021,848.73 – –
– Revenue related to wind 

turbine equipment 511,125,563.54 395,550,875.16 – –
– Wind power revenue 87,666,895.10 34,467,853.57 – –
– Others 176,000.00 3,120.00 – –

Real estate development revenue 456,902,470.68 255,161,517.06 285,672,407.32 173,577,128.71
Management services revenue 376,403,186.50 356,797,256.75 246,261,295.37 183,919,594.25
Advertising services revenue 55,875,222.93 51,518,188.66 93,674,087.27 74,852,195.80
Others 128,221,358.32 135,136,243.20 115,112,805.19 35,881,922.41

Sub-total of other businesses 1,616,370,697.07 1,228,635,054.40 740,720,595.15 468,230,841.17     

Total 6,185,825,111.97 3,499,538,158.68 5,807,108,031.78 2,858,211,931.76     

The revenue is analyzed as follows:

2019

Reportable segments Toll road Environmental

Real estate 

development

Management 

service

Advertising s

ervice Others Total        

Main operating areas

Guangdong Province 3,597,256,460.71 176,000.00 – 152,572,764.83 55,875,222.93 114,017,985.76 3,919,898,434.23

Hunan Province 559,664,089.09 – – – – 9,410,501.41 569,074,590.50

Guizhou Province – – 456,902,470.68 223,830,421.67 – 4,792,871.15 685,525,763.50

Hubei Province 412,533,865.10 – – – – – 412,533,865.10

Jiangsu Province – 511,125,563.54 – – – – 511,125,563.54

Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region – 87,666,895.10 – – – – 87,666,895.10        

Total 4,569,454,414.90 598,968,458.64 456,902,470.68 376,403,186.50 55,875,222.93 128,221,358.32 6,185,825,111.97        

Main service categories

Toll road 4,569,454,414.90 – – – – – 4,569,454,414.90

Environmental – 598,968,458.64 – – – – 598,968,458.64

Real estate development – – 456,902,470.68 – – – 456,902,470.68

Management service – – – 376,403,186.50 – – 376,403,186.50

Advertising service – – – – 55,875,222.93 – 55,875,222.93

Others – – – – – 128,221,358.32 128,221,358.32        

Total 4,569,454,414.90 598,968,458.64 456,902,470.68 376,403,186.50 55,875,222.93 128,221,358.32 6,185,825,111.97        

Timing for revenue recognition

Revenue recognized at a certain point in 

time 4,569,454,414.90 597,427,112.64 456,902,470.68 – 7,303,827.29 27,171,390.33 5,658,259,215.84

Revenue recognized over a period of time – 1,541,346.00 – 376,403,186.50 48,571,395.64 101,049,967.99 527,565,896.13        

Total 4,569,454,414.90 598,968,458.64 456,902,470.68 376,403,186.50 55,875,222.93 128,221,358.32 6,185,825,111.97        
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45. Revenue and cost of services (continued)

The revenue is analyzed as follows: (continued)

2018

Reportable segments Toll road
Real estate 

development
Management 

service
Advertising 

service Others Total       

Main operating areas
Guangdong Province 4,128,639,932.45 – 110,471,348.13 93,674,087.27 114,124,092.70 4,446,909,460.55
Hunan Province 552,506,455.85 – – – 988,712.49 553,495,168.34
Guizhou Province – 285,672,407.32 135,789,947.24 – – 421,462,354.56
Hubei Province 385,241,048.33 – – – – 385,241,048.33       

Total 5,066,387,436.63 285,672,407.32 246,261,295.37 93,674,087.27 115,112,805.19 5,807,108,031.78       

Main service categories
Toll road 5,066,387,436.63 – – – – 5,066,387,436.63
Real estate development – 285,672,407.32 – – – 285,672,407.32
Management service – – 246,261,295.37 – – 246,261,295.37
Advertising service – – – 93,674,087.27 – 93,674,087.27
Others – – – – 115,112,805.19 115,112,805.19       

Total 5,066,387,436.63 285,672,407.32 246,261,295.37 93,674,087.27 115,112,805.19 5,807,108,031.78       

Timing for revenue recognition
Recognize revenue at a certain point in 

time 5,066,387,436.63 285,672,407.32 – 1,556,275.13 9,032,426.22 5,362,648,545.30
Revenue recognized at some point (during 

some period) – – 246,261,295.37 92,117,812.14 106,080,378.97 444,459,486.48       

Total 5,066,387,436.63 285,672,407.32 246,261,295.37 93,674,087.27 115,112,805.19 5,807,108,031.78       

The income recognized in the current year and included in the beginning book value of contract liabilities is as 
follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Advances from sales of real estates 417,435,394.79 112,953,842.00
Advances from advertising customers 6,814,256.43 7,118,628.72
Others 1,500,689.35 1,023,009.81   

Total 425,750,340.57 121,095,480.53   
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45. Revenue and cost of services (continued)

The Group's information related to performance obligations is as follows:

Road toll

The performance obligation is recognized in accordance with the amount received and receivable when the 
vehicle is in traffic.

Sales of goods

The contract for the sale of goods between the Group and its customers includes a performance obligation that is 
fulfilled when control is transferred.

Wind power

This performance obligation is usually recognized at the time of power transmission and is measured based on the 
amount of wind power transmitted and the applicable fixed tariff.

Quality assurance services

Revenue from quality assurance services is recognised when the service is provided over a period of time.

46. Tax and surcharges

Item 2019 2018   

City maintenance and construction tax 25,270,279.55 15,803,609.33
Educational surcharge 10,797,855.85 14,015,379.63
Land appreciation tax 8,058,394.83 10,605,159.56
Property tax 5,355,936.05 6,120,521.17
Stamp tax 891,679.13 1,162,461.45
Construction fee for culture development 3,114,010.09 1,586,478.86
Others 1,086,920.04 448,487.47   

Total 54,575,075.54 49,742,097.47   
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47. General and administrative expenses

Item 2019 2018   

Salaries and wages 256,099,232.40 149,597,177.02
Depreciation and amortization 29,079,076.77 6,971,340.56
Legal and advisory fees 23,174,146.43 8,083,618.48
Audit fees 8,061,628.86 5,837,606.92
Stock exchange fees 5,340,561.51 4,708,838.53
Business hospitality fees 4,486,615.57 4,087,837.93
Travel fees 3,872,724.70 4,670,996.77
Office building management fees 3,621,029.54 4,191,569.43
Office and communication charges 3,166,515.26 2,516,692.86
Vehicle fees 1,797,141.55 1,416,768.50
Rental fees 1,323,303.48 10,854,061.53
Others 10,710,467.75 6,708,423.51   

Total 350,732,443.82 209,644,932.04   

* The remuneration of the statutory auditor of the Group was RMB6,676,000.00 in 2019 (tax included) (2018: RMB5,850,000.00).

48. Research and development expenses

Item 2019 2018   

Direct consumables 6,035,604.83 –
Labor cost 9,194,257.65 –
Depreciation and amortization 269,979.33 –
Others 2,974,972.27 –   

Total 18,474,814.08 –   



262 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

49. Financial expenses

Item 2019 2018   

Interest expenses 734,526,133.16 1,060,159,474.79
Including: Interest expenses on lease liabilities(Note XIII.2(2)) 14,227,011.48 –

Interest expenses on borrowings 434,561,336.96 548,088,478.72
Interest expenses on bonds payable 190,798,550.73 164,406,792.95
Large transportation financing expense – 273,369,600.00
Unrecognized financing expense for allocation of the 

subsidy of the new toll of Three Expressways (Note 
V.38) 23,280,000.00 24,680,000.00

Unrecognized financing expense for allocation of the 
freight subsidy of Coastal Expressway (Note V.39(b)) 16,877,400.18 20,311,356.88

Interest expense for advance payment 30,582,324.80 29,303,246.24
Interest expenses on long-term payables (Note V.34) 24,199,509.01 –

Less: Interest income 50,848,513.85 81,317,876.57
Less: Interest capitalized 133,608,637.84 69,828,993.76
Including: interest expense capitalized 134,631,048.48 74,635,461.86

Interest income capitalized 1,022,410.64 4,806,468.10
Less: Fi nancial benefit for pre-repayment of finance lease 

(Note XV.1) 22,492,284.97 –
Exchange gains or losses 33,399,084.64 133,364,616.16
Others 11,962,278.24 12,628,816.06   

Total 572,938,059.38 1,055,006,036.68   

During the year, the Group's borrowing interest capitalization amount has been included in inventories and 
intangible assets. Please refer to Note V.7(3) and Note V.19(f) for the relevant information.

The details of the interest income are listed as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Cash and cash equivalents 48,472,236.51 30,182,226.56
Long-term receivables 1,731,571.08 1,794,965.49
Other receivables 644,706.26 49,340,684.52
Less: interest income capitalized 1,022,410.64 4,806,468.10   

Total 49,826,103.21 76,511,408.47   
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50. Other income

Government grants related to daily activities are as follows:

Item 2019 2018 Asset/profit related    

Government grants related to deferred income 
(Note V.38) 195,096.23 139,095.35 Asset related

Talent support funds 6,240,000.00 – Profit related
Others 2,087,213.99 – Profit related    

Total 8,522,310.22 139,095.35    

51. Investment income

Item 2019 2018   

Investment income from long-term equity investments in 
associates under the equity method (Note V.14) 899,684,300.39 520,956,388.49

Investment income from financial products 1,441,847.76 5,642,543.29
Investment income from non-current financial assets 30,125,114.78 6,859,719.35
Investment gain/(loss) from foreign exchange swap (Note V.2) 26,860,000.00 -49,740,000.00
Investment income from disposal of subsidiaries (Note VI.3) 262,207,206.28 71,875,733.02
Realized income from downstream trading (a) (Note V.14(1)) 22,091,980.80 –
Unrealized income from downstream trading 261,586.84 –   

Total 1,242,672,036.85 555,594,384.15   

(a) The Group's consolidated level offsets the asset disposal income of the shareholding part from compensation for office building property 
of Meiguan company by United Land in 2018, during the year, the income from United Land Company construction project was realized, 
and the Group’s realized profit of RMB22,091,980.80 according to the proportion of the sold properties of United Land Company.

52. Gains or losses from changes in fair value

Item 2019 2018   

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 55,086,510.00 134,403,871.30
Including: Derivative financial instruments (Note V.2) 17,586,250.00 116,475,051.30
Including: Financial assets designated to be measured at fair 

value through profit or loss (Note V.13) 37,500,260.00 17,928,820.00
Gains from adjustment of Shuiguan Expressway’s acquisition 

contingent consideration (Note III.34(6)) 26,000,000.00 –   

Total 81,086,510.00 134,403,871.30   
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53. Asset impairment loss

Item 2019 2018   

Impairment of Shuiguan Expressway (Note V.23(a)) 552,000,000.00 –   

Total 552,000,000.00 –   

54. Gains or losses on disposal of assets

Item 2019 2018   

Compensation for toll adjustment of Yanba, Yanpai and 
Nanguang (“Three Expressways”) (Note V.39) – 1,961,413,854.90

Compensation for land expropriation loss on Meiguan Expressway – 225,087,871.50
Compensation for Yanba Road housing demolition – 22,295,210.06
Gain and loss on disposal of the property of Hubei Magerk 

Expressway Management Co., LTD – 11,558,170.10
Disposal of the right of using the land of Meiguan – 7,620,000.00
Others 386,045.39 -848,727.38   

Total 386,045.39 2,227,126,379.18   

55. Non-operating income

Item 2019 2018

Amount recorded as 
non-recurring profit 

or loss for the 
year ended 

31 December 2019    

Government grants not related to daily 
activities (a) 3,246,706.07 8,116,655.45 3,246,706.07

Others 9,153,971.77 9,315,735.44 9,153,971.77    

Total 12,400,677.84 17,432,390.89 12,400,677.84    

(a) Government grants not related to daily activities are as follows:

Item 2019 2018 Asset/profit related    
Government incentives (i) 499,717.19 5,369,666.57 Profit related
Government grants related to deferred  

income (ii) 2,746,988.88 2,746,988.88 Asset related    
Total 3,246,706.07 8,116,655.45 /    

(i) The government incentive fund is mainly a preferential incentive fund of RMB400,000.00 received by Nanjing wind power Company and 
the stable post subsidies by each subsidiary.

(ii) In 2010, 2011 and 2014, Qinglong Company received the compensation for land expropriation from Longgang District of Shenzhen, and 
the deferred amortization income of RMB2,746,988.88 was included in the non-operating income for the year. Refer to Note V.38 for 
details.
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56. Non-operating expenses

Item 2019 2018

Amount recognized 
in non-recurring 

profit or loss for the 
year ended 

31 December 2019    

The loss on damage or scrap of non-current 
assets 8,576,427.18 2,787,962.43 8,576,427.18

Donation 1,016,000.00 1,041,400.00 1,016,000.00
Others 2,632,310.21 1,010,780.95 2,632,310.21    

Total 12,224,737.39 4,840,143.38 12,224,737.39    

57. Expenses by nature

Costs of services, selling expenses, general and administrative expenses, research and development expenses in 
income statement are analyzed by nature as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Depreciation and amortization 1,547,151,172.63 1,644,408,248.39
Salaries and wages 798,906,022.57 646,830,799.86
Fan material costs 395,550,875.16 –
Real estate development costs 255,161,517.06 173,577,128.71
Costs of construction management services 233,952,570.62 147,034,046.65
Road maintenance expenses 233,292,013.93 74,761,877.13
Entrusted management expenses for Wuhuang Expressway 107,382,395.19 100,278,107.75
Material, water and electrical costs 52,852,530.40 53,093,044.18
Mechanical and electrical costs 40,405,344.58 45,737,150.56
Costs of agencies 36,957,500.53 18,300,340.05
Integrated tolls settlement service expenses 24,567,690.68 17,460,709.44
Promotion and marketing expenses 7,742,026.05 8,603,499.74
Other expenses 162,128,534.97 157,189,240.27   

Total 3,896,050,194.37 3,087,274,192.73   
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58. Income tax expense

(1) Classification of income tax expense

Item 2019 2018   

Income tax expense 617,801,743.24 1,129,749,372.17
Deferred income tax -710,051,241.20 -163,302,388.10   

Total -92,249,497.96 966,446,984.07   

(2) Income tax expense reconciled from profit before tax

Item 2019 2018   

Profit before tax 2,444,233,723.81 4,545,177,566.55
Income tax expense calculated at the applicable tax rate 611,058,430.95 1,137,255,514.54
Impact of applying different tax rates to subsidiaries -16,274,150.81 –
Effect of withholding tax on distributable profits of the Group’s 

PRC subsidiaries 1,650,136.16 3,361,116.38
Income not subject to tax -238,040,745.70 -187,693,956.92
Unrecognized tax losses during the year 17,749,348.38 24,815,541.97
Use of unrecognized tax losses in previous years -3,200,554.91 -11,363,307.35
Coastal Company reconfirmed the effects of unrecognized 

deductible losses and deductible temporary differences in 
previous years -473,765,943.45 –

Adjustment of income tax in the prior year 6,657,216.86 -1,478,423.34
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,916,764.56 1,550,498.79   

Income tax expense calculated based on the effective tax 
rate of the Group -92,249,497.96 966,446,984.07   
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59. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

(1) Cash received relating to other operating activities

Item 2019 2018   

Received operating management fees 41,339,763.77 –
Received highway engineering and maintenance related 

payments 23,865,794.00 –
Received the engineering and management costs of the 

expressway comprehensive maintenance project 3,864,516.75 –
Collected the rent of the site of Shenzhen Branch of China Tower 

Corporation 2,555,018.52 –
Received Talent Fund from Longhua Finance Bureau 2,400,000.00 –
Received insurance claims transferred from PICC 1,875,098.25 –
Received advance payment for CLP's traffic violation and accident 

detection projects 1,339,282.48 –
Compensation for delayed opening of new stations for three 

highways – 31,973,506.85
Received information service fees – 8,120,407.21
Received deposit of Expressway Quality Improvement Program – 7,200,000.00
Received compensation refund for toll adjustment of Meiguan 

Expressway – 7,112,414.02
Received rent expenses of service zones from China National 

Petroleum Gas Corporation – 2,935,500.00
Received deposit returned for 2017 A share interest distribution – 2,000,000.00
Received bidding deposit for Landslide Reinforcement Program – 2,000,000.00
Others 60,915,397.50 41,072,355.71   

Total 138,154,871.27 102,414,183.79   

(2) Cash paid relating to other operating activities

Item 2019 2018   

Payment of advances for commissioned construction projects 278,250,815.20 120,647,391.60
Paid deposit 153,244,093.77 –
Construction management expenses 72,661,999.42 153,444,440.55
Payment for acquisition of land use right 63,490,930.00 117,714,000.00
Refund of compensation for Meiguan Expressway toll adjustment 

project 33,227,515.27 –
Intermediary service fees paid 30,841,700.27 18,783,570.14
Payment for further development of land – 232,320,968.32
Other operating expenses paid 65,736,562.82 63,636,599.75   

Total 697,453,616.75 706,546,970.36   
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59. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

(3) Cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and other business units

Item 2019 2018   

Received the transfer of equity and debts from Hengfengxin, 
Henghongda, Yehengda, and Shengbo (Notes VI 3) 567,000,000.00 –

Cash received for the equity transfer of Guizhou Yuelong 
Investment Co. LTD (Yuelong Company) – 180,800,000.00

Shareholder advance returned by Yuelong Company – 20,430.08   

Total 567,000,000.00 180,820,430.08   

(4) Cash received relating to other investment activities

Item 2019 2018   

Maturity redemption of financial products 300,000,000.00 1,000,000,000.00
Received interest income of bank deposits 39,002,229.97 20,670,801.52
Received money of disposal of financial assets(Note.V.2) 26,860,000.00 –
Received liquidated damages from Guizhou Xinhelifu Real Estate 

Development Co., Ltd. 20,412,000.00 –
Cash inflow from Nanjing Wind Power acquisition 2,368,672.22 –
Cash inflows from the acquisition of Baotou Nanfeng 402,592.22 –
Received shareholder loan interest income from United Land 20,742,909.45 52,899,158.22
Received interest of Three Expressways compensation – 20,452,109.59
Received fund for equity bid intention – 20,000,000.00
Returned foreign exchange swap deposit – 8,011,738.60   

Total 409,788,403.86 1,122,033,807.93   
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59. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

(5) Cash paid relating to other investment activities

Item 2019 2018   

Paid taxes and fees related to the three highways 929,832,118.97 –
Nanjing Wind Power equity purchase 210,000,000.00 –
Purchased financial products 100,000,000.00 1,200,000,000.00
Refund of 810 Mu Land Rights Transfer Deposit from Guizhou 

Xinhe Lifu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 20,000,000.00 –
Losses from settlement of the dollar bonds – 49,740,000.00
Deposit paid for foreign exchange swap – 8,000,000.00
Others – 482,104.60   

Total 1,259,832,118.97 1,258,222,104.60   

(6) Cash received relating to other financing activities

Item 2019 2018   

Received loans from United Land shareholders 1,896,790,000.00 –
Sale and leaseback financing received (Note V. 34 (a)) 673,000,000.00 –   

Total 2,569,790,000.00 –   

(7) Cash paid relating to other financing activities

Item 2019 2018   

Repayment of equipment for a finance lease company 1,424,271,632.23 –
Repayment of the minority shareholder Jiangsu Jinzhi loan 172,000,000.00 –
Paid advances to the minority shareholder of a subsidiary 33,214,845.87 52,823,756.08
Pay the principal and interest of the sale and leaseback financing 

(Notes XIII.2) 26,022,898.75 –
Repayment of principal and interest on lease liabilities 20,561,750.92 –
Commission fee for issuing shares and bonds 400,000.00 767,040.00
Swap settlement differences of dollar loans – 22,392,000.00
Others 831,060.16 5,504,665.41   

Total 1,677,302,187.93 81,487,461.49   
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60. Assets with ownership or use right restricted

Item 2019 2018 Reason for restriction    

Operating right of Qinglian Expressway 6,449,325,178.71 6,748,322,028.50 Note 1
Operating right of Yichang Expressway – 2,889,552,387.26 Note 2
Operating right of Outer Ring Expressway 3,409,706,840.88 1,947,057,863.50 Note 3
Operating right of Coastal Expressway 6,154,511,908.42 6,173,378,443.67 Note 4
The equity interest in Meiguan Company 522,176,501.47 523,973,642.55 Note 5
45% shares in JEL 242,264,078.87 275,862,743.30 Note 6
Baotou Nanfeng Damaoqi Wind Power 

Equipment 1,359,289,012.09 – Note 7
Baotou Nanfeng Damaoqi Land Use Right 18,912,756.63 – Note 7
Cash at banks and on hand 1,801,295,060.23 1,645,847,754.50 Note 8    

Total 19,957,481,337.30 20,203,994,863.28 /    

Note 1: On 31 December 2019, the operating right of Qinglian Expressway with a net carrying amount of RMB6,449,325,178.71 (31 
December 2018: RMB6,748,322,028.50) was pledged to secure long-term bank loans granted to the Group. The pledged term 
will end on 17 July 2024. The loans balance was RMB1,634,224,000.00 on 31 December 2019.

Note 2: The operation right of Yichang Expressway was pledged by the wholly-owned subsidiary Yichang Company to secure bank loans 
and the proportion of the operation right pledged was estimated according to the loan quota granted by each bank. On 31 
December 2018, the balance of loans amounted to RMB4,400,000.00 and the proportion of the operation right pledged was 
10%. The loan was paid off on 18 January 2019 and the pledge was relieved.

Note 3: On 31 December 2019, the operating right of Outer Ring Expressway with a net carrying amount of RMB3,409,706,840.88 (31 
December 2018: RMB1,947,057,863.50) was pledged to secure long-term bank loans granted to the Group. The pledged term 
will end on 14 March 2042. The loans balance was RMB3,510,872,611.98 on 31 December 2019.

Note 4: On 31 December 2019, the operating right of Coastal Expressway with a net carrying amount of RMB6,154,511,908.42 (31 
December 2018: RMB6,173,378,443.67) was pledged to secure long-term bank loans granted to the Group. The pledged term 
will end on 9 November 2033. The loans balance was RMB3,518,158,867.55 on 31 December 2019.

Note 5: On 31 December 2019, the 100% equity of Meiguan Company with a net carrying amount of RMB522,176,501.47 (31 December 
2018: RMB523,973,642.55) was pledged to secure long-term bonds granted to the Group. The pledged term will end on 31 July 
2022.

Note 6: On 31 December 2019, the 45% equity of JEL Company with a net carrying amount of RMB242,264,078.87 (31 December 
2018: RMB275,862,743.30) was pledged to secure short-term bank loan granted to the Group. The pledged term will end on 2 
December 2020. The balance was HKD50,000,000.00 on 31 December 2019.

Note 7: On 31 December 2019, Baotou Nanfeng Damaoqi Wind Power equipment with a net carrying amount of RMB1,359,289,012.09, 
Baotou Nanfeng Damaoqi land-use right with a net carrying amount of RMB18,912,756.63 and 100% equity of Damaoqi 
Ningyuan, Damaoqi Ningxiang, Damaoqi Nanchuan and Damaoqi Ningfeng were pledged and mortgaged to sale-leaseback 
from Three Gorges Financial Leasing Co., Ltd to the Group. The pledged term will end on 23 October 2021. The balance was 
RMB660,027,912.26 on 31 December 2019

Note 8: On 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents with a net carrying amount of RMB1,801,295,060.23 (31 December 2018: 
RMB1,645,847,754.50) were restricted project funds retained for construction management. Please refer to Note V.1.
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61. Supplementary information to the consolidated statement of cash flows

(1) Supplementary information to the consolidated statement of cash flows

Supplementary information 2019 2018   

1. Reconciliation from net profit to cash flows from operating 
activities:
Net profit 2,536,483,221.77 3,578,730,582.48
Depreciation of fixed assets 144,840,348.23 158,299,103.52
Right-of-use asset depreciation 40,875,915.53 –
Amortization of investment properties 575,942.40 575,841.40
Amortization of intangible assets 1,356,520,979.27 1,483,507,986.65
Amortization of long-term prepaid expenses 4,337,987.20 2,025,316.82
Losses from disposal of fixed, intangible and other long-term 

assets (profit is shown with“-”) -386,045.39 -2,227,126,379.18
Losses from damage and scrap of non-current assets 8,576,427.18 2,787,962.43
Losses from change in fair value (profit is shown with“-”) -81,086,510.00 -134,403,871.30
Financial expenses 572,938,059.38 1,055,006,036.68
Investment income -1,242,672,036.85 -555,594,384.15
Asset impairment loss 552,000,000.00 –
Credit losses (reversal is shown with“-”) -1,129,098.22 -235,884.16
Decrease in deferred income tax assets (increase is shown with“-”) -426,800,493.44 -34,373,291.63
Increase in deferred income tax liabilities (decrease is shown  

with“-”) -283,250,747.76 -128,929,096.47
Decrease in inventories (increase is shown with“-”) -134,343,964.59 10,579,274.57
Decrease in operating receivables (increase is shown with“-”) -807,413,283.50 -864,974,421.15
Increase in operating payables (decrease is shown with“-”) -488,638,026.14 876,353,806.11
Net cash flows from operating activities 1,751,428,675.07 3,222,228,582.62   

Supplementary information 2019 2018   

2. Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the year 2,931,823,341.57 2,580,843,329.57
Less: Cash at the beginning of the year 2,580,843,329.57 1,884,570,222.49
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 350,980,012.00 696,273,107.08   
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61. Supplementary information to the consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

(2) Cash and cash equivalents

Item 2019 2018   

Cash   
Including: Cash on hand 10,439,104.00 10,969,104.99

Cash at banks 2,921,384,237.57 2,569,874,224.58
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,931,823,341.57 2,580,843,329.57
Including: Restricted cash held by subsidiaries of the Company 

and the Group (Note V.1) 1,801,295,060.23 1,645,847,754.50   

Total cash at banks and on hand 4,733,118,401.80 4,226,691,084.07   

62. Monetary items denominated in foreign currency

(1) Monetary items denominated in foreign currency

2019 2018  

Item
Original 
amount

Exchange 
rate

Equivalent 
to RMB

Original 
amount

Exchange 
rate

Equivalent 
to RMB       

Monetary capital
HKD 6,919,466.36 0.8958 6,198,457.97 3,862,558.29 0.8762 3,384,373.58
USD 2,242.72 6.9762 15,645.66 2,241.68 6.8632 15,385.09
EUR 12.00 7.8155 93.79 1.53 7.8473 12.00
FRF 11.70 7.2028 84.27 11.70 6.9494 81.31
ESP 445.96 0.0468 20.88 445.96 0.0468 20.88
JPY 380.00 0.0641 24.35 380.05 0.0619 23.52

Other receivables
HKD 1,239,013.80 0.8958 1,109,908.56 1,239,014.15 0.8762 1,085,624.20

Short-term borrowings
HKD 50,129,062.32 0.8958 44,905,614.03 134,016,000.00 0.8762 117,424,819.20

Employee benefits payable
HKD 414,400.00 0.8958 371,219.52 545,196.50 0.8762 477,701.17

Other payables
HKD 54,855.00 0.8958 49,139.11 402,486.34 0.8762 352,658.53
USD – 6.9762 – 3,905,208.33 6.8632 26,802,225.81

Bond payable
USD 298,433,074.79 6.9762 2,081,928,816.33 297,374,692.88 6.8632 2,040,941,992.20

Current portion of non-
current liabilities
USD 3,905,208.33 6.9762 27,243,514.35 – 6.8632 –

Lease liabilities
HKD 6,344,321.19 0.8958 5,683,242.92 – 0.8762 –       



273ANNUAL REPORT 2019

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

63. Others

(1) Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding:

Item 2019 2018   

Consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
the Company 2,499,484,975.75 3,440,050,607.33

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 2,180,770,326.00 2,180,770,326.00
Basic earnings per share 1.146 1.577
Including: Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 1.146 1.577   

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
Company adjusted based on the dilutive potential ordinary shares by the adjusted weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding. As there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in the year ended 31 December 
2019, diluted earnings per share was equal to basic earnings per share.

VI. CHANGE IN CONSOLIDATION

1. Business combination not under common control

(1) Business combination not under common control in the period

Purchased company
Share acquisition 
date

Cost of 
acquisition

Shareholding 
percentage (%)

Obtaining 
method Obtaining date Obtaining date determination       

Nanjing Wind Power and its 
subsidiaries 8 April 2019 510,000,000.00 51% (a) 8 April 2019 Equity transfer procedures completed

Baotou Nanfeng and its subsidiaries 17 September 2019 0.67 67% (b) 17 September 2019 Equity transfer procedures completed

(a) On 15 March 2019, Environmental Company (a subsidiary of the Company), and Nanjing Abexin Investment Management Co., 
Ltd., Jiangyin Construction Engineering Group Co., Ltd., Pan Aihua, Wang Anzheng and the others (original shareholder of Nanjing 
Wind Power), entered into an Acquisition Agreement to acquire a 30% equity interest in Nanjing Wind Power at a consideration of 
RMB210,000,000.00, and make a one-way contribution of RMB300,000,000.00 into Nanjing Wind Power after completion of the 
acquisition. Upon completion of acquisition and capital increase procedures, Environmental Company shall hold a 51% equity interest in 
Nanjing Wind Power. The equity acquisition was completed on 8 April 2019.

(b) On 12 September 2019, the Company and Jiangsu Jin Zhi Group Co., LTD. (" Jiangsu Jin Zhi ") entered into an Acquisition Agreement 
to acquire a 100% equity interest in Baotou Nanfeng Wind Power at a consideration of RMB1.00, with Nanjing Ning Wind Energy 
Technology Co., LTD., which was the original shareholder of Baotou Nanfeng. The Company and Jiangsu Jin Zhi paid RMB0.67 and 
RMB0.33, respectively. After the completion of the transaction under the equity merger and acquisition agreement, the Company shall 
hold a 67% equity interest in Baotou Nanfeng. The equity acquisition was completed on 17 September 2019.
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1. Business combination not under common control (continued)

(1) Business combination not under common control in the period (continued)

Identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquirees acquired on the obtaining date are listed below:

Nanjing Wind Power Baotou Nanfeng  

8 April 
2019

8 April 
2019

17 September 
2019

17 September 
2019

Item Fair value Book value Fair value Book value     

Assets: 1,019,299,950.96 946,989,250.96 1,963,525,855.89 1,927,264,775.98
Cash at banks and on hand 302,368,672.22 302,368,672.22 402,592.89 402,592.89
Bills receivable 700,000.00 700,000.00 3,093,200.00 3,093,200.00
Accounts receivable 114,412,278.84 114,412,278.84 8,539,341.81 8,539,341.81
Advances 14,331,951.66 14,331,951.66 356,787.14 356,787.14
Other receivable 307,911,179.45 307,911,179.45 235,930.57 235,930.57
Inventories 44,876,144.85 44,876,144.85 – –
Contract assets 134,665,850.00 134,665,850.00 – –
Other current assets 13,396,234.65 13,396,234.65 62,801,404.81 62,801,404.81
Long-term receivables – – 163,261,168.36 163,261,168.36
Fixed assets 3,633,298.65 3,633,298.65 344,240,376.05 334,101,181.97
Intangible assets 82,461,606.14 10,150,906.14 52,741,993.14 48,218,209.94
Right-of-use assets – – 1,327,853,061.12 1,306,254,958.49
Long-term prepaid expenses 542,734.50 542,734.50 – –     

Liabilities: 325,260,294.57 314,413,689.57 1,963,525,854.89 1,954,460,584.91
Short-term borrowings – – 172,000,000.00 172,000,000.00
Bills payable 12,164,846.53 12,164,846.53 – –
Accounts payable 173,134,220.03 173,134,220.03 306,508,362.12 306,508,362.12
Contract liabilities 3,278,940.00 3,278,940.00 – –
Employee benefits payable 282,252.37 282,252.37 27,302.68 27,302.68
Taxes payable – – 247,604.50 247,604.50
Other payables 117,383,921.56 117,383,921.56 147,824,254.49 147,824,254.49
Provision 8,169,509.08 8,169,509.08 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 10,846,605.00 – 9,065,269.98 –
Current portion of non-

current liabilities – – 409,698,448.01 409,698,448.01
Lease liabilities – – 918,154,613.11 918,154,613.11     

Net assets 694,039,656.39 632,575,561.39 1.00 -27,195,808.93
Less: Minority interests 340,079,431.63 0.33
Acquired net assets 353,960,224.76 0.67
Goodwill on acquisition 156,039,775.24 / – /

Considerations 510,000,000.00 / 0.67 /     
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1. Business combination not under common control (continued)

(1) Business combination not under common control in the period (continued)

Reasons for the large amounts of goodwill:

Established in Nanjing, Jiangsu Province in 2011, Nanjing Wind Power is a high-tech enterprise specializing in 
renewable, new energy wind power generation. The company's main business is the development, integration, 
manufacturing, installation, sale and maintenance of wind power systems. And Investment operations of wind 
farms. Nanjing Wind Power has independent research and development capabilities. It has the experience 
and capability of wind farm development, construction and operation management. The company's business 
development has a good market prospect. Clean energy is an emerging field in the environmental protection 
industry and it is the development direction of new industries identified in the Group's development strategy. 
After obtaining the controlling interest of Nanjing Wind Power, the Group can take advantage of Nanjing Wind 
Power itself to quickly enter the new energy sector, optimize the Group's industrial structure and enhance the 
Group's sustainable development market competitiveness.

Operating results and cash flows of the acquirees from the date of acquisition to the end of the period are listed 
below:

Nanjing Wind Power
Baotou Nanfeng 

Wind Power

Item
From 8 April to 

31 December 2019
From 17 September to 

30 December 2019   

Revenue 511,125,563.54 87,666,895.10
Net loss 65,276,483.45 37,011,849.84
Net cash flow 355,824,923.41 16,962,523.93   

2. Establishment of new company

Harbin Lingfeng New Energy Co., Ltd. was established on 28 November, 2019 in Harbin, Heilongjiang Province, 
with registered capital of RMB5,000,000. A subsidiary of the Group, Nanjing Wind Power, holds 100% of its 
equity. The company's business scope includes power-related technology development, consulting, power 
engineering design, and construction activities. The newly established subsidiary was included in the scope of 
consolidation this year.

Qing'an County Nanfeng New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. was established on 29 November, 2019 in Qing'an 
County, Heilongjiang Province with registered capital of RMB5,000,000.00. Nanjing Wind Power, a subsidiary 
of the Group, holds 100% of its equity. The company's business scope is wind power, photovoltaic power 
generation, new energy technology development, etc; the newly established subsidiary was included in the scope 
of consolidation this year.

Wulian County Nanfeng New Energy Co., Ltd. was established on 31 July, 2019 in Wulian County, Shandong 
Province, with registered capital of RMB5,000,000.00. Nanjing Wind Power, a subsidiary of the Group, holds 
100% equity for the period. The company's business scope includes new energy technology development and 
technical consulting. The newly established subsidiary was included in the scope of consolidation this year.
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2. Establishment of new company (continued)

Wulian County Pengguang New Energy Co., Ltd. was established on 21 August, 2019 in Wulian County, 
Shandong Province, with registered capital of RMB2,000,000.00. A subsidiary of the Group, Nanjing Wind 
Power, holds 100% of its equity for the period. The company's business scope includes new energy technology 
development and technical consulting. The newly established subsidiary was included in the scope of 
consolidation this year.

Wulian County Ningxu New Energy Co., Ltd. was established on 21 August, 2019 in Wulian County, Shandong 
Province, with a registered capital of RMB2,000,000.00. A subsidiary of the Group, Nanjing Wind Power, holds 
100% of its equity for the period. The company's business scope includes new energy technology development 
and technical consulting. The newly established subsidiary was included in the scope of consolidation this year.

3. Disposal of subsidiaries

Name of subsidiaries Place of registration
Nature of business and 
principal activities

Proportion of equity 
attributable to the 

Group

Proportion of voting 
right attributable to 

the Group
Reason for 
deconsolidation      

Guizhou Shengbo Land Company 
(“Guizhou Shengbo”)

Longli County, Guizhou Province, PRC Infrastructure construction
70% 70% Note (a)

Hengfengxin Property Company Limited 
(“Guizhou Hengfengxin”)

Longli County, Guizhou Province, PRC Infrastructure construction
70% 70% Note (a)

Henghongda Property Company Limited 
(“Guizhou Henghongda”)

Longli County, Guizhou Province, PRC Infrastructure construction
70% 70% Note (a)

Guizhou Yehengda Company (“Guizhou 
Yehengda”)

Longli County, Guizhou Province, PRC Infrastructure construction
70% 70% Note (a)

Note (a): On 23 January 2019, Guizhou Guishen Investment Development Company Limited (“Guishen Company”) and Guizhou 
Shenzhen Expressway Land Company Limited ("Guizhou Land Company") signed an equity and obligation transfer agreement 
with Guizhou Xinhe Lifu Real Estate Development Company Limited ("Xinhe Lifu Company") to sell 100% equity and 
obligation of Guizhou Shengbo, Guizhou Hengfengxin, Guizhou Henghongda and Guizhou Yeheng with a consideration of 
RMB567,000,000.00. The transaction has been completed on 20 May 2019. Guishen Company and Guizhou Land Company 
paid the property transaction service fee including tax of RMB614,622.64. Therefore, since 20 May 2019, the Group has 
no longer included these Companies in the scope of consolidation. The relevant financial information of these companies is 
consolidated as follows:

20 May 2019 31 December 2018
Item Book value Book value   
Cash and cash equivalents – 4,868,719.65
Inventories 304,178,171.08 296,640,634.06
Other payables 295,269,119.56 297,571,327.26
Net assets 8,909,051.52 3,938,026.45
Non-controlling interests (30%) 2,672,715.46 1,181,407.94
Net assets attributable to the Group 6,236,336.06 2,756,618.51
Losses on disposal 262,207,206.28 /

Attributable to the Group 183,545,044.40 /
Attributable to minority shareholders 78,662,161.88 /

Disposal consideration 566,385,377.36 /
Assignment of creditor's rights 295,269,119.56 /
Assignment of equity interest 271,116,257.80 /   

Item
From 1 January 
to 20 May 2019  

Revenue –
costs –
Net losses 2,640.01  
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

1. Interests in subsidiaries

(1) Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries Place of main business Place of registration
Nature of business and 

principal activities Share capital

Equity interest (%)

Acquired through
 

Direct Indirect        
Outer Ring Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, PRC
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB100,000,000.00 100% – Incorporation

Shenzhen Expressway Investment Company 
Limited (“Investment Company”)

Guizhou Province, PRC Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Investment RMB400,000,000.00 95% 5% Incorporation

Guishen Company Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Infrastructure construction RMB500,000,000.00 – 70% Incorporation

Guizhou Land Company Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Land development RMB158,000,000.00 – 70% Incorporation

Shenzhen Expressway Property Management 
Company (“Property Company”)

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Property management RMB1,000,000.00 – 100% Incorporation

Environmental Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Environmental projects and 
advisory

RMB5,000,000,000.00 100% – Incorporation

JEL Company Hubei Province, PRC Cayman Islands Investment holding USD30,000,000.00 – 100% Business combinations 
involving enterprises under 
common control

Hubei Magerk Expressway Management Co., 
LTD. (“Magerk Company”)

Hubei Province, PRC Hubei Province, PRC Toll road operation USD28,000,000.00 – 100% Business combinations 
involving enterprises under 
common control

Qinglian Company(b) Qingyuan City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Qingyuan City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB3,361,000,000.00 51.37% 25% Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Shenzhen Expressway Advertising Company 
(“Advertising Company”)

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Advertising agency RMB30,000,000.00 95% 5% Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Meiguan Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB332,400,000.00 100% – Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Mei Wah Company Hubei Province and 
Guangdong Province, PRC

Hong Kong Investment holding RMB823,012,897.00 100% – Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Maxprofit Company Guangdong Province, PRC British Virgin Islands Investment holding USD85,360,000.00 – 100% Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Airport-Heao Eastern Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB440,000,000.00 100% – Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Fameluxe Company Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding HKD10,000.00 – 100% Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Shenzhen Expressway Operation Development 
Co., LTD. (“Operation Development 
Company”)

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB30,000,000.00 95% 5% Incorporation

Qinglong Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB324,000,000.00 40% 10% Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Shenchang Company Changsha City, Hunan 
Province, PRC

Changsha City, Hunan 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB200,000,000.00 51% – Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Yichang Company Changde City, Hunan 
Province, PRC

Changde City, Hunan 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB345,000,000.00 100% – Business combinations 
involving enterprises not 
under common control

Shenzhen Expressway Construction Development 
Company Limited (“Construction and 
Development Company”)

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Infrastructure construction RMB30,000,000.00 95% 5% Incorporation
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Name of subsidiaries Place of main business Place of registration
Nature of business and 

principal activities Share capital

Equity interest (%)

Acquired through
 

Direct Indirect        
Shenshan Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, PRC
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Environment protection 
construction

RMB500,000,000.00 51% 49% Incorporation

Shenzhen Expressway (Guangzhou) Industrial 
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd(“Fund 
Management Company”)

Guangzhou City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Guangzhou City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Capital market services RMB10,000,000.00 95% 5% Incorporation

Coastal Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Toll road operation RMB4,600,000,000.00 100% – Business combination 
under the same control 
common control

Guizhou Shenzhen Expressway Investment Land 
Company (“Guishen Expressway Investment”)

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, PRC

Land development RMB1,000,000.00 – 70% Incorporation

Shenzhen Expressway Yijia Apartment 
Management Limited Company (“Shenzhen 
Expressway Yijia”)

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Apartment rental and 
management

RMB10,000,000.00 – 60% Incorporation

Guizhou Yefengrui Land Limited Company 
(“Yefengrui Land”)

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, China

Longli County, Guizhou 
Province, China

Land development RMB1,000,000.00 – 70% Incorporation

Shenzhen Expressway SUEZ Environment Limited 
Company (“SUEZ Environment”)

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, PRC

Environmental technology 
development consultation

RMB100,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Nanjing Wind Power Nanjing City, Jiangsu 
Province, PRC

Nanjing City, Jiangsu 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB357,142,900.00 – 51% Business combinations not 
under common control

Wulatehouqi Chifeng Ningfeng Wind Power 
Technology

Wulatehouqi City, Inner 
Mongolia Province, PRC

Wulatehouqi City, Inner 
Mongolia Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB1,000,000.00 – 51% Business combinations not 
under common control

Chifeng NanjingNingfeng Technology Ongniud Bannar, Chifeng 
City, Inner Mongolia Province, 
PRC

Ongniud Bannar, Chifeng 
City, Inner Mongolia Province, 
PRC

Manufacturing RMB2,000,000.00 – 51% Business combinations not 
under common control

Baotou Jinling Wind Power Technology Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB20,000,000.00 – 51% Business combinations not 
under common control

Xuanwei Nanfeng New Energy Xuanwei City, Yunnan 
Province, PRC

Xuanwei City, Yunnan 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB3,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Harbin Lingfeng New Energy Co., Ltd. Harbin City, Heilongjiang 
Province, PRC

Harbin City, Heilongjiang 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB5,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Wulian County Nanfeng New Energy Co., Ltd. Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB5,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Qing'an County Nanfeng New Energy Technology 
Co., Ltd.

Suihua City, Heilongjiang 
Province, PRC

Suihua City, Heilongjiang 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB5,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Wulian County Pengguang New Energy Co., Ltd. Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB2,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Wulian Ningxu New Energy Co., Ltd. Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Rizhao City,Shandong 
Province, PRC

Manufacturing RMB2,000,000.00 – 51% Incorporation

Baotou Nanfeng(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB6,000,000.00 67% – Business combinations not 
under common control

Baotou Lingxiang New Energy Co. LTD(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB80,000,000.00 – 67% Business combinations not 
under common control

Damaoqi Nanchuan Wind Power Co. LTD(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB1,000,000.00 – 67% Business combinations not 
under common control

Damaoqi Ningyuan Wind Power Co. LTD(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB1,000,000.00 – 67% Business combinations not 
under common control

Damaoqi Ningxiang Wind Power Co. LTD(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB1,000,000.00 – 67% Business combinations not 
under common control

Damaoqi Ningfeng Wind Power Co. LTD(a) Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Baotou City, Inner Mongolia 
Province, PRC

Wind Power RMB1,000,000.00 – 67% Business combinations not 
under common control

(a) New consolidated subsidiary in 2019, see Note VI.1 for details

VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(1) Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(2) Significant partly-owned subsidiaries

31 December 2019

Name of subsidiaries

Equity interest 
held by minority 

interests

Net profit 
attributable 
to minority 

shareholders for the 
year

Dividend declared 
by subsidiaries 
to the minority 

shareholders for the 
year

Shareholder 
investment 
withdrawn

New business 
combination

Minority interests 
as at 31 December 

2019       
Qinglian Company 23.63% 30,233,579.95 – – – 680,396,142.99
Guishen Company 30.00% 92,043,926.93 – – – 344,028,762.08
Qinglong Company 50.00% -151,245,759.94 -150,000,000.00 – – 796,356,226.42
Shenchang Company 49.00% 40,918,233.03 – -33,214,845.87 – 158,424,582.87
Nanjing Wind Power 49.00% 31,985,476.89 – – 340,079,431.63 372,064,908.52       
Total / 43,935,456.86 -150,000,000.00 -33,214,845.87 340,079,431.63 2,351,270,622.88       

31 December 2018

Name of subsidiaries
Equity interest held by 

minority interests

Net profit attributable 
to minority 

shareholders for the 
year

Dividend declared by 
subsidiaries to the 

minority shareholders 
for the year

Shareholder 
investment 
withdrawn

New business 
combination

Minority interests as 
at 31 December 2018       

Qinglian Company 23.63% 26,482,934.01 – – – 650,162,563.04
Guishen Company 30.00% 29,388,054.16 -1,494,904.48 – – 251,984,835.15
Qinglong Company 50.00% 49,890,350.36 – -92,186,499.92 – 1,097,601,986.36
Shenchang Company 49.00% 34,727,432.81 – – -52,823,756.08 150,721,195.71       
Total / 140,488,771.34 -1,494,904.48 -92,186,499.92 -52,823,756.08 2,150,470,580.26       
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(3) Main financial information of significant partly-owned subsidiaries

Name of subsidiaries

31 December 2019 

Current assets
Non-current 

assets Total assets
Current

 liabilities
Non-current 

liabilities Total liabilities       

Qinglian Company 145,272,948.91 6,717,582,286.12 6,862,855,235.03 306,424,129.32 3,680,117,647.03 3,986,541,776.35
Guishen Company 1,959,179,316.17 52,827,347.96 2,012,006,664.13 865,244,123.96 – 865,244,123.96
Qinglong Company 85,063,882.24 2,649,734,125.26 2,734,798,007.50 160,557,827.55 981,527,727.10 1,142,085,554.65
Shenchang Company 71,149,442.64 356,756,480.26 427,905,922.90 104,640,225.29 127,161.18 104,767,386.47
Nanjing Wind Power 2,061,637,929.15 93,961,656.09 2,155,599,585.24 1,372,128,875.12 24,154,570.28 1,396,283,445.40       

Name of subsidiaries

31 December 2018 

Current assets
Non-current 

assets Total assets
Current 

liabilities
Non-current 

liabilities Total liabilities       

Qinglian Company 93,322,579.79 6,978,215,443.47 7,071,538,023.26 258,053,857.66 4,065,116,453.64 4,323,170,311.30
Guishen Company 1,874,469,325.70 53,138,767.22 1,927,608,092.92 1,087,658,642.52 – 1,087,658,642.52
Qinglong Company 117,154,434.51 3,527,256,810.02 3,644,411,244.53 266,045,115.23 1,183,162,156.57 1,449,207,271.80
Shenchang Company 43,631,081.10 300,557,640.04 344,188,721.14 36,771,383.02 – 36,771,383.02       
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(3) Main financial information of significant partly-owned subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

Revenue Net (loss)/profit

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Net cash flows 
from operating 

activities     

Qinglian Company 840,343,568.52 127,945,746.72 127,945,746.72 640,086,081.16
Guishen Company 680,655,214.65 306,813,089.77 306,813,089.77 -411,319,538.50
Qinglong Company 658,484,578.21 -302,491,519.88 -302,491,519.88 381,510,016.71
Shenchang Company 165,556,111.94 83,506,598.03 83,506,598.03 116,565,862.20
Nanjing Wind Power (a) 511,125,563.54 65,276,483.45 65,276,483.45 -329,781,805.07     

Name of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

Revenue Net (loss)/profit

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Net cash flows 
from operating 

activities     

Qinglian Company 764,016,571.34 112,073,355.95 112,073,355.95 591,354,427.23
Guishen Company 411,902,608.75 97,959,760.00 97,959,760.00 254,086,763.35
Qinglong Company 641,636,907.04 99,780,700.72 99,780,700.72 462,116,780.65
Shenchang Company 145,021,623.54 70,872,311.86 70,872,311.86 95,248,934.51     

(a) As Nanjing Wind Power became the Company’s subsidiary on 8 April 2019, the financial information only includes the data from 8 April 
2019 to 31 December 2019.
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

1. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(4) Substantial restriction to the usage of assets or the settlement of liabilities of the Group

As at 31 December 2019, there was no substantial restriction which prohibited the usage of assets or the 
settlement of liabilities of the Group (31 December 2018: Nil).

2. Interests in associates

Particulars of the Company’s associates are as follows:

Place of incorporation Place of registration Principal activities Issued capital (RMB)

Percentage of shares 
held by the Company 

(%)

Accounting method
 

Direct Indirect        
Consulting Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Engineering consulting 

service 18,750,000.00 24 – Equity method
Huayu Company Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Toll road operation

150,000,000.00 40 – Equity method
Jiangzhong Company Guangdong Province, China Guangzhou City, 

Guangdong Province, 
China

Toll road operation

1,110,000,000.00 25 – Equity method
Nanjing Third Bridge 

Company
Nanjing City, Jiangsu 

Province, China
Nanjing City, Jiangsu 

Province, China
Toll road operation

1,080,000,000.00 25 – Equity method
Yangmao Company Guangdong Province, China Guangzhou City, 

Guangdong Province, 
China

Toll road operation

200,000,000.00 25 – Equity method
GZ W2 Company Guangzhou City, 

Guangdong Province, 
China

Guangzhou City, 
Guangdong Province, 
China

Toll road operation

1,000,000,000.00 25 – Equity method
Guangyun Company Guangdong Province, China Yunfu City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Toll road operation

10,000,000.00 30 – Equity method
Guizhou Hengtongli Longli County, Guizhou 

Province, China
Longli County, Guizhou 

Province, China
Real estate development

52,229,945.55 – 49 Equity method
United Land Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 

Province, China
Real estate development

714,285,714.29 34.30 – Equity method
Bank of Guizhou(a) Guiyang City, Guizhou 

Province, China
Guiyang City, Guizhou 

Province, China
Financial service

14,588,046,744.00 2.92 0.52 Equity method
Derun Environment Chongqing City, China Chongqing City, China Environment 

improvement and 
resources recovery 1,000,000,000.00 – 20 Equity method

(a) The Group appoints a director to the board of directors of the Bank of Guizhou, which has a significant impact on its operating and 
financial decisions.
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

2. Interests in associates (continued)

(1) Financial information of a material associate

The Group's important associates include Derun Environment and United Land Company, which are accounted 
for using the equity method. The following table lists the financial information of the above important associates. 
These financial information adjusted all accounting policy differences and adjusted to the carrying amount of this 
financial statement:

2019

Item

Derun 
Environment 

(Notes 1)
United Land 

(Note 2)   

Current assets 8,774,191,466.35 12,144,640,551.27
Of which: cash and cash equivalents 3,814,983,093.60 1,185,142,641.81
Non-current assets 29,572,544,964.32 389,179.64   

Total assets 38,346,736,430.67 12,145,029,730.91   

Current liabilities 8,366,837,442.13 5,401,949,479.48
Non-current liabilities 8,416,187,469.53 2,332,000,000.00   

Total liabilities 16,783,024,911.66 7,733,949,479.48   

Non-controlling interest 9,972,920,906.84 –
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 11,590,790,612.17 4,411,080,251.43
Net assets shared by proportion of equity holding 2,318,158,122.43 1,513,000,526.25   

Adjustment items 2,206,898,136.52 -121,430,719.95
Goodwill 1,462,953,999.22 –
Premium of appraisal on non-current assets 743,944,137.30 –
Unrealized profits from internal transactions – -121,430,719.95   

Book value of the equity investment 4,525,056,258.95 1,391,569,806.30   

Revenue 10,021,925,093.24 4,067,148,180.06
Income tax expense 216,356,467.47 337,026,750.48
Net profit/(loss) 2,248,369,209.90 1,034,606,269.51
Net profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent (Note 1) 1,157,182,155.33 1,034,606,269.51
Other comprehensive income 304,234,732.73 –
Post-tax other comprehensive income attributable to  

owners of the parent 152,231,454.39 –
Total comprehensive income 2,552,603,942.63 1,034,606,269.51
Dividend received 116,000,000.00 –   
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

2. Interests in associates (continued)

(1) Financial information of a material associate (continued)

2018

Item Derun Environment United Land   

Current assets 9,242,290,347.80 7,803,774,943.70
Non-current assets 23,770,923,185.35 30,219,515.40   

Total assets 33,013,213,533.15 7,833,994,459.10   

Current liabilities 6,615,202,263.71 3,057,520,477.18
Non-current liabilities 6,691,348,460.44 1,400,000,000.00   

Total liabilities 13,306,550,724.15 4,457,520,477.18   

Non-controlling interest 9,081,990,816.99 –
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 10,624,671,992.01 3,376,473,981.92
Net assets shared by proportion of equity holding 2,124,934,398.40 1,158,130,575.80   

Adjustment items 2,286,638,704.16 -143,522,700.75
Goodwill 1,462,953,999.22 –
Premium of appraisal on non-current assets 840,014,704.94 –
Differences on accounting policies -16,330,000.00 –
Unrealized profits from internal transactions – -143,522,700.75   

Book value of the equity investment 4,411,573,102.56 1,014,607,875.05   

Revenue 8,616,218,232.10 –
Income tax expense 212,974,859.70 –
Net profit/(loss) 1,943,814,517.84 -13,637,069.17
Net profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent (Note 1) 1,020,708,167.89 -13,637,069.17
Other comprehensive income -7,864,122.06 –
Post-tax other comprehensive income attributable to  

owners of the parent -3,935,010.08 –
Total comprehensive income 1,936,425,095.43 -13,637,069.17
Dividend received 146,400,000.00 –   

Note 1: The Group shares the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company of Derun Environment in the proportion of 
20%, and after deducting the premium of RMB41,796,243.24 for amortization of premiums for the year, the Group recognizes 
the investment income of RMB193,467,531.92 for Derun Environment. The Group shared the net after-tax of RMB34,331,355.67 
of other comprehensive income attributable to the shareholders of the parent company of Derun Environment in accordance with 
the 20% shareholding, and confirmed that the capital reserve of Derun Environment was RMB1,684,268.80. See details in Note 
V.14.

Note 2: The Group shares the net profit attributable to the shareholders of United Land in accordance with the 34.3% shareholding ratio. 
This year, it recognized the investment income of United Land for RMB354,869,950.44, and at the same time transferred back 
the realized profit portion of RMB22,091,980.80 in accordance with the proportion of properties sold by United Land. For details, 
please refer to Note V.14.
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VII. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

2. Interests in joint ventures or associates (continued)

(2) Main financial information of associates that are not material

Item 2019 2018   

Associates:
Total book value of investment 2,789,663,276.48 2,432,927,520.00
Sub-total amount of the following items calculated in the Group’s 

equity proportion in associates:
– Net profit 351,346,818.03 364,561,010.10
– Other comprehensive income -1,175,383.96 8,375,513.47
– Total comprehensive income 350,171,434.07 372,936,523.57   

– Movement of capital reserve – 15,082,210.98   

Except for the important associates listed in (1), during the current year, the directors of the Company considered 
that the Group has no material joint ventures or associates (2018: the same) as the investment income/(loss) from 
associates did not exceed 10% of the Group’s total profit for the respective period and, the net book value of 
long-term equity investments from joint ventures and associates did not exceed 5% of the total net assets of the 
Group.

(3) Explanation to substantial restriction on transferring funds between the Group and associates

As at 31 December 2019, there was no substantial restriction on transferring funds between the Group and 
associates (31 December 2018: Nil).
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS

1. Financial instruments by category

The Carrying amounts of each Category of financial instruments as at the date of financial position are as follows:

2019

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Measured at 
amortized cost Total

 

 Item
Required by 

standard Appointed     

Cash – – 4,733,118,401.80 4,733,118,401.80
Transactional financial liabilities 62,689,444.00 – – 62,689,444.00
Notes receivable – – 9,895,060.34 9,895,060.34
Accounts receivable – – 722,266,920.82 722,266,920.82
Contract assets – – 450,892,553.87 450,892,553.87
Other receivables – – 374,186,451.62 374,186,451.62
Current portion of non-current 

assets – – 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19
Long-term receivables – – 339,110,117.99 339,110,117.99
Other non-current financial assets – 217,939,080.00 – 217,939,080.00     

Financial liabilities

Item
Measured at 

amortized cost Total   

Short-term borrowings 361,456,200.24 361,456,200.24
Notes payable 131,749,731.69 131,749,731.69
Accounts payable 970,759,025.09 970,759,025.09
Other payables 3,015,875,682.79 3,015,875,682.79
Long-term payable 2,217,015,191.85 2,217,015,191.85
Current portion of non-current liabilities 376,731,942.59 376,731,942.59
Long-term borrowings 9,031,815,479.53 9,031,815,479.53
Bonds payable 4,676,256,207.56 4,676,256,207.56
Lease liabilities 118,269,744.66 118,269,744.66   
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

1. Financial Instruments by category (continued)

The Carrying amounts of each Category of financial instruments as at the date of financial position are as follows: 
(continued)

2018

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Measured at 
amortized cost Total

 

Item 
Required by 

standard Appointed     

Cash – – 4,226,691,084.07 4,226,691,084.07
Transactional financial liabilities 45,103,194.00 – – 45,103,194.00
Accounts receivable – – 174,639,116.34 174,639,116.34
Contract assets – – 166,842,230.65 166,842,230.65
Other receivables – – 1,580,256,204.51 1,580,256,204.51
Current portion of non-current 

assets – – 22,548,751.19 22,548,751.19
Other current assets – – 200,000,000.00 200,000,000.00
Long-term receivables – – 160,973,492.73 160,973,492.73
Other non-current financial assets – 180,438,820.00 – 180,438,820.00     

Financial liabilities

 Item 
Measured at 

amortized cost Total   

Short-term borrowings 117,424,819.20 117,424,819.20
Accounts payable 714,905,820.77 714,905,820.77
Other payables 2,396,828,896.75 2,396,828,896.75
Current portion of non-current liabilities 279,574,031.57 279,574,031.57
Long-term borrowings 8,892,735,993.43 8,892,735,993.43
Bonds payable 4,632,920,008.39 4,632,920,008.39   
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

2. Transfer of financial assets

Transferred financial assets that have been derecognised as a whole but continue to be involved

On 31 December 2019, the book value of bank acceptance bills discounted by Nanjing Wind Power was 
RMB100,000,000.00. The Group believes that almost all the risks and rewards related to bills receivable have 
been transferred at the time of discounting, which meets the conditions for derecognition of financial assets. 
Therefore, the relevant bills receivable are derecognized at the discount date based on their book values. If the 
bill of exchange is due to be rejected by the acceptor, the discounter has the right to recourse from the Group 
("continue to participate"). The maximum losses and undiscounted cash flows that continue to be involved in 
and repurchase are equal to their book values. The Group believes that continuing involvement in fair value is not 
significant.

On 31 December 2019, Nanjing Wind Power endorsed the supplier's bank acceptance bills for settlement of 
accounts payable with a carrying value of RMB6,200,000.00, and Baotou Nanfeng endorsed the supplier's bank 
acceptance bill for settlement of accounts payable. The book value was RMB551,000.00. As of December 31 
2019, its maturity date is 1 to 12 months. According to the relevant provisions of the Bills Act, if the accepting 
bank refuses to pay, its holders have the right to recourse from the Group ("continue to participate in "). The 
Group believes that the Group has transferred almost all of its risks and rewards, and therefore derecognised 
the book value of it and the related payable accounts. The maximum losses and undiscounted cash flows that 
continue to be involved in and repurchase are equal to their book values. The Group believes that continuing 
involvement in fair value is not significant.

In 2019, the Group has not recognized gains or losses on its transfer date. The Group has no reason to continue 
to be involved in the current year of the financial assets that have been derecognized and the accumulatively 
recognized gains or expenses.

3. Risks of financial instruments

The Group is faced with risks of various financial instruments in daily activities, which mainly include credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk (including exchange rate risk and interest rate risk). The Group's risk management 
policy is outlined below. The main financial instruments of the Group include monetary funds, loans and 
receivables, financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value and their changes recorded in profit or loss for the 
current year, financial instruments available for sale, loans, payables and bonds payable, etc. The risks associated 
with these instruments and the risk management strategies adopted by the Group to mitigate these risks are 
described below.
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

The board of directors shall be responsible for planning and establishing the risk management framework of 
the Group, formulating the Group's risk management policies and relevant guidelines, and supervising the 
implementation of risk management measures. The Group has developed risk management policies to identify 
and analyze risks faced by the Group. These risk management policies specify specific risks and cover many aspects 
such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk management. The Group periodically evaluates changes in the 
market environment and the Group's business activities to determine whether to update risk management policies 
and systems. The risk management of the Group shall be carried out by the risk management committee in 
accordance with the policies approved by the board of directors. The risk management committee works closely 
with other business units of the group to identify, assess and mitigate risks. The internal audit department of the 
Group conducts regular audits on risk management control and procedures and reports the audit results to the 
Group's audit committee.

The Group diversifies the risks of financial instruments through appropriate diversification of investments and 
business portfolios, and reduces the risk of concentration in any single industry, specific region or specific 
counterparty by formulating appropriate risk management policies.

Credit risk

The Group deals only with recognized and reputable third parties. In accordance with the Group's policy, all 
customers requiring credit transactions are subject to credit audits. In addition, the Group continuously monitors 
the balance of accounts receivable to ensure that the Group does not face significant risk of bad debts. For 
transactions that are not settled in the accounting base currency of the relevant business units, the Group will not 
provide conditions for credit transactions unless the Group's credit control department specifically approves them.

Because the counterparty of currency funds and bills receivable is a bank with good reputation and a high credit 
rating, the credit risk of these financial instruments is low.

Other financial assets of the Group include monetary funds, creditor's rights investments and other receivables. 
The credit risk of these financial assets originates from the default of the counterparty. The maximum risk 
exposure is equal to the book value of these instruments.
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk increases judgment criteria significantly

The Group assesses whether the credit risk of the relevant financial instruments has increased significantly since 
the initial confirmation at each date of the statement of financial position. In determining whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since the initial recognition, the Group considers that reasonable and valid information, 
including qualitative and quantitative analysis based on the Group's historical data, external credit risk rating 
and forward-looking information, can be obtained without undue cost or effort. Based on a single financial 
instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments with similar credit risk characteristics, the Group compares the 
risk of default of financial instruments on the date of statement of financial position. with the risk of default on 
the initial recognition date to determine the change of default Risks of financial instruments during the expected 
lifetime.

When triggering one or more of the following quantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes that the 
credit risks of financial instruments has increased significantly,

• Quantitative criteria are that the probability of default of the remaining duration of the reporting day rises 
by more than a certain proportion compared with the initial recognition.

• Qualitative criteria include major adverse changes in the debtor's business or financial situation, early 
warning list of customers, etc.

• The upper limit is that the debtor's contract payments (including principal and interest) are more than 30 
days overdue.

Definition of assets with impaired credit

In order to determine whether credit impairment occurs, the defining criteria adopted by the Group are consistent 
with the internal objectives of credit risk management for the relevant financial instruments, taking into account 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. In assessing whether the debtor has suffered credit impairment, the Group 
mainly considers the following factors:

• Major financial difficulties faced by the issuer or debtor;

• The debtor breaches the contract, such as paying interest on defaulting or overdue principal, etc.

• The creditor gives the debtor concessions in no other case for economic or contractual considerations 
related to the debtor's financial difficulties;

• The debtor is likely to go bankrupt or undergo other financial restructuring;

• The financial difficulties of the issuer or debtor lead to the disappearance of the active market of the 
financial assets;

• To purchase and derive a financial asset at a substantial discount, which reflects the fact that credit losses 
occur.

The occurrence of credit impairment in financial assets may be the result of a combination of multiple events, not 
necessarily those that can be identified separately.
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Parameters for Measuring Expected Credit Losses

Depending on whether credit risk has increased significantly and whether credit impairment has occurred, the 
Group measures impairment provision for different assets with the expected credit loss for 12 months or the 
whole life period, respectively. The key parameters for anticipated credit loss measurement include default 
probability, default loss rate and default risk exposure. Considering the quantitative analysis and forward-looking 
information of historical statistical data (such as counterparty ratings, guarantees and collateral types, repayment 
methods, etc.), the Group establishes a default probability, default loss rate and default risk exposure model.

The relevant definitions are as follows:

• The probability of default refers to the possibility that the debtor will not be able to fulfil its obligation 
to pay in the next 12 months or throughout the remaining period. The default probability of the Group 
is adjusted on the basis of the expected credit loss model, and forward-looking information is added to 
reflect the default probability of the debtor under the current macroeconomic environment.

• The default loss rate refers to the Group's expectation of the extent of loss from exposure to default risk. 
According to the type of counterparty, the way and priority of recourse, and the different collateral, the 
loss rate of breach of contract is also different. The default loss rate is the percentage of risk exposure loss 
at the time of default, which is calculated on the basis of the next 12 months or the whole duration.

• The default risk exposure is the amount that the Group should be repaid in the event of default in the next 
12 months or throughout the remaining period.

The assessment of significant increases in credit risk and the calculation of expected credit losses involve 
forward-looking information. Through historical data analysis, the Group identifies key economic indicators that 
affect the credit risk and expected credit loss of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on default probability and default loss rate varies with different business 
types. In this process, the Group applies expert judgment to forecast these economic indicators quarterly based 
on the results of expert judgment, and through regression analysis to determine the impact of these economic 
indicators on default probability and default loss rate.
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group adopts a revolving liquidity plan tool to manage the risk of capital shortage. The tool takes into 
account both the maturity date of its financial instruments and the expected cash flow generated by the operation 
of the Group.

The Group's goal is to maintain a balance between the sustainability and flexibility of financing by using various 
means of financing, such as bank loans and other interest-bearing loans.

Subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their own cash flow forecasts. On the basis of summarizing the 
cash flow forecasts of subsidiaries, the Headquarters Finance Department continuously monitors the short-term 
and long-term capital needs at the group level to ensure the maintenance of adequate cash reserves and 
marketable securities that can be realized at any time; at the same time, it continuously monitors whether it 
meets the requirements of loan agreements and obtains credit lines from major financial institutions to meet the 
short-term and long-term capital needs. On the date of statement of financial position, the uncounted contract 
cash flows of the Group's financial liabilities are shown as follows:

The following table summarizes the maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
cash flows:

2019

Item Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 years Total      

Financial liabilities
Short-term loans 370,162,473.64 – – – 370,162,473.64
Bills payable 131,749,731.69 – – – 131,749,731.69
Accounts payable 970,759,025.09 – – – 970,759,025.09
Other accounts payable 3,019,015,161.98 – – – 3,019,015,161.98
Long-term payables 98,290,940.00 684,593,228.22 1,652,148,680.00 – 2,435,032,848.22
Non-current liabilities  

due within one year  
(Note 1) 391,275,533.44 – – – 391,275,533.44

Long-term loans 403,848,321.25 1,050,893,600.40 2,489,738,078.98 9,269,556,793.17 13,214,036,793.80
Bonds payable 181,491,925.00 3,274,351,925.00 1,715,842,200.00 – 5,171,686,050.00
Lease liabilities – 30,136,992.71 63,717,425.33 40,050,537.77 133,904,955.81      

Total 5,566,593,112.09 5,039,975,746.33 5,921,446,384.31 9,309,607,330.94 25,837,622,573.67      
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table summarizes the maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
cash flows: (continued)

2018

Item Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 years Total      

Financial liabilities
Short-term loans 117,985,914.13 – – – 117,985,914.13
Account payable 714,905,820.77 – – – 714,905,820.77
Other accounts payable 2,396,828,896.75 – – – 2,396,828,896.75
Non-current liabilities  

due within one year  
(Note 1) 287,789,992.30 – – – 287,789,992.30

Long-term loans 321,210,763.45 805,857,090.07 3,441,526,794.37 7,858,874,086.76 12,427,468,734.65
Bonds payable 180,517,300.00 180,517,300.00 4,955,319,500.00 – 5,316,354,100.00      

Total 4,019,238,687.40 986,374,390.07 8,396,846,294.37 7,858,874,086.76 21,261,333,458.60      

Note 1: Including long-term loans maturing within one year, long-term payables maturing within one year.

In view of the stable and abundant operating cash flows, sufficient credit lines and appropriate financing 
arrangements to meet debt repayment and capital expenditure, the management of the Group believes that there 
is no significant liquidity risk in the Group.



294 SHENZHEN EXPRESSWAY COMPANY LIMITED

2019
(RMB)

Notes to Financial Statements

VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates primarily relates to the Group’s long-term 
borrowing with floating interest rates.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity analysis of the impact (of floating rate borrowings) on the net profit 
when reasonable and possible fluctuations of interest rate occurred, under the assumption that other variables 
were held constant.

2019

 Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
Total 

increase/(decrease)
Item in basis points in net profit in equity    

RMB 100/(100)
(67,073,117.61)/ 

67,073,117.61
(67,073,117.61)/ 

67,073,117.61    

2018

Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
Total 

increase/(decrease)
Item in basis points in net profit in equity    

RMB 100/(100)
(66,600,950.65)/ 

66,600,950.65
(66,600,950.65)/ 

66,600,950.65    
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

3. Risks of financial instruments (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The following table provides a sensitivity analysis of exchange rate risk, reflecting the impact on net gains and 
losses (due to changes in the fair value of monetary and monetary liabilities) in the event of a reasonable and 
possible change in the exchange rates of the United States dollar and HKD under the assumption that all other 
variables on the date of statement of financial position remain constant.

2019

Exchange rate Net profit or loss
Total 

shareholders’ equity

Item
Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)

Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)

Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)    

Depreciation of RMBagainst USD 10% -3,350,265.13 -3,350,265.13
Appreciation of RMBagainst USD -10% 3,350,265.13 3,350,265.13
Depreciation of RMBagainst HKD 10% -3,277,600.19 -3,277,600.19
Appreciation of RMBagainst HKD -10% 3,277,600.19 -3,277,600.19    

2018

Exchange rate Net profit or loss
Total 

shareholders’ equity

Item 
Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)

Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)

Increase/(Decrease 
is shown with “-”)    

Depreciation of RMBagainst USD 10% -1,889,388.05 -1,889,388.05
Appreciation of RMBagainst USD -10% 1,889,388.05 1,889,388.05
Depreciation of RMBagainst HKD 10% 8,533,888.58 8,533,888.58
Appreciation of RMBagainst HKD -10% -8,533,888.58 -8,533,888.58    

The Group pays attention to research on exchange rate risk management policies and strategies. To avoid the 
exchange rate risk of repayment of the principal and interest of bonds payable in USD, the Group has entered 
into a Forex swap contract with the bank. For details, please refer to Note V.2.
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VIII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

4. Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ 
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, repurchase shares or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to 
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 
managing capital during the year ended 31 December 2019 and the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total assets. The 
Group’s debt-to-asset ratio as at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

Item 31 December 2019 31 December 2018   

Total assets 44,923,734,271.98 41,100,850,328.23
Total liabilities 24,200,462,012.14 21,561,097,600.88
Debt-to-asset ratio 53.87% 52.46%   

IX. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: Based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: In addition to the input value of the first level, the input value of the relevant asset or liability is directly 
or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the underlying asset or liability.
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IX. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

1. Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

2019

Fair value measurement using 

 
Quoted price in 
active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
Item Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total     

Consecutive fair value 
measurement

Transactional financial assets 62,689,444.00 – – 62,689,444.00
Other non-current financial 

assets – – 217,939,080.00 217,939,080.00     

Total 62,689,444.00 – 217,939,080.00 280,628,524.00     

2018

Fair value measurement using 

 
Quoted price in 
active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
Item Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total     

Consecutive fair value 
measurement     

Transactional financial assets 45,103,194.00 – – 45,103,194.00
Other non-current financial 

assets – – 180,438,820.00 180,438,820.00     

Total 45,103,194.00 – 180,438,820.00 225,542,014.00     

The fair value of the Group’s non-listed equity is estimated using the market method. The Group believes that the 
fair value and its changes based on valuation techniques are reasonable and are the most appropriate value on 31 
December 2019.

The Group entered into derivative financial instrument contracts with multiple counterparties (mainly with high 
credit rating financial institutions). The Group's derivative financial instruments are forward foreign exchange 
contracts. The fair value of the transactional financial assets held by the Group is determined based on the 
forward interest rate in the active markets as at 31 December 2019.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers 
into or out of Level 3.
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

1. General information of the parent company:

Name Place of registration Nature of business Registered capital Interest held Voting rights      

Shenzhen International Bermuda Investment holding HKD2,000,000,000.00 51.561% 51.561%

The parent company of the Company is Shenzhen Investment Holding Company, which is the controlling 
shareholder of Shenzhen International. The Company’s ultimate controlling party is Shenzhen SASAC.

2. Information about subsidiaries

The information about the subsidiaries is set out in Note VII.1.

3. Information about associates

The information about associates is set out in Note VII.2.

The situation of the associated enterprises that have related party transactions with the company in the current 
year or have related party transactions with the Company in the previous period is as follows:

Item Relationship with the Group  

Consulting Company Associate
Huayu Company Associate
Nanjing Third Bridge Company Associate
GZ W2 Company Associate
Jiangzhong Company Associate
Yangmao Company Associate
United Land Company Associate

4. Information about other related parties

Item Relationship with the Group  

Shenzhen Baotong Highway Construction and  
Development Limited (“Baotong Company”)

Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary

Shenzhen International Logistics Development Co., Ltd.  
(“Shenzhen International Logistics Company”)

Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary

Shenzhen International South-China Logistics Co., Ltd.  
(“SC Logistics Company”)

Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary

Guizhou Pengbo Investment Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou Pengbo”) Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary
Shenzhen Shen International Modern City Logistics Port Co., Ltd. Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary
Shenzhen Longda Expressway Company Limited  

(“Longda Company”)
Parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiary

Xin Tong Chan Company Shareholder of the Company
Union Electronics Others
Huayu Investment Group Others
Changsha Ring Road Construction and Development Co., Ltd. 

("Changsha Ring Road Company")
Others
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions

(1) Rendering of or receiving services

Procurement of goods/receipt of labor

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018    

United Electronic Company (a) Receiving integrated toll system 
settlement services 20,315,992.51 17,460,709.44

Consulting Company (b) Accepted project management 
services 18,839,298.70 64,662,557.21

Others (c) Receiving power supply services and 
others 320,289.30 350,693.52    

(a) The Guangdong Provincial People's Government has designated United Electronics to take charge of the sub-account management of 
highway tolls across the province and unified management of non-cash settlement systems. The Company and its subsidiaries have signed 
a series of agreements with United Electronic Company and entrusted it to provide toll settlement services for Meiguan Expressway, Jihe 
Expressway, Qinglian Expressway, Yanjiang Expressway and Shuiguan Expressway operated by the Group. The service periods end on the 
expiry dates of operating periods of the individual toll roads. The related service charges are determined by the commodity price bureau of 
the Guangdong Province.

(b) The Group has entered into management service contracts with Consulting Company to provide for construction consulting and testing 
services for the Outer Ring project and other roads of the Group.

(c) Advertising Company, a subsidiary of the Company, received the supply of water and electricity and power supply services for its 
advertising boards from SC Logistics Company, Xin Tong Chan Company, Huayu Company, Longda Company. The respective transaction 
amounts were not disclosed as they were not material.

Procurement of goods/receipt of labor

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018    

Others (a)
Supply water and electricity for 
office and others 1,682,612.26 1,316,451.50    

(a) The Group provides hydropower resource services and other services to Xintongchan Company, Huayu Investment Group, Huayu 
Company, United Electronics, Consulting Company, Shenzhen International and Longda Company. The hydropower resource service is 
calculated based on the price paid to the water supply and power supply agency. Because the amount is small, it is not listed separately.

(2) Transfer of assets to a related party

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018    

Shenzhen Shen International 
Modern City Logistics Port 
Co., Ltd. Land expropriation compensation – 7,620,000.00    
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions (continued)

(3) Related party trusteeship/contractual operation/situation of outsourcing

The company's entrusted management/contracting situation table:

Entrusting party Entrusted party
Type of 
entrustment

Date of the 
commencement of 
the trusteeship

Date of the 
termination of 
the trusteeship

The basis of 
pricing for 
the trusteeship

Custody income/
contracting 

income 
recognized 

during the year       

Baotong 
Company(a)

The Company Equity trusteeship 1 January 2019 31 December 2019 Negotiated price 8,273,584.90

The Company was entrusted by Baotong Company to operate and manage Longda Expressway based on an 
agreement of equity trusteeship. Renewed the entrusted management contract, the contract stipulates that the 
entrustment period is from January 1, 2019 to 31 December 2019. Pursuant to the agreement, the management 
service fee is RMB8,770,000.00 per year including tax. In the current period, the Company recognized revenue 
related to the transaction amounting to RMB8,273,584.90 (2018: RMB16,981,132.08).

(4) Related Leases

(a) As a lessor:

Item Assets leased 2019 2018    

Consulting and United Electronic Company 
Company Office building 440,838.12 656,122.21    

(b) As a lessee:

Item Assets leased 2019 2018    

Longda, Xintongchan, South China  
Logistics and Huayu

Billboard land use 
rights 823,154.84 3,150,451.59    

The individual transaction amounts were not disclosed as they were not material.
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions (continued)

(5) Remuneration of key management personnel

Item 2019 2018   

Remuneration of key management personnel 16,128,606.19 17,828,837.00   

Key management personnel include directors, supervisors and senior management personnel. The Company had a 
total of 21 members of key management personnel (2018: 24) during the year.

Note: The above table does not include: (a) Director Hu Wei and supervisor Wang Zengjin received bonuses of 
RMB161,800 and RMB370,200 in 2018; (b) Directors Liao Xiangwen, Wen Liang and senior managers 
Gong Taotao and Sun Ce, Huang Binan, Wen Powei, Zhao Guiping, Chen Shouyi, and Luo Yan received 
the long-term incentive bonuses that should be issued in 2018 and received in 2019.The pre-tax amounts 
were 386,600 yuan, 117,700 yuan, 197,300 yuan, and 343,500 yuan., 358,800 yuan, 358,800 yuan, 
158,800 yuan, 113,200 yuan and 358,800 yuan.

(a) Remuneration of directors and supervisors

The remuneration of each director and supervisor in 2019 is as follows:

Name Remuneration Wages Bonuses Total     

Hu Wei* – 708,000.00 292,000.00 1,000,000.00
Liao Xiangwen* – 741,000.00 573,000.00 1,314,000.00
Wen Liang* – 292,860.00 572,875.00 865,735.00
Wang Zengjin* 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Cai Shuguang 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Wen zhaohua 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Chen Xiaolu 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Bai hua – 249,364.00 175,775.00 425,139.00
Xin Jian* – 249,364.00 175,775.00 425,139.00     
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions (continued)

(5) Remuneration of key management personnel (continued)

(a) Remuneration of directors and supervisors (continued)

The remuneration of each director and supervisor in 2018 is as follows:

Name Remuneration Wages Bonuses Total     

Hu Wei* – 708,000.00 782,000.00 1,490,000.00
Liao Xiangwen* – 585,500.00 855,200.00 1,440,700.00
Wu Yade (resigned)* – 660,800.00 735,100.00 1,395,900.00
Wang Zengjin* – 623,000.00 803,000.00 1,426,000.00
Cai Shuguang 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Wen zhaohua 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Chen Xiaolu 210,000.00 – – 210,000.00
Bai hua 188,137.00 – – 188,137.00
Xin Jian* – 193,500.00 258,900.00 452,400.00     

* Remuneration of directors and supervisors has been reflected in the remuneration of key management personnel.

During the year, the meeting allowance (before tax) for Chairman Hu Wei, Executive Director and President 
Liao Xiangwen(Executive Director since March 2019), Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer Wen Liang, 
Directors Chen Yan, Chen Yuanjun, Fan Zhiyong, Chen Kai, Cai Shuguang, Wen Zhaohua, Chen Xiaolu, Bai Hua, 
and Supervisors Wang Zengjin and Xin Jian was RMB8,000.00, RMB12,000.00, RMB9,500.00, RMB9,000.00, 
RMB8,000.00, RMB9,000.00, RMB9,000.00, RMB10,000.00, RMB12,000.00, RMB11,000.00, RMB11,000.00, 
RMB8,000.00, RMB8,000.00, respectively. Among them, Chairman Hu Wei, Executive Director and President Liao 
Xiangwen, Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer Wen Liang, Directors Chen Yan, Chen Yuanjun, Fan 
Zhiyong, Chen Kai and Supervisor Wang Znegjin waived the meeting allowance receivable for the year.

During the year, Chairman Hu Wei, Executive Director and President Liao Xiangwen, Executive Director and Chief 
Financial Officer Wen Liang(Executive Director since March 2019), Supervisor Wang Zengjin and Xin Jian were 
entitled to the pension scheme contributions of RMB123,349.00 (2018: RMB156,415.56), RMB122,761.00 (2018: 
RMB145,220.56), RMB45,023.00 (2018: RMB0), RMB120,195.00 (2018: RMB143,629.56) and RMB37,648.00 
(2018: RMB58,824.12), respectively.

In addition, Chairman Hu Wei, Executive Director and President Liao Xiangwen, Executive Director and Chief 
Financial Officer Wen Liang(Executive Director since March 2019), Supervisor Wang Zengjin and Xin Jian also 
obtained other benefits and allowances, including medical care contribution and others, with amounts of 
RMB110,097.06 (2018: RMB79,184.44), RMB110,097.06 (2018: RMB79,179.44), RMB55,275.52 (2018: RMB0), 
RMB110,847.06 (2018:RMB79,970.44) and RMB99,727.43 (2018: RMB64,975.88), respectively.
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions (continued)

(5) Remuneration of key management personnel (continued)

(b) The top five highest paid members of the management team

During the year, the top five highest paid members of the Group including 2 director and supervisor (2018: 
2 directors), whose remuneration was reflected in the above table. The total amount of remuneration of the 
remaining 3 highest paid members (2018: 3) is as follows:

Item 2019 2018   

Basic salary, bonus, housing subsidy and other subsidies 4,239,307.18 4,942,082.32
Pension 349,128.00 427,117.68   

Total 4,588,435.18 5,369,200.00   

 2019 2018   

Salary range:
HKD0 to1,000,000 – –
HKD1,000,001 to 1,500,000 – –
HKD1,500,001 to 2,000,000 3 1
HKD2,000,001 and above – 2   

(6) Borrowings from/to related parties

Borrowings from related parties: 

Related party
Amount of 

borrowings
Annual 

interest rate Inception date Due date      

GZ W2 Company (a) Note V.32(v) 67,500,000.00 4.275% 2018/9/30 2021/9/20
GZ W2 Company (b) Note V.32(v) 37,500,000.00 4.275% 2019/12/26 2022/11/28
Jiangzhong Company (c) Note V.32(v) 60,000,000.00 3.915% 2018/11/27 2023/11/27
Xin Tong Chan Company(d) / 2,000,000,000.00 4.35% 2019/4/26 2019/4/30
United Land Company(e) / 277,830,000.00 3.65% 2019/4/23 2020/4/22
United Land Company(f) Note V.34(b) 514,500,000.00 3.65% 2019/8/1 2022/7/24
United Land Company(f) Note V.34(b) 328,800,000.00 3.65% 2019/10/29 2022/7/24
United Land Company(f) Note V.34(b) 220,000,000.00 3.65% 2019/11/27 2022/7/24
United Land Company(f) Note V.34(b) 555,660,000.00 3.65% 2019/12/24 2022/7/24

(a) In September 2018, the Company signed an entrusted loan contract with Guangzhou West Second Ring Company 
and Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Miaoqian Straight Street Sub-branch. 
Guangzhou West Second Ring Company entrusted the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Guangzhou 
Miaoqian Straight Street Sub-branch to issue entrusted loans of RMB67,500,000.00 to the Company. The loan 
will be used for the daily business activities of the Company. The loan term is 3 years and the annual interest rate 
of the loans is 10% lower than the benchmark interest rate for the corresponding term of the loans announced 
by the People's Bank of China on the withdrawal date. During the year, the Company confirmed the relevant 
interest expense of RMB2,925,702.93.
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

5. Related party transactions (continued)

(6) Borrowings from/to related parties (continued)

(b) In December 2019, the company signed an entrusted loan contract with Guangzhou West Second Ring Company 
and Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Guangzhou Miaoqian Zhijie Sub-branch. The Guangzhou West 
Second Ring Company entrusted the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Guangzhou Miaoqian Zhijie Sub-
branch to issue an entrusted loan of RMB37,500,000.00 to the Company This will be used for the company's daily 
business activities. The loan is 3 years, and the annual interest rate of the loan is 10% lower than the benchmark 
loan interest rate of the corresponding term announced by the People's Bank of China on the date of withdrawal. 
During the year, the company confirmed interest expenses of RMB26,718.95 for this loan.

(c) In November 2018, the Company signed an entrusted loan contract with Jiangzhong Company and Industrial 
and Commercial Bank of China Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Ring City Sub-branch. Jiangzhong Company entrusted 
the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Guangzhou Ring City Sub-branch to issue entrusted loan of 
RMB60,000,000.00 to the Company. The loan will be used for the daily procurement of materials for the 
maintenance and repair of road pavements and facilities. The term of the loan is 5 years, and the annual 
interest rate of the loan is 10% lower than the benchmark one-year term loan interest rate announced by the 
People's Bank of China on the date of withdrawal. During the year, the Company confirmed interest expense of 
RMB2,381,625.00 for this loan.

(d) In April 2019, the Company signed a loan contract with Xin Tong Chan Company, and the contract stipulated 
that Xin Tong Chan Company would lend RMB2,000,000,000.00 to the Company. The amount will be used to 
inject capital into Coastal Company, and the loan term is not more than one month. The annual interest rate of 
the loan is the one-year loan benchmark interest rate announced by the People's Bank of China. In the current 
period, the Company confirmed the relevant interest expense of RMB710,301.37.

(e) In April 2019, the Company and United Land Company signed a loan agreement, which stipulated that United 
Land company provided borrowings of RMB277,830,000.00 to the Company. The loan period is one year and the 
annual interest rate of the loan is 3.65%. In the current period, the Company acknowledged the relevant interest 
expense of RMB7,029,099.00.

(f) In July 2019, the Company and United Land Company signed a loan agreement, which stipulated that United 
Land Company provided borrowings of not exceeding RMB2,058 million to the Company. The loan period is three 
year and the annual interest rate of the loan is 3.65%. In the current period, the Company acknowledged the 
relevant interest expense of RMB11,148,698.00.

(7) Other related party transactions

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2019 2018    
Shenzhen International United 

Land Company Reduced capital 644,706.26 45,048,752.66
Shenzhen International United 

Land Company Interest on reduced capital – 2,205,000,000.00
Shenzhen International United 

Land Company Property compensation of Meiguan – 225,087,871.50
Shenzhen International 

Logistics Company Logistics land compensation – 2,134,260.50    

* The related transactions mentioned above in items (2), (3), (4.(b)) and (7) also constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

6. Receivables due from and payables due to related parties

(1) Receivable items

31 December 2019 31 December 2018  

Item Related parties
Ending 

balance
Provision for 

bad debts
Ending 

balance
Provision for 

bad debts      

Accounts receivable Baotong Company 2,295,854.23 – 2,295,854.23 –
Accounts receivable Longda Company – – 1,298.18 –
Other receivables Longda Company 110,000.00 – 110,000.00 –
Other receivables Changsha Ring Road Company 88,556.58 – 88,556.58 –
Other receivables Consulting Company 84,050.00 – 84,050.00 –
Other receivables Huayu Company 20,000.00 – 20,000.00 –
Other receivables United Land Company – – 606,662,489.40 –
Advances Consulting Company 1,248,751.13 – 4,693,984.06 –
Advances United Electronic Company 60,526.80 – – –
Other non-current assets United Land Company 342,599,500.00 – 342,599,500.00 –      

(2) Payable items

Item Related parties 31 December 2019 31 December 2018    

Accounts payable Consulting Company 3,983,139.38 2,441,328.80
Accounts payable United Electronic Company 136,082.90 –
Accounts payable Xin Tong Chan Company 80,279.25 –
Accounts payable Longda company 40,916.69 27,900.00
Accounts payable Huayu Company 13,500.00 210,357.15
Accounts payable SC Logistics Company 2,107.80 1,607.80
Other payables United Land Company 296,007,797.00 –
Other payables Consulting Company 19,907,626.54 15,021,943.16
Other payables United Electronic Company 591,084.13 579,209.79
Other payables Guizhou Pengbo 515,680.55 610,216.91
Other payables Longda Company 458,985.21 –
Other payables West 2 Company 114,890.63 18,540,984.48
Other payables Jianzhong Company 71,775.00 71,775.00
Other payables Xin Tong Chan Company 5,000.00 5,000.00
Other payables Nanjing Third Bridge Company – 4,196,531.79
Long-term payables United Land Company 1,618,960,000.00 –    
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X. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

7. Commitments to related parties

The following table presents the commitment that had been contracted but not yet recognized on the statement 
of financial position:

(1) Receiving service

Item 31 December 2019 31 December 2018   

Consulting Company 22,106,438.74 37,948,165.44   

(2) Investment commitment

On 31 December 2019, the Group’s investment commitment to a related party were RMB537,085,914.05 
(2018: RMB698,500,000.00). The investment commitment is the Company’s commitment to increase capital for 
Yangmao’s renovation and expansion project.

(3) Equity acquisition commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no equity acquisition commitments.

XI. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

1. Significant commitments

In addition to the related party commitments disclosed in Note X.7, the important commitments of the Group are as 
follows:

(1) Capital commitments

(a) Capital commitments approved by management but not yet contracted at the end of the reporting period:

Item 31 December 2019 31 December 2018   

Expressway construction projects 2,424,579,036.04 2,516,026,680.10   

(b) Capital commitments contracted by management but not provided for at the end of the reporting period:

Item 31 December 2019 31 December 2018   

Real estate & highway development projects 2,593,259,206.36 3,496,089,939.74
Purchase payment 529,703,309.52 –   

Total 3,122,962,515.88 3,496,089,939.74   
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XI. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

1. Significant commitments (continued)

(2) Investment commitments

On 31 December 2019, in addition to the related party commitments disclosed in Note X.7, the Group had no 
investment commitments.

2. Contingencies

(1) Significant contingencies at the end of the reporting period:

(a) The Company was entrusted by the Shenzhen Committee of the Exchange to manage Nanping Project Phase 
II. According to the contractual construction entrusted management contract, the Company has provided the 
Shenzhen Committee of the Exchange with an irrevocable performance bank guarantee of RMB15,000,000.00.

(b) The Company was entrusted by the Longhua District Construction and Engineering Bureau of Shenzhen to carry 
out a "dual upgrade" comprehensive road improvement project – Da Fu Road (Gui Yue Road – Gui Xiang Road 
project) and Jianshe Road (Bu Long Road – East Second Ring Road) and the Longhua District Golf Boulevard 
(Guanlan Avenue – Huanguan nan Road) renovation project. According to the terms of the entrustment 
management contract, the Company has provided a non-cancellable performance bank guarantee letter of 
RMB50,170,000.00 to the Longhua District Construction and Engineering Bureau of Shenzhen.

(c) The Company was entrusted by the Shenzhen Transportation Utilities Management Office to manage four 
Highways (Nanguang, Yanba, Yanpai and Longda expressway) in 2019. According to the contractual construction 
entrusted management contract, the Company has provided the Shenzhen Transportation Utilities Management 
Office with an irrevocable performance bank guarantee of RMB9,710,000.00

(d) The Company was entrusted by the Shenzhen Ecological Environment Bureau to manage the Ecological Science 
and Technology Industrial Park Infrastructure and Supporting Projects of Shenzhen-Shantou special cooperation 
zone. According to the contractual construction entrusted management contract, the Company has provided the 
Shenzhen Ecological Environment Bureau with an irrevocable performance bank guarantee of RMB22,660,000.00

(e) As at 31 December 2019, the Group provided a stage-and-combined liability guarantee of RMB650,916,623.18 
to the bank for its house mortgage loans granted by the bank to the Group's property buyers. Under the terms 
of the guarantee, the Group is responsible for paying the outstanding mortgage loans and any accrued interest 
and penalties owed to the banks by the buyers in arrears if the buyers default in the mortgage payments and 
the Group can then receive legal ownership of the property. The Group's guarantee period expires from the date 
on which the bank granted the mortgage loan to acquire certain individual property ownership certificates from 
property buyers of the Group. Management believes that if the payment is in arrears, the net realisable value 
of the property is sufficient to cover the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and 
penalties, and no provision is made for these guarantees.
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XII. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. On 8 January 2020, Environmental Company(a subsidiary of the Company) and Bioland Environmental 
Technologies Corp.,Ltd. ("Bioland Environmental") and its original shareholders Zhengzhou Cida Environmental 
Protection Technology Co., LTD., Beijing Shuiqi Lande Technology Co., Ltd, ShiJunYing, ShiJunHua, jointly signed 
on the “Acquisition of Bioland Environmental Technologies Corp.,ltd. No more than 68.1045% shares of the 
Capital Increase and Share Transfer Agreement”. According to the agreement, the transaction will take place in 
two stages. In the first phase, Environmental Company will acquire a total of 12.5 million shares (53.2067% of 
the total share capital of the Company after the issuance of additional shares) by acquiring 40 million shares held 
by the seller and subscribing to the newly issued 85 million shares. In the second phase, the original shareholder 
shall transfer not more than 35 million shares of Bioland Environmental to the Environmental Company (subject to 
the number of shares transferred) no later than April 25, 2020 according to their actual situation. The above share 
transfer and issue price is RMB5.06 per share. Upon completion of the transaction, the company will eventually 
receive up to 16 million shares of Bioland Environmental, with a total consideration of up to RMB80.96 million 
and a shareholding of up to 68.1045%. On 20 January 2020, Environmental Company has acquired 12.5 million 
shares of Bioland Environmental, holding 53.2067%. Bioland Environmental has become the holding subsidiary of 
the Company.

2. On January 10, 2020, the board of directors reviewed and approved the proposal for the non-public issuance of 
no more than 300 million H shares with a par value of 1.00 yuan each. The issue object is proposed for Shenzhen 
International Holding Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company) and/or its designated subsidiaries 
other than the company and the company's holding subsidiaries, and other qualified investors of non-affiliated 
persons The aforesaid proposals need to be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting, the A-share class 
shareholders' meeting, and the H-share class shareholders' meeting for deliberation.

3. Since the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the prevention and control of the COVID-19 
has been going on throughout the country. On 15 February 2020, the Ministry of Transport issued the "Notice 
on exemption of Toll Road During COVID-19 Prevention and Control Period." The period of toll fees exemption 
is from 0:00 on 17 February 2020 to the end of the epidemic prevention and control work. The Group's highway 
revenue in 2020 is expected to be adversely affected by the toll-free policy. At the same time, the Ministry of 
Transport stated that relevant supporting policies will be issued to protect the legitimate rights and interests of 
toll road users, creditors, investors and operators. As at the date of this report, the relevant supporting policies 
have not been issued. Due to the inability to determine the end time of the epidemic and related supporting 
safeguard policies, it is temporarily impossible to estimate the amount of impact of this event on the Group.

4. Pursuant to the general mandate for the issuance of bond financing instruments granted to the Board by the 
Company's 2018 Shareholders' General Meeting, the Company has applied to the China Interbank Market 
Dealers Association for the registration and issuance of RMB2 billion ultra-short-term financing bonds and has 
been approved. According to the "Notification of Acceptance of Registration" (Zhongshi Xie Note [2020] SCP31) 
issued by the Association of Dealers, the registered amount of the company's ultra-short-term financing bonds 
was RMB2 billion, and the registration amount was from the date of the "Acceptance of Registration" Valid for 2 
years. The company issued the first ultra short-term financing bonds of 2020 from March 16 to March 17, 2020, 
with a scale of RMB1 billion and a maturity of 180 days. Its main purpose is to repay interest-bearing debt and 
supplement working capital.
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XII. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

5. On 12 November 2019, the China Securities Regulatory Commission issued the "Review of Approval for the Public 
Issuance of Corporate Bonds by Shenzhen Expressway Co., Ltd. to Qualified Investors" (CSRC License [2019] No. 
2262) approving the issuance of no more than RMB5 billion Corporate bonds. The company has announced on 17 
March 2020 that it will publicly issue Shenzhen Expressway Co., Ltd.'s 2020 corporate bonds (Phase 1) (Epidemic 
prevention and control bonds). The issue size in this period is no more than RMB2 billion. The price is RMB100 
each and the bond has a maturity of 5 years, with the issuer's option to adjust the coupon rate and the investor's 
option to sell back are attached at the end of the third year,.

6. On 17 March 2020, Meihua Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer 
agreement A with Shenzhen International Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen International Hong Kong”). On the same day, the 
company signed an equity transfer agreement B with Shenzhen International Logistics and Shenzhen International 
Hong Kong. According to the above two equity transfer agreements, the Group will transfer 48% of the equity 
of Shenzhen International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Financial Leasing Company”) at a price of RMB151.69 
million. After the transaction is completed, the Group may appoint three of the five directors in accordance with 
the articles of association of the financial leasing company. Therefore, the financial leasing company will become 
the company's holding subsidiary, and its financial statements will be included in the scope of the company's 
consolidated financial statements. As of the disclosure date of this statement, the equity merger has not been 
completed.

XIII. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS

1. Segment information

(1) Recognition and accounting policies of reportable segments:

The reporting segment of the Group is a business unit that provides different services. Since various businesses 
require different technologies and market strategies, the Group independently manages the production and 
operation activities of the reporting segment and evaluates its operating results to decide to allocate resources to 
it and evaluate its performance.

The Group has only one reportable segment, i.e. toll road segment, which takes charge of operation and 
management of toll roads in Mainland China.

Other businesses principally comprise the provision of construction management services, advertising services, 
property development, wind power generation, wind power generator assembling and sales and other services. 
The Group has no inter-segment transfers. These businesses cannot be separated into reportable segments.
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1. Segment information (continued)

(2) Segment information

2019 Toll road Others Unallocated Total     

Revenue from external 
customers 4,569,454,414.90 1,616,370,697.07 – 6,185,825,111.97

Cost of service 2,270,903,104.28 1,228,635,054.40 – 3,499,538,158.68
Interest income 10,828,844.85 11,681,061.21 27,316,197.15 49,826,103.21
Interest expenses 546,211,740.91 53,683,343.77 – 599,895,084.68
Share of profits of associates 219,855,987.47 679,828,312.92 – 899,684,300.39
Gains on disposal of assets 386,045.39 – – 386,045.39
Asset impairment loss 552,000,000.00 – – 552,000,000.00
Credit impairment loss – -1,129,098.22 – -1,129,098.22
Depreciation and amortization 1,466,254,785.96 66,639,498.40 14,256,888.27 1,547,151,172.63
Total profit 1,510,059,314.19 1,119,214,546.02 -185,040,136.40 2,444,233,723.81
Income tax expense -146,249,560.18 117,273,765.98 -63,273,703.76 -92,249,497.96
Net profit 1,656,308,874.38 1,001,940,780.04 -121,766,432.65 2,536,483,221.77     

31 December 2019
Total assets 31,632,196,803.97 13,106,226,365.97 185,311,102.04 44,923,734,271.98
Total liabilities 18,961,176,468.90 3,152,003,093.01 2,087,282,450.23 24,200,462,012.14     

2019
Long-term equity investments 

in associates 1,508,731,533.68 7,197,557,808.05 – 8,706,289,341.73
Increase in original value of 

non-current assets other 
than financial assets, long-
term equity investments 
and deferred income tax 
assets 2,160,792,538.28 1,845,638,308.36 6,580,238.04 4,013,011,084.68     
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XIII. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

1. Segment information (continued)

(2) Segment information (continued)

2018 Toll road Others Unallocated Total     

Revenue from external 
customers 5,066,387,436.63 740,720,595.15 – 5,807,108,031.78

Cost of service 2,389,981,090.59 468,230,841.17 – 2,858,211,931.76
Interest income 14,314,487.69 9,353,245.23 52,843,675.55 76,511,408.47
Interest expenses 963,017,374.65 22,506,638.28 – 985,524,012.93
Share of profits of associates 276,491,290.75 244,465,097.74 – 520,956,388.49
Gains on disposal of assets 2,227,050,978.93 – 75,400.25 2,227,126,379.18
Credit impairment loss 14,115.84 -250,000.00 – -235,884.16
Depreciation and amortization 1,627,480,036.46 10,547,584.38 6,380,627.55 1,644,408,248.39
Total profit 4,195,074,964.42 474,014,746.95 -123,912,144.82 4,545,177,566.55
Income tax expense 906,389,918.52 60,057,065.55 – 966,446,984.07
Net profit 3,288,685,045.90 413,957,681.40 -123,912,144.82 3,578,730,582.48     

31 December 2018
Total assets 32,289,918,074.55 8,677,531,402.72 133,400,850.96 41,100,850,328.23
Total liabilities 20,159,143,807.87 1,217,714,915.76 184,238,877.25 21,561,097,600.88     

2018
Long-term equity investments 

in associates and joint 
ventures 1,451,780,693.90 6,407,327,803.72 – 7,859,108,497.62

Addition of non-current 
assets other than financial 
assets, long-term equity 
investments and deferred 
tax assets 1,522,896,729.07 9,742,695.22 2,637,159.47 1,535,276,583.76     

(3) Other information

The Group’s revenue from external customers and the total non-current assets other than financial assets and 
deferred tax assets are all derived from the PRC. The Group did not generate revenue from sales to any single 
customer that reached or exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue for the year.
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XIII. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

2. Leases

(1) As lessor

The Group leases out some parking spaces, and the lease period is not a regular period, forming an operating 
lease. According to the lease contract, the rent needs to be adjusted every year according to the market rent 
situation. In 2019, the Group's income from rental of houses and buildings was RMB2,735,601.28. Leased houses 
and buildings are listed in investment real estate, see Note V.15.

The Group also leases highway billboards and service areas, with leases ranging from 1 to 10 years, forming 
operating leases.

Operating lease

Item 2019  

Rental income 22,315,960.50  

According to the lease contract with the lessee, the minimum lease payments for non-revoking leases are as 
follows:

Item 2019  

Within 1 year (including 1 year) 14,059,747.56
1 to 2 years (including 2 years) 8,395,822.86
2 to 3 years (including 3 years) 4,531,476.19
3 to 4 years (including 4 years) 3,453,380.95
4 to 5 years (including 4 years) 3,207,036.19
Over 5 years 951,200.00  

Total 34,598,663.75  

(2) As lessee

Item 2019  

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note V. 49) 14,227,011.48
Short-term lease expenses that are accounted for in the current period using simplified 

processing 2,293,594.19
Low-value asset lease expenses (other than short-term leases) that are accounted for in 

the current period 546,755.76
Income from sublease of right-of-use assets 2,287,794.17
Total lease-related cash outflows (Note V. 59 (7)) 1,444,833,383.14
Related profit or loss from repayment of lease liabilities in advance (Note V. 49) 22,492,284.97  
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XIII. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

2. Leases (continued)

(2) As lessee (continued)

The leased assets leased by the Group include the houses and buildings, transportation equipment and other 
equipment used in the operating process. The lease periods of houses and buildings and machinery and 
equipment are usually 1 to 22 years. Transportation equipment and other equipment are usually leased for one to 
three years. A few lease contracts contain options for renewal and termination.

Significant operating lease (only applicable in 2018)

According to the lease contract with the lessor, the minimum lease payments for non-revoking leases are as 
follows:

Item 2018  

Within 1 year (including 1 year) 33,304,089.10
1 to 2 years (including 2 years) 33,095,227.29
2 to 3 years (including 3 years) 21,898,763.22
Over 3 years 78,849,466.88  

Total 167,147,546.49  

Sale and leaseback transaction

In order to meet the capital requirements, the Group will use the sale and leaseback form of financing for the 
Damaoqi project wind farm for a lease period of 24 months.

Item 2019  

Cash inflows from sale and leaseback transactions 673,000,000.00
Cash out of sale and leaseback transactions 26,022,898.75  

Other lease information

For right-of-use assets, see Note V.18; for simplified treatment of short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, 
see Note III.29; for lease liabilities, see Note V.36.
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1. Accounts receivable

(1) The aging of accounts receivable according to the recognition date is analysed below:

Item 2019 2018   

Within 1 year 11,331,676.56 16,492,239.55
1 to 2 years – –
2 to 3 years – –
Over 3 years 4,838,866.44 4,838,866.44   

Total 16,170,543.00 21,331,105.99   

(2) Accounts receivable are analyzed by category as follows:

2019 

Ending balance Provision for bad debts  

Item Amount
% of 

total balance Amount
% of 

total balance     

Receivables that are subject 
to provision by group 
with similar credit risk 
characteristics 16,170,543.00 100.00 – –

Group 1 4,838,866.44 29.92 – –
Group 2 11,331,676.56 70.08 – –     

Total 16,170,543.00 100.00 – –     

The aging of group 2 according to the recognition date is analyzed below: 

2019 

Item
Estimated default 

book balance
Expected credit 

loss rate (%)

Expected credit 
loss over 

the duration    

Within 1 year 11,331,676.56 – –    

Total 11,331,676.56 – –    
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. Accounts receivable (continued)

(2) Accounts receivable are analyzed by category as follows (continued):

2018 

Ending balance Provision for bad debts  

Item Amount % of total balance Amount % of total balance     

Receivables that are subject 
to provision by group 
with similar credit risk 
characteristics 21,331,105.99 100.00 – –

Group 1 5,663,466.45 26.55 – –
Group 2 15,667,639.54 73.45 – –     

Total 21,331,105.99 100.00 – –     

The aging of group 2 according to the recognition date is analyzed below: 

2018 

Item
Estimated default 

book balance
Expected credit 

loss rate (%)

Expected credit 
loss over 

the duration    

Within 1 year 15,667,639.54 – –    

Total 15,667,639.54 – –    

(3) Accumulated accounts receivable from the five largest debtors:

 Balance
Provision for 
bad debts

% of 
total balance    

Total accumulated accounts receivable from 
the five largest debtors at 31 December 
2019 16,163,313.05 – 99.96

Total accumulated accounts receivable from 
the five largest debtors at 31 December 
2018 20,339,859.04 – 95.35
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. Other receivables

(1) Other receivables are classified as follows:

Item 2019 2018   
Interest receivable 6,449,336.44 2,367,187.50
Dividends receivable 450,000,000.00 450,000,000.00
Other receivables 549,346,573.39 2,026,988,171.40   
Total 1,005,795,909.83 2,479,355,358.90   

(2) The aging of other receivables according to the recognition date is analyzed below:

Item 2019 2018   
Within 1 year 483,144,327.89 2,433,147,267.78
1 to 2 years 476,608,031.77 197,499.95
2 to 3 years 181,085.27 4,361,802.69
Over 3 years 45,862,464.90 41,648,788.48   
Total 1,005,795,909.83 2,479,355,358.90   

(3) The changes in the ending balance and provision for bad debts are as follows:

2019

The first stage

Expected credit loss 
over the next 12 months 

Item Ending balance
Provision for 

bad debts   
Beginning balance 2,479,355,358.90 –
Additions 133,587,973.25 –
Reduction 1,607,147,422.32 –   
Ending balance 1,005,795,909.83 –   
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. Other receivables (continued)

(3) The changes in the ending balance and provision for bad debts are as follows: (continued)

2018

The first stage

Expected credit loss 
over the next 12 months 

Item Ending balance
Provision for 

bad debts   
Beginning balance 369,260,529.15 –
Additions 4,021,088,901.02 –
Reduction 1,910,994,071.27 –   
Ending balance 2,479,355,358.90 –   

(4) Other receivables by nature are analyzed as follows:

Nature 2019 2018   

Dividends receivable 450,000,000.00 450,000,000.00
Loans receivable 378,789,412.68 414,881,251.66
Advances receivable 155,992,169.78 70,152,987.30
Receivable due to cancellation of toll stations in Yanpai and  

Yanba sections 11,170,906.19 –
Three Expressways-old station operation compensation receivable – 932,672,618.97
Shenzhen International United Land Company – 606,662,489.40
Interest receivable 6,449,336.44 2,367,187.50
Others 3,394,084.74 2,618,824.07   

Total 1,005,795,909.83 2,479,355,358.90   
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. Other receivables (continued)

(5) As at 31 December 2019, the five largest other receivables are analyzed as follows:

2019

Categories Nature 31 December 2019 Aging % of total balance

Balance of 
provision for 

bad debts      

Mei Wah Company Dividends receivable 450,000,000.00 1-2 years 44.74 –
Nanjing Wind Power Loans 300,000,000.00 Within 1 year 29.83 –
Coastal Company Advances receivable 52,366,897.15 Within 1 year 5.21 –
Qinglong Company Loans 50,000,000.00 Within 1 year 4.97 –
Mei Wah Company Advances receivable 41,750,067.95 Over 3 years 4.15 –      

Total / 894,116,965.10 / 88.90 –      

2018

Categories Nature 31 December 2018 Aging % of total balance

Balance of 
provision for 

bad debts      

Shenzhen Transportation 
Bureau

The taxes for Three 
Expressways borne by 
the government 932,672,618.97 Within 1 year 37.62 –

Shenzhen International 
United Land Company

Reduction of other 
receivables 606,662,489.40 Within 1 year 24.47 –

Mei Wah Company Dividends receivable 450,000,000.00 Within 1 year 18.15 –
Yichang Company Loans 260,000,000.00 Within 1 year 10.49 –
Qinglong Company Loans 130,000,000.00 Within 1 year 5.24 –      

Total / 2,379,335,108.37 / 95.97 –      
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Long-term equity investments

2019 2018  

Item Carrying amount
Impairment provided 

in current year Net book amount Carrying amount
Impairment provided 

in current year Net book amount       

Subsidiaries 16,452,364,720.93 678,765,149.21 15,773,599,571.72 11,940,843,929.37 678,765,149.21 11,262,078,780.16
Joint ventures and 

associates 3,967,922,683.17 – 3,967,922,683.17 3,405,269,465.55 – 3,405,269,465.55       

Total 20,420,287,404.10 678,765,149.21 19,741,522,254.89 15,346,113,394.92 678,765,149.21 14,667,348,245.71       

(1) Investments in subsidiaries

Investee 31 December 2018 Additional injection
Reduction of 

the year 31 December 2019
Cash dividend 

declared

Impairment 
provided on 

31 December 2019       

Airport-Heao Eastern Company 579,610,371.65 – 102,311,514.19 477,298,857.46 325,229,065.61 –
Meiguan Company 523,057,283.42 – 1,797,141.08 521,260,142.34 44,203,419.33 –
Qinglong Company 101,477,197.16 – – 101,477,197.16 120,000,000.00 –
Advertising Company 3,325,000.01 – – 3,325,000.01 – –
Mei Wah Company 831,769,303.26 – – 831,769,303.26 – –
Qinglian Company 1,385,448,900.00 – – 1,385,448,900.00 – 678,765,149.21
Outer Ring Company 100,000,000.00 – – 100,000,000.00 – –
Expressway Investment Company 380,000,000.00 – – 380,000,000.00 – –
Environment Company 4,460,000,000.00 540,000,000.00 – 5,000,000,000.00 – –
Operation Development Company 28,500,000.00 – – 28,500,000.00 – –
Shenchang Company 67,851,316.78 – 34,570,553.84 33,280,762.94 – –
Yichang Company 1,270,000,000.00 – – 1,270,000,000.00 – –
Construction and Development 

Company 28,500,000.00 – – 28,500,000.00 – –
Shenshan Company 5,100,000.00 10,200,000.00 – 15,300,000.00 – –
Coastal Company 1,487,939,407.88 4,100,000,000.00 – 5,587,939,407.88 – –
Fund Management Company 9,500,000.00 – – 9,500,000.00 – –
Baotou Nanfeng – 0.67 – 0.67 – –       

Total 11,262,078,780.16 4,650,200,000.67 138,679,209.11 15,773,599,571.72 489,432,484.94 678,765,149.21       
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XIV. NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. Long-term equity investments (continued)

(2) Investments in joint ventures and associates

The detailed information about joint ventures and associates is set out in Note V.14. The company directly holds 
2.92% of Guizhou Bank, except for the investments in associates namely Guizhou Hengtongli Property Company 
and Derun Environment, the investments in associates are held by the Company.

4. Revenue and costs of services:

2019 2018  

Item Revenue Cost Revenue Cost     

Main businesses 667,662,764.59 136,187,766.16 1,382,757,210.57 265,101,918.95
Other businesses 179,795,923.67 168,579,102.04 171,883,183.06 130,255,601.99     

Total 847,458,688.26 304,766,868.20 1,554,640,393.63 395,357,520.94     

5. Investment income:

Item 2019 2018   

  
Investment income from long-term equity investments in 

associates under the equity method 705,905,909.94 217,814,470.12
Investment income from long-term equity investments in 

associates under the cost method 489,432,484.94 1,183,157,178.84
Investment income from non-current financial assets 30,125,114.76 6,859,719.35
Investment income from financial products 57,896.09 –
Investment gain/loss from foreign exchange swap 26,860,000.00 -49,740,000.00
Realized income from downstream trading (a) 22,402,839.33 –   

Total 1,274,784,245.06 1,358,091,368.31   

(a) The group's consolidated level offsets the asset disposal income of the shareholding part from compensation for office building property 
of Meiguan company by United Land Company in 2018, during the year, the income from United Land Company construction project 
was realized, and the Group’s realized profit of RMB22,091,980.80 according to the proportion of the sold properties of United Land 
Company and interest RMB310,858.53.
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XV. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

1. Detailed list of non-recurring profit or loss items

Item Amount Note   
Income from entrusted management 

services
8,214,015.10 Income from entrusted management services provided to Longda 

Company in the current year.
Investment income from financial 

products
1,441,847.76  

Liquidating income in foreign currency 
swaps

26,860,000.00

Interest income accrued from loan to a 
non-financial entity

595,434.57 Interest income accrued from loan reduction to United Land Company

Changes in fair value of foreign 
currency swaps

17,586,250.00 To mitigate the exchange rate risk, the Group entered into foreign 
exchange swap arrangements for the bond with a principal value 
of USD300 million, and related gains on change in fair value were 
recognized during the current year.

Changes in fair value of other non-
current financial assets

37,500,260.00 This year's fair value change proceeds from shares of Water Planning & 
Design Institute Company and United Electronic Company.

Gains on disposal of non-current assets 386,045.39 Gains on disposal of cars from the headquarters
Changes in fair value from merging the 

subsidiaries under common control
26,000,000.00 Income from adjustment of Shuiguan Expressway’s acquisition 

contingent consideration
Equity transfer of a subsidiary 262,207,206.28 The 100% equity and debts of four subsidiaries including Guizhou 

Shengbo were transferred, and the equity transfer income was 
recognized.

Financial income from paid capital lease 
in advance

22,492,284.97 Financial income from paid capital lease once in advance of Baotou 
Nanfeng

Income and expenditure other than 
those mentioned above

175,940.45  

Impact of minority interests -58,859,917.14
Impact of income tax -88,741,749.89   
Total 255,857,617.49   

Basis for preparation of the detailed list of non-recurring profit or loss items:

Under the requirements in Explanatory Announcement No.1 on Information Disclosure by Companies Offering 
Securities to the Public – Non-Recurring Profits or Losses [2008] (“Explanatory announcement No.1”) from the 
CSRC, non-recurring profit or loss refers to transactions that are not directly relevant to the normal business 
operations, or that are relevant to ordinary business, but are so extraordinary that would have an influence on users 
of the financial statements making proper judgments on the performance and profitability of an enterprise.

2. Return on net assets and earnings per share

Profit for the reporting period

Earnings per share 
Weighted 

average 
return on 

net assets (%)
Basic earnings 

per share

Diluted 
earnings 

per share    
Net profit attributable to ordinary owners of  

the Company 14.14% 1.146 1.146
Net profit after deducting non-recurring profit or loss 

attributable to ordinary owners of the Company 12.62% 1.029 1.029
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Company Information

I. Company Profile

Registered name 深圳高速公路股份有限公司

Chinese abbreviation 深高速

English name Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited

English abbreviation SZEW

Legal representative HU Wei

II. Contact Information

Secretary of the 
Board

Joint company 
secretary

Securities officer

Name GONG Tao Tao GONG Tao Tao, 
LAM Yuen Ling Eva

GONG Xin, 
XIAO Wei

Contact address Podium Levels 2–4, Jiangsu Building, Yitian Road, Futian 
District, Shenzhen

Telephone (86) 755-8285 3331; (86) 755-8285 3338

Fax (86) 755-8285 3400

E-mail secretary@sz-expressway.com

Investor hotline (86) 755-8285 3330

III. General Information

Registered address Fumin Toll Station, Fucheng Street, Longhua District, Shenzhen 
(Postal Code:518110)

Place of business Podium Levels 2–4, Jiangsu Building, Yitian Road, Futian 
District, Shenzhen (Postal Code:518026)

Website http://www.sz-expressway.com

E-mail ir@sz-expressway.com

Principal place of business in Hong Kong Room 1603, 16/F, China Building, 29 Queen’s Road Central, 
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2543 0633

Fax: (852) 2543 9996
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IV. Information Disclosure and Site for Inspection

Designated publication newspaper Shanghai Securities News, Securities Times, China Securities 
Journal, Securities Daily (for A Shares only)

Designated publication website http://www.sse.com.cn

http://www.hkexnews.hk

http://www.sz-expressway.com

Annual report available at PRC: Podium Levels 2–4, Jiangsu Building, Yitian Road, 
Futian District, Shenzhen

Hong Kong: Room 1603, 16/F, China Building, 29 Queen’s 
Road Central, Hong Kong

V. Security Profile

Type of securities Listing exchange Abbreviation Security code

A Share The Shanghai Stock Exchange Shenzhen Expressway 600548

H Share The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited Shenzhen Expressway 00548

Bond The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited SZEW B2107 5684

VI. Other Information

Auditor Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
Level 16, Ernst & Young Tower Oriental Plaza No. 1 East Chang An 
Avenue Dong Cheng District Beijing, China
Signing auditor: XIE Feng Eric, Liang Change

PRC legal adviser Guangdong Junyan Law Firm
Room C, 10th Floor, Block5 Dachong International Centre, Huarun, 
Shennan Street, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, China

Hong Kong legal adviser Loong & Yeung, Solicitors
Room 1603, 16/F, China Building, 29 Queen’s Road Central, Hong 
Kong

Domestic share registrar and transfer office China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited, 
Shanghai Branch
36/F, China Insurance Building, 166 Lujiazui Road East, Pudong New 
District, Shanghai

Share registrar and transfer office in Hong 
Kong

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
46/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Investor relations consultant of A Shares Everbloom Investment Consultant Company Limited
Room 3801–3803, Rongchao Trade Centre, 4028 Jintian Road, Futian 
District, Shenzhen

Investor relations consultant of H Shares Wonderful Sky Financial Group
6/F, Nexxus Building, No. 41 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Principal banks China Development Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
China Merchants Bank
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Company Information

VII. Project Information (as at March 2020)

Toll highway
Interest held by 

the Company Location Toll mileage (km) No. of lanes Status

The expiry date 
of toll concession 
period

Meiguan Expressway 100% Shenzhen 5.4 8 Under operation Mar. 2027       
Jihe East 100% Shenzhen 23.7 6 Under operation Mar. 2027       
Jihe West 100% Shenzhen 21.8 6 Under operation Mar. 2027       
Shuiguan Expressway 50% Shenzhen 20.0 10 Under operation Feb. 2027       
Shuiguan Extension 40% Shenzhen 6.3 6 Under operation Feb. 2027       
Coastal Project⑵ 100% Shenzhen 36.6 8 Coastal Phase I: 

under operation
Coastal Phase II: 
under construction

Dec. 2038

       
Outer Ring Project 100% Shenzhen 60 6 Under construction –       
Yangmao Expressway 25% Guangdong 79.8 4 Under operation Jul. 2027       
Guangwu Project 30% Guangdong 37.9 4 Under operation Nov. 2027       
Jiangzhong Project 25% Guangdong 39.6 4 Under operation Aug. 2027       
GZ W2 Expressway 25% Guangdong 40.2 6 Under operation Dec. 2030       
Qinglian Expressway 76.37% Guangdong 216.0 4 Under operation Jul. 2034       
Wuhuang Expressway 100% Hubei 70.3 4 Under operation Sep. 2022       
Yichang Project 100% Hunan 78.3 4 Under operation Dec. 2033       
Changsha Ring Road 51% Hunan 34.7 4 Under operation Oct. 2029       
Nanjing Third Bridge 25% Jiangsu 15.6 6 Under operation Oct. 2030

       

Note:

(1) For detailed information, toll fees, historical operational data of above projects, and road network of peripheral area of the above projects, 
please refer to the column “Toll Roads & Bridges” under “Company Business”, “Operational Statistics” under “Investor Relations” and “IR 
Materials” under “Investor Relations” in the website of the Company at http://www.sz-expressway.com.
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